DOCTORAL (PhD) DISSERTATION

WOGENE SOLOMON KABATO

MOSONMAGYARÓVÁR 2024

SZÉCHENYI ISTVÁN UNIVERSITY ALBERT KÁZMÉR FACULTY OF AGRICULTURAL AND FOOD SCIENCES IN MOSONMAGYARÓVÁR DEPARTMENT OF PLANT SCIENCES WITTMANN ANTAL MULTIDISCIPLINARY DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF PLANT, ANIMAL AND FOOD SCIENCES

HABERLANDT GOTTLIEB DOCTORAL PROGRAM FOR PLANT SCIENCE

DOCTORAL SCHOOL LEADER PROF. DR. VARGA LÁSZLÓ, DSC

PROGRAM LEADER: PROF. DR. GYULA PINKE DSC

SUPERVISOR(S):

Dr. habil. Zoltán Molnár, Associate Professor Albert Kázmér Faculty of Agricultural and Food Sciences in Mosonmagyaróvár

Dr. habil. Tibor Janda, DSc Agricultural Institute – HUN-REN Centre for Agricultural Research, Martonvásár

Impact of microalgae-bacteria interaction on maize (Zea mays L.) growth and soil fertility

SUBMITTED BY WOGENE SOLOMON KABATO

MOSONMAGYARÓVÁR 2024

Impact of microalgae-bacteria interaction on maize (Zea mays L.) crop yield and soil fertility

> Written by WOGENE SOLOMON KABATO

Made in the framework of Széchenyi István University

Albert Kázmér Faculty of Agricultural and Food Sciences in Mosonmagyaróvár

Wittmann Antal Multidisciplinary Doctoral School of Plant, Animal and Food Sciences

Haberlandt Gottlieb Programme in Crop Sciences Supervisor(s):

1. Dr. habil. Zoltán Molnár, Associate Professor

Albert Kázmér Faculty of Agricultural and Food Sciences in Mosonmagyaróvár

2. Dr. habil. Tibor Janda, DSc

Agricultural Institute – HUN-REN Centre for Agricultural Research, Martonvásár

I recommend for acceptance (yes / no)

(signature)

The candidate reached% during the Complex (Comprehensive) Exam,

Mosonmagyaróvár,

•••••

Chair of Complex Exam Committee

I recommend the dissertation to be accepted as a reviewer (yes / no):

First reviewer (Dr.) yes / no

(signature)

Second reviewer (Dr.) yes / no

(signature)

Maybe a third reviewer (Dr.) yes / no

(signature)

The candidate reached	% at the dissertation defense
and public debate,	
Mosonmagyaróvár,	•••••
	Chair of Evaluation Committee
Doctoral (PhD) qualification:	
	Head of Doctoral Council

CONTENTS

Contentsvi
Content of TableSxi
Content of FigureSxiii
Glossary1
Acronyms
Abstract
1. Introduction
1.1 Enhancing sustainable agriculture with beneficial microorganisms
1.2 Symbiosis of microalgae-bacteria association
1.3 Maize: An important crop worldwide9
2. Objective of the study
2.1 Research questions
2.2 Research hypothesis
3. Literature Review
3.1 Plant-microbe interactions: How well do we understand them?
3.1.1 Microbe-plant signaling
3.1.1.1 Improve the availability of nutrients
3.1.1.2 Manipulation of plant hormonal signaling19

3.1.1.3 Pathogenic microbial strain: Repulsion or competitive
exclusion
3.1.2 Roles in crop stress tolerance
3.2 Potential of microalgae in crop production25
3.3 Potential of plant growth promoting bacteria (PGPB)29
3.4 Mechanisms for plant growth promoting microorganisms 30
3.4.1 Biofertilizers
3.4.1.1 Nitrogen fixation
3.4.1.2 Improve soil structure
3.4.2 Biostimulants
3.4.2.1 Phytohormones
3.4.2.2 Amino acids and Protein hydrolysates
3.4.2.3 Polysaccharides
3.4.2.4 Humic substances40
3.4.3. Biopesticides
3.5 Impact of microalgae-bacteria interaction on crop production 42
3.6 Challenges of microalgae-bacteria interactions
3.7 Strategies for implementing: A multitude of approaches 50
3.7.1 Selection of beneficial strains51
3.7.2 Formulation development: Developing efficient formulation
of PGPMs52

3.7.3 Application	55
4. Materials and Methods	56
4.1 Experimental site description	56
4.2 Experimental design	57
4.3 Data collection and measurements	61
4.3.1 Plant physiology measurements	61
4.3.1.1 Chlorophyll content	61
4.3.1.2 Normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI)	62
4.3.1.3 Leaf and root fresh and dry weight	62
4.3.2 Plant nitrogen determination	63
4.3.3 Plant yield attributes	64
4.3.4 Soil parameters analyses	64
4.3.4.1 Soil pH analysis	65
4.3.4.2 Humus analysis	65
4.3.4.3 Nitrate and nitrite analysis	65
4.3.4.4 Soil phosphorus analysis	66
4.3.4.5 Soil potassium analysis	66
4.3.4.6 Soil total nitrogen analysis	66
4.3.5 Soil microbial biomass analysis	67
4.4 Statistical Analysis	68
5. Result	69

	5.1. Experimental field description	69
	5.2 Plant physiological parameters	72
	5.2.1 Chlorophyll content	72
	5.2.3 Leaf and root fresh and dry weight	79
	5.3 Nitrogen content of plant biomass	88
	5.4 Plant yield parameters	90
	5.4 Soil chemical properties	94
	5.5 Microbial activity of the soil	101
6.	DISCUSSION	104
	6.1 Plant physiological parameters	105
	6.2 Fresh and dry weight of plant biomass	107
	6.3 Nitrogen content of plant biomass	110
	6.4 Yield of attributes of maize	110
	6.5 Soil properties	113
	6.6 Soil microbial populations	116
7.	Conclusion	117
8.	Novel scientific results of doctoral reaserch	119
9.	Publications	120
10	Conference presentation and participation:	122
11	1. Dedication	124
12	2. Acknowledgements	125

13.	References	.126	ĵ
-----	------------	------	---

CONTENT OF TABLES

Table 1. Abbreviations
Table 2. Application of microalgae impact on crop production
Table 3: Microalga-bacteria interaction effects on crop production44
Table 4: Treatments combination of the N. linckia, MACC-612 and
PGPB
Table 5: The soil chemical characteristics collected from the
experimental field prior to sowing70
Table 6: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 50 days after sowing in
2021
Table 7: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 65 days after sowing in
2021
Table 8: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 50 days after sowing in
2022
Table 9: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 65 days after sowing in
2022
Table 10: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 50 days after sowing
in 2023
Table 11: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 65 days after sowing
in 2023
Table 12: Nitrogen content of plant biomass
Table 13: Impact of single and combined application microalgae and
PGPB on maize yield components91
Table 14: Impact of single and combined application microalgae and
PGPB on maize yield components

Table 15: Effect of the N.	linckia and PGPB	on activity of soi	bacteria
and actinomycete			103

CONTENT OF FIGURES

Figure 1: The dynamics rhizosphere structure composition (source:
own editing)17
Figure 2: Mechanism of a possible symbiotic interaction of microalgae
and bacteria and their potential role in the agricultural production
(source: own editing)
Figure 3. Map of the study area57
Figure 4: Daily precipitation and temperature data recorded in the
experimental field during the interval across from sowing to harvest in
the production years of 202171
Figure 5: Daily precipitation and temperature data recorded in the
experimental field during the interval across from sowing to harvest in
the production years of 202272
Figure 6: Daily precipitation and temperature data recorded in the
experimental field during the interval across from sowing to harvest in
the production years of 202372
Figure 7: Chlorophyll content of maize (Zea mays L.) leaf assessed at
different growth stage from SPAD reading in 202174
Figure 8: Chlorophyll content of maize (Zea mays L.) leaf assessed at
different growth stage from SPAD reading in 202275
Figure 9: Chlorophyll content of maize (Zea mays L.) leaf assessed at
different growth stage from SPAD reading in 202376
Figure 10: The NDVI value of maize (Zea mays L.) assessed at
different days after sowing (DAS) in 202177

Figure 11: The NDVI value of maize (Zea mays L.) assessed at
different days after sowing (DAS) in 202278
Figure 12: The NDVI value of maize (Zea mays L.) assessed at
different days after sowing (DAS) in 202379
Figure 13: The picture of the impacts of different treatment of N.
linckia and PGPB on the growth of maize seedlings on the 40th days.
Figure 14: Effect of different application of N. linckia and PGPB on
soil pH95
Figure 15: Effect of different application of N. linckia and PGPB on
soil humus96
Figure 16: Effect of different application of N. linckia and PGPB on
soil nitrate-nitrite-nitrogen
Figure 17: Effect of different application of N. linckia and PGPB on
soil total nitrogen
Figure 18: Effect of different application of N. linckia and PGPB on
soil phosphorus
Figure 19: Effect of different application of N. linckia and PGPB on
soil potassium

GLOSSARY

Rhizosphere: The soil surrounding plant roots forms a narrow area housing a diverse underground ecosystem, with his significant observation indicating a greater abundance of microorganisms in the immediate vicinity of the roots compared to the surrounding soil.

Microbial inoculant: Bacteria, fungi, or other microorganisms, typically in pure cultures, are deliberately introduced into an environment to improve a specific function. Instances include the intentional use of microorganisms for biological pest control or to stimulate plant growth. This can involve either a single strain or a group of microorganisms working together.

Biofertilizer: are substances containing living microorganisms that, when applied to seeds, plant surfaces, or soil, can colonize the rhizosphere or interior of the plant and promote growth by increasing the availability or uptake of essential nutrients. These microorganisms fix atmospheric nitrogen, solubilize phosphate, or facilitate other nutrient uptake processes, enhancing plant health and productivity. They're considered environmentally friendly alternatives to chemical fertilizers, as they improve soil fertility and promote sustainable agricultural practices.

Biostimulant: are substances or microorganisms applied to plants or soil to enhance their natural processes, growth, and nutrient uptake, without serving as a conventional fertilizer or pesticide. They typically contain various compounds, such as amino acids, seaweed extracts, humic acids, or beneficial microorganisms, that stimulate plant development, improve nutrient absorption, strengthen stress tolerance, or enhance overall plant health.

Biopesticides: are naturally derived substances or microorganisms used to control pests, diseases, or weeds in agriculture, forestry, or public health. They include microbial pesticides (such as bacteria, fungi, or viruses), biochemical pesticides (compounds naturally found in plants, animals, or minerals), and plant-incorporated protectants (proteins derived from genetically modified plants). Unlike conventional chemical pesticides, biopesticides often have lower toxicity to non-target organisms, degrade more quickly in the environment, and are considered more environmentally friendly alternatives for pest control.

Microbiome: The intricate community of microorganisms residing in a specific environment, such as soil, while it's commonly associated with bacteria and fungi, encompasses archaea, viruses, protists, and various other organisms. All these microorganisms can potentially influence the establishment of an inoculant.

Formulation: The process of preparing and stabilizing microbial cells so that they can be stored before being used.

Consortium: Several microbial groups are co-cultured and/or coinoculated together within a specific environment. These groups can either have the potential to work together in a complementary manner or be capable of performing the same function, albeit in distinct environmental contexts.

2

ACRONYMS

Table 1. Abbreviations

Acronyms	
A. lipoferum	Azospirillum lipoferum
P. fluorescens	Pseudomonas fluorescens
N. linckia	Nostoc linckia
CFU	Colony forming unit
DAS	Days after sowing
PGPB	Plant growth promoting bacteria
PGPMs	Plant growth promoting microorganisms
MACC	Mosonmagyaróvári Algal Culture Collection
Р	Phosphorus
Κ	Potassium
SMO	Soil microorganism
NUE	Nitrogen use efficiency
g	gram
kg	Kilogram
L	Liter
Ν	Nitrogen
NO ₃ -	Nitrate
NO_2^-	Nitrite
NDVI	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index

ABSTRACT

Intensive chemical usage in agriculture to maximize yields results in soil degradation, impacts soil microorganisms, and disrupts ecological balance. Biofertilizers harboring living organisms hold allure due to their prospective favorable influence on plant growth, coupled with a diminished environmental footprint and cost-effective in contrast to conventional mineral fertilizers. The aim of the present study was to assess the capacity of a specific cyanobacterium (MACC-612, Nostoc *linckia*) biomass and plant growth promoting bacteria (PGPB) together, to enhance crop growth, increase grain yield, and promote soil health. The study followed a factorial approach of completely randomized block design with four replications. The three levels of the microalgae (control, 0.3 g/L of N. linckia, MACC-612, 1 g/L of N. linckia, MACC-612) and three levels of bacteria strains (control, Azospirillum lipoferum, and Pseudomonas fluorescens) were used for the experiment. Field experiments were established for three years (2021, 2022, 2023). The result demonstrated that the utilization of N. *linckia* and PGPB alone or in combination in soil treatment resulted in a significant enhancement in the chlorophyll, plant biomass, number of seeds per ear, the weight of a thousand seeds, and overall crop yield while also enhancing soil properties including pH, humus, $(NO_3^- + NO_2^-)$)-nitrogen and total nitrogen. Furthermore, there were statistically significant differences in the activity of bacteria and actinomycete populations. Using N. linckia at 0.3 g/L along with A. lipoferum positively influenced yield of maize, leading to a significant

enhancement in grain yield by 7.09 tonha⁻¹ (33.20%) during 2021, 7.71 tonha⁻¹ (31.53 %) in season 2022, and 8.62 tonha⁻¹ (32.34%) in season 2023, as compared to the control. The result revealed that the combined application of N. linckia at the concentration of 1 g/L with A. lipoferum resulted increases the $(NO_3 + NO_2)$ -N content by 27.05%, 59.20%, and 51.54% in 2021, 2022, and 2023, respectively compared to the untreated. Moreover, the studies show that the synergistic application of N. linckia at a concentration of 0.3 g/L, in conjunction with A. lipoferum, led to significant improvements in total nitrogen levels, registering increments of 40%, 20.69%, and 27.59% for the years 2021, 2022, and 2023, respectively, when compared to untreated control trials. The formulation of biofertilizers through synergistic combinations of two or more microorganisms, such as algae-bacteria, holds promise for enhancing crop productivity. Hence, optimal synergistic groupings were identified by combining N. linckia at a concentration of 0.3 g/L with A. lipoferum, leading to enhanced maize growth, increased yield, improved soil fertility, and increased microbial populations.

Key words: Soil fertility; Microorganisms; Plant growth promotion, Interaction of cyanobacterium biomass and soil bacteria.

5

1. INTRODUCTION

There has been a global tension between ever-growing demand for food, water, and energy sources, which calls for novel and sustainable approaches to increase agricultural productivity and maintain the environment. It is generally believed that sustainable agricultural intensification should be considered the issues of increasing production and reducing environmental damage. However, the current crop production system has become strongly dependent on agrochemicals, which have caused considerable damage to global ecological security such as acidification and hardening, decreasing beneficial soil microorganisms, and increasing disease incidence (Chandini et al., 2019; Meena et al., 2020b). Modern agriculture must assess its methods by integrating new systems to produce food sustainably. A novel and eco-friendly approach to addressing these challenges involves the development of microalgae-bacteria based products such as biofertilizers, biostimulants, and biopesticides, which reduce reliance on agrochemicals and achieve higher production and sustainable value in modern agriculture with minimalised the negative effects on agroecosystem. Microalgae and beneficial bacteria can be used alone or in consortiums as an alternative source of chemical fertilizers to enhance plant growth, nutrient cycling, plant protection, productivity, and soil fertility (Garcia-Gonzalez and Sommerfeld, 2016; Holajjer et al., 2013; Niu et al., 2020; Singh et al., 2011).

1.1 Enhancing sustainable agriculture with beneficial microorganisms

A wide range of beneficial microorganisms engage in intricate partnerships with plants, acting as growth facilitators and playing essential roles in promoting plant health and enriching soil fertility, with some microorganisms possessing known capabilities while others remain subjects of ongoing research. Prior research has demonstrated of collaboration the advantageous potential diverse among a concept growing microorganisms, of importance due to contemporary apprehensions surrounding the adverse consequences of agrochemicals, leading to heightened curiosity about advancing our comprehension of cooperative interactions within rhizosphere microbial communities and their potential applications in agriculture (Mahmud et al., 2021; Meena et al., 2020b).

The health, productivity, and fertility of soil are influenced by the interactions between plants and microbes in the rhizosphere (Souza et al., 2015). Soil microbiomes, led by plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) like rhizospheric bacteria (Sharma and Kumawat, 2022) and symbiotic rhizobia (Jaiswal et al., 2021), are driving the emergence of a new era in sustainable agriculture, and these bacteria are recognized as plant health-promoting bacteria (PHPB) agents (Chen et al., 2022; Khalil and Shinwari, 2022). Additionally, cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) play a central role in sustainable agriculture by enhancing soil properties, providing nutrients, promoting plant growth, and acting as biocides against soil-borne pathogens, making them valuable

biofertilizers and contributors to agricultural sustainability (Eman et al., 2023; Singh et al., 2016). Microalgae and cyanobacteria, functioning as a primary producers, along with bacteria collectively form the uppermost strata of soil known as the biological soil crust, and this intricate ecosystem plays a pivotal role in augmenting soil fertility and ultimately boosting crop productivity (Abinandan et al., 2019; Dineshkumar et al., 2019; Glaser et al., 2022; Ramakrishnan et al., 2023; Vinoth et al., 2020). It enhances crop development and wellbeing through processes such as nitrogen fixation, the release of trace elements into the soil, nutrient solubilization, production of exopolysaccharides, stress resistance, increasing organic matter, and improved nutrient retention within the plant-soil system, ultimately benefiting plant growth and provide an alternative to chemical fertilizers and pesticides (Alvarez et al., 2021; Berthon et al., 2021; Farhangi-Abriz et al., 2020; Kang et al., 2021b; Lee and Ryu, 2021; Ramakrishnan et al., 2023; Reed and Glick, 2023; Song et al., 2022).

1.2 Symbiosis of microalgae-bacteria association

The unreliability of single-strain inoculations in the rhizosphere can be addressed by using PGPB in multispecies consortia, presenting a promising approach for enhancing plant growth, and offering a novel method to discover complementary PGPB within root and soil communities for the development of advanced biofertilizers (Barua et al., 2023; Khan et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2023). Recently, microalgaebacteria interaction has been proposed as a potential strategy to

improve crop productivity through the generation of phytohormones such as auxin and cytokinin, the synthesis of polysaccharides, which aid in nutrient absorption, and the regulation of numerous biochemical processes and improve soil health (Fuentes et al., 2016; Gonzalez-Gonzalez and de-Bashan, 2023b; Solomon et al., 2023). A symbiotic partnership between microalgae and bacteria operates through a reciprocal exchange of metabolites. Primarily, bacteria utilize organic carbon released during algal photosynthesis. In return, they facilitate their growth by consuming oxygen, producing carbon dioxide, providing essential nutrients, vitamins, and trace elements to support microalgal growth, and generating growth-promoting substances, chelators, and phytohormones (González-González and de-Bashan, 2021; Solomon et al., 2023). Numerous research investigations indicate that heterotrophic bacteria play a widespread and crucial role in the growth and survival of algae through the provision of hormones and nitrogen sources (Amin et al., 2015; Bunbury et al., 2022; Kim et al., 2014; Smith and Francis, 2016).

1.3 Maize: An important crop worldwide

Over 9,000 years since its initial domestication, maize (*Zea mays* L.), commonly known as corn, has continuously expanded its multifaceted presence within global agricultural and food systems (Kennett et al., 2020). This recent surge in global maize production, driven by growing demand and a meeting of technological advancements, improved yields, and expanded cultivation areas, positions maize as the current

leading cereal by production volume, with the most extensively cultivated and traded crop in the next decade (Erenstein et al., 2022). This adaptable and multi-functional crop serves as a crucial source of feed worldwide while also holding significance as a food source, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa, Asia, and Latin America, in addition to its various non-food applications (FAOStat, 2021). Maize (*Zea mays*) assumes a multifaceted and ever-evolving role within global agricultural and food systems, contributing significantly to food and nutrition security (Grote et al., 2021; Poole et al., 2021; Shiferaw et al., 2011).

The provision of optimal nitrogen plays a pivotal role in shaping plant growth attributes, primarily because it serves as the primary contributor to plant cell components, notably within the photosynthetic apparatus (Luo et al., 2020; Pandey et al., 2000). The utilization of nitrogen (N) fertilizer has a beneficial impact on both the quantity and quality of maize production. This leads to an increase in the number of grains per ear and protein and mineral nutrient levels (Alves et al., 2023; Hammad et al., 2022).

Maize (*Zea mays* L.) exhibits promising responses when treated with soil as a biofertilizer for cyanobacteria, demonstrating enhanced growth, nutrient use efficiency, and increased tolerance to abiotic stress (Chittora et al., 2020; Dineshkumar et al., 2019; Eman et al., 2023; Prasanna et al., 2015; Solomon et al., 2023). Similarly, positive results were obtained by applying cyanobacterial extracts as foliar

biostimulants and seed priming, which further contributed to the overall development and well-being of the plants (Ördög et al., 2021; Santini et al., 2021; Sharma et al., 2020). To ensure the effectiveness of these consortia, it is crucial for their diverse members to maintain positive interactions with each other over an extended period.

2. OBJECTIVE OF THE STUDY

The literature clearly demonstrated that cyanobacteria and plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) exhibited high efficiency in enhancing plant growth, soil microbial activity, and soil fertility. However, it is still less known how the combined use of different types of strains affects the physiological processes and productivity of crop plants. We also aimed to assess their influence on maize (*Z. mays* L.) growth and soil fertility. Hence, the current research was conducted under field conditions to assess and evaluate the potential of twomember consortia consisting of cyanobacterial biomass and plant growth-promoting bacteria strains on maize. To test this hypothesis, our primary emphasis was on evaluating these strains alone or in combination for different traits like maize physiological and yield attributes, along with the activity of soil microbes and chemical composition of the soil.

2.1 Research questions

- How does using either cyanobacterial (*N. linckia*) biomass or plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) strains individually affect maize (*Z. mays* L.) growth, soil microbial activity, and soil fertility in field conditions?
- How does the combined use of cyanobacterial (*N. linckia*) biomass and plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) strains

influence maize (*Z. mays* L.) growth, soil microbial activity, and soil fertility under field conditions?

2.2 Research hypothesis

- The application of cyanobacterial biomass alone will have a significant positive effect on maize growth parameters compared to untreated controls.
- The application of PGPB strains alone will improve soil microbial activity and soil fertility, resulting in better maize growth and yield compared to untreated controls.
- The combined use of cyanobacterial biomass and PGPB strains will synergistically enhance soil microbial activity and soil fertility, leading to enhance maize growth and yield compared to untreated.
- The combined application of cyanobacterial biomass and PGPB strains synergistically boosts soil microbial activity and fertility, resulting in improved maize growth and yield compared to individual treatments.

3. LITERATURE REVIEW

3.1 Plant-microbe interactions: How well do we understand them?

The interaction between plants and microbes is an intricate, ongoing process that has been in existence since plants first colonized Earth. Over millions of years, this association has led to the emergence of a distinct ecological entity known as the "holobiont," comprised of various host and non-host species (Dolatabadian, 2020; Douglas and Werren, 2016; Rosenberg and Zilber-Rosenberg, 2018). In both natural and agricultural environments, plants routinely encounter a diverse array of microorganisms, predominantly bacteria, fungi, algae, viruses, and protists, encompassing both beneficial and harmful strains (Gupta et al., 2017).

Since the early 1980s, significant molecular research has revealed key principles governing plant-microbe interactions, shedding light on how plants respond to microbial colonization, including pathogens. These fundamental principles involve the detection of microbial signals by precise plant immune receptors, initiating either defensive or symbiotic reactions (Jones et al., 2016), the use of microbial DNA and protein secretion mechanisms to convey effector molecules into plant cells, thereby shaping host cell activities (Büttner and He, 2009; Hwang et al., 2017), the orchestration of microbial and plant developmental processes to promote the creation of specialized structures that exchange or produce nutrients, such as nodules and galls, in the context

of pathogenic and symbiotic interactions (Zipfel and Oldroyd, 2017), and both at the community and binary levels, within plant-microbiota relationships (Hacquard et al., 2017). Nevertheless, there remain unanswered inquiries about how plants distinguish between helpful and harmful microbes, how they differentiate among various pathogenic species, and how gene regulatory networks and signal transduction pathways govern these mechanisms (Cheng et al., 2019).

Furthermore, it has been widely recognized that external environmental conditions significantly influence a vast array of plant-microbe interactions, if not all of them (Cheng et al., 2019). Environmental factors have a direct influence on the composition and function of the plant microbial communities (Andronov et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2019; Pershina et al., 2016). Plants in their natural environment face a constant array of biotic stress resulting from pest and pathogens, as well as unfavorable environmental factors such as nutrient deficiency, drought, salinity, heavy metal toxicity, high or low light intensities, high and low temperatures, ozone, and UV-B radiation (De Coninck et al., 2015; Flemer et al., 2022; Hacquard et al., 2017; Hasanuzzaman et al., 2012; Smékalová et al., 2014; Zia et al., 2021). Environmental changes that disrupt root-microbe interactions have the potential to modify soil carbon reserves and biogeochemical processes (Moore et al., 2020). High temperatures have detrimental effects on both root architecture and the interactions between roots and surrounding microorganisms (Khan et al., 2021). Conversely, a decrease in temperature in the root zone negatively impacts the nodulation process and the fixation of nitrogen (Grover et al., 2011; Nihorimbere et al., 2011). Likewise, the existence of heavy metals in the rhizosphere exerts toxic influences on the growth of roots (Pandey et al., 2022). These stresses directly impact the rhizosphere, leading to a significant impact on root development and consequently affecting the overall growth, well-being, and productivity of the plant (Khan et al., 2021).

3.1.1 Microbe-plant signaling

During microbe-plant signaling, microorganisms generate and release signals that initiate symbiotic interactions with the plant. The microorganisms living in close association with plant roots engage in ongoing communication with the plants, and these interactions have a crucial impact on the health and productivity of the crops (Berendsen et al., 2012). For plants to develop well, they must monitor the soil areas around their roots to identify harmful microorganisms while also maximizing the advantages provided by beneficial microorganisms, which aid in nutrient uptake and growth promotion. Typically, three mechanisms are proposed to clarify how microbial activity can enhance plant growth, including the enhancement of the availability of nutrients derived from the soil (van der Heijden et al., 2008), the manipulation of plant hormonal signaling (Verbon and Liberman, 2016), and the repulsion or out-competition of pathogenic microbial strains (Mendes et al., 2013) (Figure 1b & c).



Figure 1: The dynamics rhizosphere structure composition (source: own editing). (a) A dynamic rhizosphere interplay between roots and microorganisms. (b) Composition of microorganism's community in the rhizosphere and root is influenced by the presence of plants. The microorganism's population in the rhizosphere (narrow soil layer surrounding a plant's root) influenced by root activity and exudates, is more abundant compared to the microbe community found in the rest of soil. Plants have the ability to shape the composition of the rhizosphere microbiome through the release of root exudates. In return, microbes exert an impact on plant growth through various compounds, including hormones and quorum-sensing molecules. Furthermore, microbes indirectly influence plant growth by competing with pathogens for space and nutrients. Microbes play significant roles in both the root zone (rhizosphere) and the soil. Their effects can be both beneficial and detrimental, depending on the types of microbes

present and their interactions. (c) The relationship between plants, microbiota, and soil involves nutrient exchange, alteration of soil properties by organic matter and microbial activities, direct effects of microorganisms on plants including hormone signaling manipulation and pathogen protection, and plant-microbe communication through root exudates.

3.1.1.1 Improve the availability of nutrients

Within natural ecosystems, a significant proportion of essential nutrients like nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and sulfur (S) are predominantly sequestered in organic compounds, resulting in limited bioavailability for plants. However, plants rely on the growth and activities of soil microbes, specifically bacteria, and fungi, that possess the necessary metabolic machinery to break down and convert these organic forms of N, P, and S into mineralized forms, thereby enabling plants to access and utilize these nutrients (Rashid et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2022). Microbes are essential for nutrient cycling in soil, facilitating the availability and uptake of nutrients by plants, and some specific microorganisms can improve soil nutrient supply, reducing the need for chemical fertilizers to support plant growth (Chamkhi et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2023; Grover et al., 2011; Singh et al., 2022). The beneficial microorganisms perform a multitude of plant growthpromoting activities, including nutrient mineralization, fixation, mobilization, and solubilization, as well as the production of growthpromoting substances, siderophores, antagonistic substances, and

antibiotics (Kumar et al., 2022a; Saeed et al., 2021; Suman et al., 2022). Plants attract specific groups of bacteria and fungi in the soil, which are determined by the distinct composition of root exudates released by each plant. As a result, plants tend to attract microorganisms that provide benefits to their growth while repelling potentially harmful pathogens (Glick and Gamalero, 2021). Studies have shown that introducing PGPR and plant-growth promoting bacteria (PGPB), and mycorrhizae of the genera *Pseudomonas*, *Bacillus*, and *Azospirillum*, and plant growth-promoting fungi (PGPF), or utilizing microbe-to-plant signal compounds, can effectively boost nutrient acquisition, nutrient cycling, plant protection, and improve crop growth (Backer et al., 2018; Cameron et al., 2013; Pieterse et al., 2014; Shoresh et al., 2010; Tedersoo et al., 2020; Zamioudis and Pieterse, 2012).

3.1.1.2 Manipulation of plant hormonal signaling

Microbial pathogens or symbionts that are successful in their interactions with plants have evolved strategies to manipulate the signaling pathways of plant hormones, inducing hormonal imbalances that serve their purposes (Gimenez-Ibanez et al., 2016). Recent advancements in the study of plant immunity have revealed valuable discoveries regarding the intricate defense signaling network. Various small-molecule hormones play crucial roles in regulating this network, with their signaling pathways interacting in either opposing or cooperative ways, giving plants the ability to finely control their immune responses (Ding et al., 2022; Pieterse et al., 2009). Phytohormones play a vital role in regulating diverse physiological processes in plants, including defense responses against both abiotic and biotic stresses, with salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA), and ethylene (ET) serving as primary defense hormones, while growth regulators like auxins, brassinosteroids (BRs), cytokinins (CKs), abscisic acid (ABA), and gibberellins (GAs) also contribute to plant immunity (EL Sabagh et al., 2022; Großkinsky et al., 2016; Zheng et al., 2023). However, filamentous pathogens like fungi and oomycetes have evolved diverse strategies, using secreted effectors such as proteins, toxins, polysaccharides, and even phytohormones or their mimics, to interfere with phytohormone pathways. These pathogen effectors manipulate phytohormone pathways by directly modifying hormone levels, disrupting hormone biosynthesis, or interfering with key components of phytohormone signaling pathways (Berger et al., 2020; Han and Kahmann, 2019).

3.1.1.3 Pathogenic microbial strain: Repulsion or competitive exclusion

The rhizosphere communities provide protection against various foliar diseases through the release of antibiotics and the activation of plant defense mechanisms (Hou and Kolodkin-Gal, 2020). Simultaneously, the rhizosphere is also a highly competitive environment, where a multitude of microbial species participating in competitive interactions as they compete for resources and space (Hibbing et al., 2010; Tedersoo et al., 2020). Plant pathogens inhabit the rhizosphere,

intending to penetrate the protective barrier formed by other microorganisms and overcome the natural defense mechanisms of plants, ultimately leading to the onset of disease (Mendes et al., 2013). However, the manipulated beneficial microorganisms serve as an indirect component of the plant immune system, acting as a protective barrier against pathogen infiltration or triggering systemic resistance, whereby plants can selectively modify and attract beneficial microbial communities based on root-specific metabolic properties to positively influence the composition of rhizosphere microorganisms in response to pathogen invasion (Li et al., 2021). The microbial communities in the rhizosphere form a mutually beneficial relationship with plants through the use of quorum sensing signals (Aqsa and Ambreen, 2023). These signals have a strong effect on plants, triggering interkingdom communication and stimulating processes that enhance defense against pathogens and control insect pests (Hartmann et al., 2021; Majdura et al., 2023). In addition, quorum sensing signals have a regulatory function in various microbial activities, including the formation of biofilms, which are complex and structured communities of bacteria in the rhizosphere held together by extracellular matrices. (Aqsa and Ambreen, 2023; Keren-Paz and Kolodkin-Gal, 2020). These biofilms facilitate the coordination of activities among microbial cells, both within and across different species. Biofilms often offer advantages to other organisms, such as biocontrol agents that create biofilms on plant roots, effectively inhibiting the growth of harmful bacteria and fungi (Ajijah et al., 2023; Fessia et al., 2022; Muhammad et al., 2020).

3.1.2 Roles in crop stress tolerance

Crops are stationary organisms that are constantly stressed by biotic and abiotic causes. The influence of abiotic factors such as low and/or high temperatures, salinity, drought, alkalinity, and other factors, can lead to low productivity and yield quality because of the reductions in respiration, photosynthesis, and protein synthesis (Dwivedi et al., 2015; Sharma et al., 2012). The biotic factors caused by pathogenic bacteria, viruses, fungi, weeds, etc., affect the plant's host cell and modify the plant's genetic code, which takes to leads to the death of the plant (Suzuki et al., 2014). Research reports showed that around 30% of world's crop production is lost because of abiotic stress (Goswami et al., 2016). One possible way to reducing the effects of abiotic stress is the application of microalga which can play a substantial role in minimizing this loss by induced systemic tolerance (IST), which is stimulating various types of biochemical and physiological tolerance systems in plants (Sharma et al., 2012). Microbial biostimulants have been used in a sustainable approach for enhancing plant growth, productivity, and nutrition, even in the climate-stress situation (Fadiji et al., 2022). Some bacteria species (Azospirillum brasilense, Pseudomonas sp., and Bacillus lentus) have been used alone or in microbial associations that could minimize drought stress impact in crops (Sangiorgio et al., 2020).

Plant resilience and productivity in the face of global warming are likely influenced by the microbiomes associated with the plants over relatively short to moderate time periods, according to eco-

22
evolutionary responses (Trivedi et al., 2022). In the face of climatic stress, the intricate interactions between plants and their microbiomes seems to be modulated through chemical conversations. A fascinating phenomenon emerges as plants have developed a mechanism of releasing exudates that acts as a signal for assistance when confronted with challenging environmental circumstances. This signal prompts the recruitment of microbiomes that can help alleviate the stress experienced by the plants (Dubey et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2020; Lugtenberg, 2015; Pantigoso et al., 2022). The interaction between plants and microbes holds significant potential and promise in mitigating diverse forms of stress, including salinity, drought, pathogenic effects, and heavy metal toxicity (Pankaj and Pandey, 2022). Their interaction forms a diverse ecosystem, often characterized by mutualistic relationships between the two partners. The symbiotic relationship between roots and rhizobia also stimulates the plant's defense against root herbivores and provides protection against various diseases that can affect the roots (Maheshwari et al., 2015). The production of mucilage could function as a strategy for plants to uphold swift diffusion of exudates and maintain high microbial activity, even when water availability is restricted (Benard et al., 2018; Holz et al., 2019; Holz et al., 2018). PGPR, endophytes and AMF are among the microorganisms that play a crucial role in alleviating abiotic stresses and, consequently, enhancing plant growth (Khan et al., 2021; Munir et al., 2022).

The root associated microorganisms have the ability to enhance plant growth through various mechanisms such as regulating nutrient and

hormonal balance, producing plant growth regulators, solubilizing nutrients, and inducing resistance against plant stressors (Koza et al., 2022). The activation of defense signaling through the influence of a beneficial rhizomicrobiome, such as PGPR, against phytopathogens and pests, is referred to as induced systemic resistance (ISR). This mechanism operates independently of salicylic acid (SA) and follows a distinct pathway (Pérez-Montaño et al., 2014; Pieterse et al., 2014). The regulation of ISR is governed by the signaling pathways of phytohormones such as ethylene (ET) and jasmonic acid (JA) (Egamberdieva et al., 2017; von Dahl and Baldwin, 2007; Yu et al., 2022). Pseudomonas fluorescens, Bacillus amyloliquefaciens, B. cereus, B. atrophaeus, and other similar bacteria have been shown to effectively combat fungal, bacterial, and viral infections by inducing an immune response known as ISR (Wang et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2022). Within the rhizosphere, a dynamic environment, plants engage in continual interactions with a multitude of microorganisms. However, the precise timing and mechanisms by which these intricate interactions between roots, the rhizosphere, and microorganisms take place in the presence of stresses remain somewhat elusive and require further clarification.

One of the promising example observed for mitigating salt stress during seed germination process of bell pepper is application of microalgea extracts from *Phaeodactylum* spp and *Dunaliella* spp (Guzmán-Murillo et al., 2013). According to (Abd El-Baky et al., 2010), it has been advised that the addition of microalgal extracts to wheat (*Triticum aestivum L*.) that are irrigated with seawater could be beneficial in increasing wheat's resistance to salty environments. Similarly, *Chlorella spp.* and *Spirulina spp.* boosted the antioxidant capacity and protein content of whole grains, as well as improved wheat's resistance to salinity (Abd El-Baky et al., 2010).

3.2 Potential of microalgae in crop production

Algae are photosynthetic organisms that can be found in a different variety of water and soil environments. Algae are generally classified as macroalgae and microalgae, with macroalgae being referred to as seaweeds, which are multicellular large-size algae that can grow up to 65m. However, microalgae are microscopic, single-celled organisms with small size, from 1 to 900 μ m. Microalgae are composed of eukaryotic organisms and prokaryotic cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) that have found widespread application as a biological source across a variety of industries, including the agriculture, food, pharmaceutical, and biofuel (Khan et al., 2018; Kusvuran and Kusvuran, 2019; Renuka et al., 2018).

In recent years, microalgae have become a sustainable agricultural product due to increasing the availability of nutrients, enhancing plant growth and crop yields, and maintaining the organic carbon and fertility of soil by boosting microbial activity in the soil (Barone et al., 2019; Silva et al., 2023; Youssef et al., 2022). The ability of the photoautotrophic microalgae to produce high-value compounds (like pigments, polyunsaturated fatty acids, and vitamins), alternative energy sources and natural processes for environmental protection

(such as CO₂ mitigation, biofuel production, and wastewater treatment) has led to a large market demand (Prasanna et al., 2016a; Renuka et al., 2018; Touloupakis et al., 2021). Microalgae are potential components of products that are biologically active metabolites such as biofertilizers, biostimulants, and biopesticides, which can be used in crop production, protection, and soil improvement (Gonçalves, 2021; Marks et al., 2019; Pathak et al., 2018; Plaza et al., 2018). The most common species of algae include *Spirulina, Chlorella, Nostoc spp., Dunaliella, Scenedesmus, Isochrysis, Tetraselmis, Skeletonema, Pavlova, Chaetoceros, Phaeodactylum, Nitzschia*, and *Thalassiosira* (Beal et al., 2018; Han et al., 2019).

Nostoc family, a cyanobacterium, exhibits remarkable capabilities through its ability to photosynthesize, secrete polysaccharides, and fix atmospheric nitrogen (Brüll et al., 2000; Cardona et al., 2009; Katoh et al., 2012; Obana et al., 2007). It presents a promising avenue for addressing agricultural hurdles, particularly in inhospitable environments such as arid regions. In these harsh conditions, cyanobacteria can effectively mitigate challenges such as water scarcity, extreme temperatures, salinity, and soil infertility. Furthermore, cyanobacteria contribute to soil improvement and nutrient accessibility through the production of secondary metabolites, thereby fortifying plant resilience against various environmental stressors (Bibi et al., 2024; Kollmen and Strieth, 2022; Nandagopal et al., 2021).

Several studies demonstrate that microalgae containing products can stimulate plant growth and yield either in a single (Table 2) or a consortium with bacteria (Table 3); and have the potential to reduce synthetic fertilizer and can defend against plant pathogens. These are due to a large variety of bioactive compounds producing excellent sources of chemicals such as phytohormones, carotenoids, phycobilins and amino acids. Microalgae enhance crop productivity by promoting plant growth, nutrient availability, and pathogens biocontrol (Michalak and Chojnacka, 2015b; Stirk et al., 2013). These products have diverse functional characteristics in crop production that promote an improvement in soil quality, nutrient uptake, enhancing crop performance, tolerance to biotic and abiotic stress conditions, and plant growth stimulation (Gonçalves, 2021; Kusvuran and Kusvuran, 2019; Renuka et al., 2018).

Table 2. Application of microalgae impact on crop production

Microalga	Tested	Effect on crop	Reference
e isolates	plant	performance and soil	
		fertility	
Monoraph	Tomato	Enhance plant biomass by	(Jimenez et
<i>idium</i> sp.	(Solanum	32% and 12% higher	al., 2020)
	lycopersic	content in chlorophyll a	
	um)		
Nostoc	Maize	Faster vegetative growth	(Ördög et al.,
piscinale	(Zea	and higher chlorophyll	2021)
	mays)	content, higher grain	
		yield	
Anabaena	Wheat	Enhanced viability and N	(Chaudhary
Anabaena spp.	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i>	Enhanced viability and N fixing potential; enhance	(Chaudhary et al., 2012;
Anabaena spp.	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> aestivum	Enhanced viability and N fixing potential; enhance growth and nutrient	(Chaudhary et al., 2012; Prasanna et
Anabaena spp.	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i> <i>L</i>), tomato	Enhanced viability and N fixing potential; enhance growth and nutrient uptake, increase yield and	(Chaudhary et al., 2012; Prasanna et al., 2013;
Anabaena spp.	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i> <i>L</i>), tomato	Enhanced viability and N fixing potential; enhance growth and nutrient uptake, increase yield and fruit quality; exhibited	(Chaudhary et al., 2012; Prasanna et al., 2013; Swarnalaksh
Anabaena spp.	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i> <i>L</i>), tomato	Enhanced viability and N fixing potential; enhance growth and nutrient uptake, increase yield and fruit quality; exhibited 10-15% lower disease	(Chaudhary et al., 2012; Prasanna et al., 2013; Swarnalaksh mi et al.,
Anabaena spp.	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i> <i>L</i>), tomato	Enhanced viability and N fixing potential; enhance growth and nutrient uptake, increase yield and fruit quality; exhibited 10-15% lower disease severity	(Chaudhary et al., 2012; Prasanna et al., 2013; Swarnalaksh mi et al., 2013)
Anabaena spp. Chlorella	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i> <i>L</i>), tomato Maize	Enhanced viability and N fixing potential; enhance growth and nutrient uptake, increase yield and fruit quality; exhibited 10-15% lower disease severity Increase plant height,	(Chaudhary et al., 2012; Prasanna et al., 2013; Swarnalaksh mi et al., 2013) (Dineshkum
Anabaena spp. Chlorella vul. and	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i> <i>L</i>), tomato Maize (<i>Zea</i>	Enhanced viability and N fixing potential; enhance growth and nutrient uptake, increase yield and fruit quality; exhibited 10-15% lower disease severity Increase plant height, improve yield character,	(Chaudhary et al., 2012; Prasanna et al., 2013; Swarnalaksh mi et al., 2013) (Dineshkum ar et al.,
Anabaena spp. Chlorella vul. and Spirulina	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i> <i>L</i>), tomato Maize (<i>Zea</i> <i>mays</i>)	Enhanced viability and N fixing potential; enhance growth and nutrient uptake, increase yield and fruit quality; exhibited 10-15% lower disease severity Increase plant height, improve yield character, and enhance seed	(Chaudhary et al., 2012; Prasanna et al., 2013; Swarnalaksh mi et al., 2013) (Dineshkum ar et al., 2017)

3.3 Potential of plant growth promoting bacteria (PGPB)

Plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) are a diverse group of bacteria known for their ability to boost plant growth and safeguard plants against diseases and environmental stresses using a multitude of mechanisms (Souza et al., 2015). Among them, bacteria like endophytes, which form intimate partnerships with plants, may prove particularly effective in promoting plant growth (Souza et al., 2015; Woźniak et al., 2019). Various critical bacterial traits, including but not limited to biological nitrogen fixation, phosphate solubilization, ACC deaminase activity, and the synthesis of siderophores and phytohormones, can be evaluated as indicators of their potential to promote plant growth (PGP) (Souza et al., 2015; Vandana et al., 2021). Moreover, Plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) enhance plant growth and contribute to soil bioremediation by releasing various metabolites and hormones, facilitating nitrogen fixation, and improving the accessibility of other nutrients via mineral solubilization (Poria et al., 2022). The effectiveness and productivity of PGPB as additives for crops depend on several factors, including the bacteria's capacity to establish root colonization, the secretion of substances by plant roots, and the overall condition of the soil (Massa et al., 2022; Souza et al., 2015).

Azospirillum spp. are frequently encountered bacteria inhabiting the rhizosphere of diverse grasses and cereals, distinguished for their role as plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) (Abdel Latef et al., 2020; Gouda et al., 2018). The potential advantages of *Azospirillum*

largely stem from biochemical and structural enhancements in the host plant roots, which help improve the uptake of water and minerals (Bashan and de-Bashan, 2010; Omer et al., 2022). A lot of documented studies underscores the utility of *Azospirillum spp*. in cereal and horticultural crop inoculation, attesting to their efficacy in bolstering crop productivity (Boleta et al., 2020; Mattos et al., 2022; Naqqash et al., 2022; Zeffa et al., 2019).

Bacteria of the *Pseudomonas* genus frequently play a central role in the microbiomes of both the phyllosphere and rhizosphere, competitively establishing themselves and flourishing in these environments (Trivedi et al., 2020; Zboralski and Filion, 2020). Over the past few decades, many strains of *Pseudomonas* have been researched for their capabilities in biocontrol and promoting plant growth (Mercado-Blanco, 2015; Zboralski and Filion, 2023). *Pseudomonas spp.* offer both direct and indirect advantages to plants, like adjusting plant hormone levels and boosting soil nutrient availability, as well as suppressing plant pathogens and enhancing plant disease resistance (Zboralski and Filion, 2023).

3.4 Mechanisms for plant growth promoting microorganisms

The food production industry is under pressure to maintain productivity and often relies on chemical fertilizers and pesticides, which can have negative environmental and health effects. Agriculture needs alternative solutions to reduce costs and environmental impact without sacrificing productivity. Microbial agents, particularly microorganisms

that possess various abilities related to plant growth, can serve as a beneficial substitute in this regard (Ahluwalia et al., 2021; Khatoon et al., 2020). Rhizospheric microorganisms found in soils possess numerous capabilities that can enhance plant growth, either through direct or indirect mechanisms (Glick, 2012). The direct effects include the production of phytohormones, improvement of nutrient availability, improving the development of root, nitrogen fixation, enhancing the enzymatic activity of plants and solubilization of phosphorus and potassium (Kumar et al., 2022a). The indirect effects on plant growth involve biocontrol, disruption of quorum sensing, and the induction of systemic resistance (Ahluwalia et al., 2021; Bhanse et al., 2022; Rigobelo et al., 2022; Vocciante et al., 2022). By performing these functions, microorganisms play a critical role in ensuring that crops have access to the necessary nutrients and conditions for optimal growth and health. They contribute to the long-term agricultural sustainability, crop growth, and productivity of the soil when used as biofertilizers, biostimulants, and biocontrol agents.

3.4.1 Biofertilizers

Biofertilizers are environmentally friendly containing living microbes or natural materials that improve soil fertility, crop development, and productivity by colonizing the plant's rhizosphere and increasing the plant ability to absorb nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and minerals when applied to soil, plant, or seed (Mahanty et al., 2017; Ronga et al., 2019). Considerable research studies on biofertilizers have

demonstrated their ability to supply the required nutrients to the crop in enough amounts that result in the improvement of crop growth and vield. Biofertilizers are living microbes that increase crop productivity by mobilizing or increasing nutrient availability in soil, in an economically feasible and environmentally friendly manner (Singh et al., 2011), and they are an substitute to chemical fertilizers. Biofertilizers are cost-effective; they minimize the side effect of environmental stress to a great extent and enhances soil fertility (Singh et al., 2011). It was testified that the application of biofertilizers improve crop yield by about 10-40% by increasing the contents of amino acids, proteins, nitrogen fixation, and vitamins (Bhardwaj et al., 2014; Prasanna et al., 2017). When microalgae were utilized as a source of biofertilizer, several research found a correlation between increased crop yields, increased nutrient uptake, and increased biomass accumulation (Hajnal-Jafari et al., 2020; Ronga et al., 2019; Shaaban, 2001).

3.4.1.1 Nitrogen fixation

Soil serves as a medium for plant growth and is a crucial resource that must be continually resupplied with nutrients. Among the different features of biofertilizers, formulations based on oxygenic photosynthesis, including cyanobacteria and eukaryotic microalgae, are of increasing benefit in nutrient cycling, crop productivity, soil fertility and reducing chemical fertilizer application (G et al., 2016; Li et al., 2017). Certain cyanobacteria (free-living blue-green algae) can efficiently transform atmospheric nitrogen (N₂) into organic nitrogen forms, which is one of the vital nutrients for plant growth (Dey et al., 2017; Gonçalves, 2021; Renuka et al., 2018). Cyanobacteria has specialized cells known as heterocysts, that can fix atmospheric nitrogen and, as a result, are able to meet the needs of soil macro and micro fauna as well as flora and plants (Babu et al., 2015; Karthikeyan et al., 2007). Several researchers have investigated that inoculation with cyanobacteria proved to boost the yield and microbial activity by 5%-25%, enhance plant growth, and seed germination in a wide variety of cereal and vegetable crops (Dey et al., 2017; Prasanna et al., 2016b; Prasanna et al., 2017); can contribute to savings of 25%-50% on chemical nitrogen fertilizers (G et al., 2016; Nain et al., 2010; Prasanna et al., 2016a). Due to their abundance in soil and their ability to fix atmospheric N, cyanobacteria like *Nostoc* and *Anabaena* strains are frequently used as biofertilizers (Renuka et al., 2018).

Leaching of biologically fixed N may be an environmental hazard, but the extent may be minimal compared to leaching caused by synthetic fertilizers. Research reports revealed that only 7% of total nitrogen is leached away when microalgae are applied to soil, whereas 50% of total nitrogen is leached when synthetic fertilizer is applied (Jimenez et al., 2020). Exopolysaccharide-producing cyanobacteria generate biological soil crusts and are also said to immobilize access to nitrogen (Mager and Thomas, 2011), which inhabit nitrogen from leaching out of the soil. Microalgae fertilization increased plant growth rate (shoot + root) by 32% in tomato plants, paralleling an increase in chlorophylla content (Jimenez et al., 2020); and it may also enhanced yield and microbial activity by 12-25% (Prasanna et al., 2014).

3.4.1.2 Improving soil structure

As a result of intensive agricultural methods, agricultural land is continuously degraded. Soil erosion, tilling and using heavy equipment too often can affects the soil's structure, water holding capacity, fertility, nutrients movement, and productivity of agricultural soil. For agriculture to be sustainable, it is important to keep the soil's organic matter and structure at the appropriate levels. Numerous varieties of green algae and cyanobacteria that are capable of producing extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) and releasing them into the environment (Xiao and Zheng, 2016). The extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) have adhesive properties that contribute to enhancing soil organic carbon, aggregation of soil particles, enhancing soil structure, and preventing soil erosion to a large degree (Weiss et al., 2012; Xiao and Zheng, 2016). The study found that inoculating cyanobacteria in soil resulted in the formation of organo-mineral soil aggregates composed of filaments and EPS, which increased aggregate stability six weeks after inoculation compared to the uninoculated control (Malam Issa et al., 2007).

In desert and semiarid soils, which are often highly compacted, low in fertility, saline or sodic, poorly aerated, and retain less water, microalgae make physio-chemical contributions to the health of the soil by supporting to form and stabilize soil aggregates, which increase pore space and continuity (Nichols et al., 2020). This enhances aeration, nutrient cycling, seed germination, water holding capacity, and water infiltration. Following the application of cyanobacteria (*Nostoc* and *Anabaena*) to a loam, silty clay loam, and sandy loam, there was an increase in soil aggregation of 85%, 130%, and 160%, respectively (Kaushik, 2014). Hence, using algal biomass as a biofertilizer could improve the soil's structure, water-holding capacity, and soil aeration.

3.4.2 Biostimulants

Plant biostimulants are derived from microorganisms or organic substances, when applied to the plant in a small quantity, they increase nutrient use efficiency, promotes plant growth, resistance to abiotic and biotic stress, and quality traits, regardless of their essential nutrient content for plant (García-Sánchez et al., 2022). Algae, both macroalgae (seaweeds) and microalgae, have long been viewed as a potentially profitable commercial prospect in the field agronomy and agro-industries due to their high concentrations of plant biostimulants (Kapoore et al., 2021). Hence, microalgal extracts are becoming promising natural resources for plant biostimulation (Romanenko et al., 2016). It is essential to keep in mind that biostimulants are not the same thing as biofertilizers because they do not directly supply the crops with the nutrients that they require; rather, they enhance the uptake of the nutrient by altering the rhizosphere and the metabolic processes of the plant (Drobek et al., 2019).

The biostimulatory effect of microalgae-based biostimulants under normal and stress situation can modulate microbial community inhabiting in the phyllosphere and rhizosphere areas of plants (Ranjan et al., 2016; Renuka et al., 2018). Recent experimental studies of biostimulatory microalga extracts have been shown to improve vegetative growth, absorption and distribution of nutrients, biomass and yield, resilience to biotic and abiotic stress, and water uptake in many crops under open and greenhouse settings (El Arroussi et al., 2018; Garcia-Gonzalez and Sommerfeld, 2016; García-Sánchez et al., 2022; Prasanna et al., 2017). Biostimulants can also alter root formation, which influences plant health, nutritional composition, and growth by improving water and nutrient uptake (Garcia-Gonzalez and Sommerfeld, 2016). The biostimulant activity of cyanobacteria, Arthrospira platensis, root and foliar applications on papaya has been tested. After integrating the findings into a surface model for plant height, stem diameter, leaf number, and leaf area, it was determined that a root treatment of 1.08% (w/v) was ideal for papaya seedling biomass production, whereas foliar spraying had no effect (Guedes et al., 2018). When the cyanobacteria (Nostoc calcicole or Anabaena *vaginicola*) were sprayed on the leaves of tomato, squash, and cucumber plants, compared to the controls, there were substantial increases in fresh weigh, dry weight, hight, root length, and leaf number (Shariatmadari et al., 2013). Therefore, algal biomass can be applied directly to plant leaves or roots to boost plant growth and yield. The identified potential algal biostimulant metabolites include

phytohormones, humic substance, polysaccharides, amino acid, vitamins etc.

3.4.2.1 Phytohormones

The growth and development of plants are influenced to a significant level by phytohormones. In agriculture, the practice of exogenously supplementing plants with plant hormones (either natural or synthetic) has been a common method for increasing crop production and productivity (Aliyu et al., 2011). Extract of microalgal may contain phytohormones like auxin, cytokinins, ethylene, abscisic acid (ABA), and gibberellins, which can be used as biostimulant in agriculture (Stirk et al., 2002; Tarakhovskaya et al., 2007). New evidence reveals that phytohormones in microalgae have similar regulatory actions to those found in higher plants, but their precise role in these organisms remains unclear (Lu and Xu, 2015). The two dominant kinds of auxin such as indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) and indole-3-butyric acid (IBA) are regulating growth and development including cell division and expansion (Hashtroudi et al., 2012). Cytokinins influences many traits of plant growth and physiology such as seed germination, shoot, and root development, and leaf senescence (Ha et al., 2012). While gibberellins play an important role mostly involves in elongation and expansion of the cell (Salazar-Cerezo et al., 2018). Ethylene is a gaseous phytohormone that plays an important role in physiological activities of plant, like growth and development, as well as resistance to biotic and abiotic stressor (Pierik et al., 2006). Abscisic acid is

important in regulating several biological processes such as stomatal closure, seed maturation and improves resistance to temperature stress (Sagar and Singh, 2019).

The phytohormones (such as auxin and gibberellins) are found in *Chlorella kessler* when extact, when applied to *Vicia faba*, it increased leaf area, seedling growth parameters, germination, pigment content, and sodium and potassium accumulation in roots and shoots (El-Naggar et al., 2005). (Hussain and Hasnain, 2011) investigated the efficacy of hormone-secreting cyanobacterial strains (cytokinin and auxin) in boosting growth both in axenic and natural environments. As a result, an approach to agronomic techniques that uses prospective phytohormone-excreting cyanobacterial strains as a biostimulant would be an environmentally acceptable way to stimulate plant development. However, research on the evaluation of algal hormone application at a field scale is limited, so this area needs further research.

3.4.2.2 Amino acids and Protein hydrolysates

Amino acids and protein hydrolysates (PHs), together constitute a significant portion of the category within the broader field of plant biostimulants and find widespread application within environmentally responsible agriculture practices (Bulgari et al., 2019). Amino acids contain a minor amount of lipids, phytohormones, polysaccharides, and elements that are both macro and micronutrients, as well as protein hydrolysates, which may also consist primarily of short peptides (polypeptides and oligopeptides) (Calvo et al., 2014; Kapoore et al.,

2021) . The overall concentration of free amino acid and peptides (including arginine, alanine, proline, glycine, glutamate, valine, leucine and glutamine, among others) can range from 2 to 18% (w/w) to 1 to 85% (w/w), respectively (Calvo et al., 2014). Glycine betaine and proline are known to help to the mobility and uptake of micronutrients, as well as mitigation of environmental stress and antioxidant activity including heat, cold, drought, salinity, oxidative, and heavy metals through chelating actions (du Jardin, 2015; Paul et al., 2019). Bioactive peptides, on the other hand, function in plants similarly to auxin and gibberellin, which improves overall plant growth and productivity (Colla et al., 2017). Certain microalgal strains contain more than 40% dry weight amino acid, including *C. saccharophila, Chlorella sp., A. maxima*, and *A. platensis*, and which contains 42.4%, 44.3%, 44.9%, and 46.8% respectively (Hempel et al., 2012), making them appropriate for biostimulants products.

3.4.2.3 Polysaccharides

The polysaccharides found in microalgae have the potential to be used as a bioresource in agriculture, both for the protection and improvement of crops. Polysaccharides are involved in many plants' metabolic pathways and can act as biostimulants to increase crop quality and protect against biotic and abiotic challenges (Rachidi et al., 2020).

The highest concentration of polysaccharides found in the microalgae (*Porphyridium cruentum* and *Chaetoceros gracilis species*) and

Dunaliella salina at the range of 40% to 57% and 199.8%, respectively (Kapoore et al., 2021). Studies shows that application of 1 mg/mL microalgae polysaccharides from *D. Salina, Porphorydium sp.*, and *A. platensis* on tomato plants significantly improved the shoot dry weight, shoot length, and nodes number , shoot dry weight , and shoot length by 46.6%, 25.26%, and 75 %, respectively, compared to control (Rachidi et al., 2020). Further example, foliar application of microalgae polysaccharide extract from *A. platensis* at concentration of 3 g/L (w/v) increased plant growth and development of leaf area size by 57% and 100%, size of nodes by 33% and 57%, and root weight by 67% and 230%, for pepper and tomato plants, respectively (Elarroussia et al., 2016).

3.4.2.4 Humic substances

Humic compounds are generally included in categories of biostimulants; but their algal origin has not been well studied (Kapoore et al., 2021). Humic substances are naturally occurring components that make up around 60% of the organic matter in the soil. They can be produced either by breaking down microbial, animal, and plant residues or through the metabolism of soil microbes that use these materials (du Jardin, 2015). Humic substance are divided into humic acids, fulvic acids, and humins according to their molecular weights and solubilities (du Jardin, 2015). When applied to crops, humic material in digestate may bind to algal cells and act as a biostimulant. On the other hand, the biostimulant effect of humic compounds isolated

from agro-industrial waste on *S. quadricauda* and *C. vulgaris* showed that there was a significant increase in chlorophyll, lipids, carbohydrate content and biomass (Puglisi et al., 2018).

3.4.3. Biopesticides

Utilizing chemical pesticides for the control of pests and pathogens in agricultural activities poses a threat to the sustainability of agroecosystems. Sustainable crop protection against pests and pathogens by using modern technologies allows to keep plants healthy and achieve stable high yield. Biopesticides are naturally known substances that are obtained from microorganisms, plants, or animals, primarily for insect and plant disease control. These substances or materials, including antioxidant, antimicrobial, antifungal, or antiviral properties, help crop growth by defending plants against harmful effect of pathogens. Some bacteria and fungi are among the most often discovered organisms that can be used for biocontrol (Spadaro and Gullino, 2005). Microalgae, particularly cyanobacteria, have gained attention in recent decades as possible biocontrol agents against pests and diseases (Hernández-Carlos and Gamboa-Angulo, 2011).

Phytohormones are essential for the controlling a growth and development of plants as well as its defense against biotic and abiotic stress via interacting among them (Checker et al., 2018). Many investigations were carried out to evaluate microalgae, as potential biocontrol substances that have demonstrated antagonistic effects against many plant pathogens, like nematodes, fungi, and bacteria,

41

mainly due to the produce hydrolytic enzymes and biocidal compounds, like benzoic acid and majusculonic acid (Chaudhary et al., 2012; Gupta et al., 2013; Renuka et al., 2018). These antimicrobial substances can suppress microorganisms by either disrupting the cytoplasmic membrane or inhibiting protein synthesis (Swain et al., 2017).

3.5 Impact of microalgae-bacteria interaction on crop production

In nature, not only plant-microbe interactions, but also microbemicrobe associations are vital assemblages affecting plant growth, development, health, and productivity. In natural ecosystems or industrial processes, microalgae and bacteria live together, demonstrating both beneficial and harmful relationships (Unnithan et al., 2014). Under industry settings, bacteria are considered pollutants in algae research, but most recent investigation have demonstrated that most algal symbionts not only stimulate algal growth but also extend benefits in downstream processing (Lian et al., 2018). There have been several studies that have brought attention to the potential of bacteria include nitrogen fixation (Azotobacter vinelandii, Azospirillum brasilens, Rhizobium etli, and Mesorhizobium loti), phosphate solubilization (Azospirillum spp., Pseudomonas spp., Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, and Bacillus spp.), cellulolytic activity (Bacillus spp., Aspergillus spp., Penicillium spp., and Trichoderma spp.), and the production of siderophores are recognized as plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) (Bhattacharyya and Jha, 2012a; Meena et al.,

2020a; Woo and Pepe, 2018). Plant growth promoting bacteria (PGPB) are soil bacteria that can promote plant growth, suppress pathogens, promote nutrient availability to plants, and increase abiotic stress resistance mechanisms (Kumar et al., 2017).

Microalga	Bacteria	Tested	Effect on crop and soil	Referenc
e		crop	fertility	es
Anabaena	Azospirillum	Maize	Increase the initial	(Gavilan
cylindrica	brasilense	(Zea	growth, higher root	es et al.,
		mays)	growth, dry biomass,	2020;
			and yield	Matsuo et
				al., 2022)
Chlorella	Bacillus	Maize	Improvement of the	(Yilmaz
spp.	megaterium,	(Zea	stability of soil	and
	Р.	mays)	aggregates and organic	Sönmez,
	fluorescens		carbon in the soil	2017)
Anabaena	Rhizobium +	Commo	Enhanced plant growth,	(Horácio
cylindrica	Azospirillum	n bean	yield and yield	et al.,
	brasilence		component	2020)
Nostocace	Pseudomon	Tomato	Microbial consortia can	(Toribio
ae family	as and	(Solanu	have definite	et al.,
	Pantoea	т	synergistic effects on	2022)
	cypripedii	lycopers	plant growth and	
		icum)	seedling	
Anabaena	Brevundimo	Rice	Enhanced growth,	(Prasann
spp.	nas sp.	(Oryza	yield, and improve soil	a et al.,
		sativa)	organic carbon and soil	2012)
			health	

Table 3: Microalga-bacteria interaction effects on crop production

A combined application of the microalgae-bacteria can improve plant growth and control plant disease, which is much more efficient than a sole application (Spadaro and Gullino, 2005). This is due to the microbes in the consortia/combination system having the capability to improve plant growth and development and/or control pathogens by different mechanisms. (Trivedi et al., 2017) reported that the beneficial microbiome could form relations with other microbiomes, reproduce highly structured systems in the rhizosphere soils, and may have a greater likelihood to assistances the host than a single culture. One of the promising examples showed that the combined application of the cyanobacterial (*Nostoc muscorum and Anabaena flos-aquae*) and bacterial suspensions (*Azotobacter brasilense and Azotobacter chroococcum*) was substantially improved germination rate of Lupinus termis seeds by 53.13%, 211.48%, 129.04%, and 104.1%, respectively, when compared to control (Tantawy and Atef, 2010).

In interaction systems, microalgae and bacteria can be symbiotic to competition (mutualism to antagonism). The relationships between microalgal and bacterial communities are based on signal transduction, gene transfer, and nutrient exchange (Aditya et al., 2022). Microalgae and bacteria engage in a dynamic exchange of carbon, energy, and essential molecules, which is seen in Figure 2. In a synergetic association, microalgae stimulate bacteria grow by supplying oxygen (through photosynthesis) and dissolved organic matter, such as calcium carbonate and organic carbon, that become accessible to bacteria (Cooper and Smith, 2015). On the other side, the bacteria produce carbon dioxide (CO₂) and remineralize nitrogen, phosphorus, and sulphur to maintain further microalgae growth (Yao et al., 2019). Moreover, bacteria supply vitamin B as organic cofactors (Yao et al., 2019), amino acids (Palacios et al., 2016), and hormones (De-Bashan et al., 2008), which become bioavailable for microalgae.



Figure 2: Mechanism of a possible symbiotic interaction of microalgae and bacteria and their potential role in the agricultural production (source: own editing). In normal interactions, microalgae exude oxygen (O_2), organic carbon, and calcium carbonate (CaCO₃), which bacteria can use. In exchange, the bacteria remineralize nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P), growth promoter and produces carbon dioxide (CO_2) to assist the growth of the microalgae. In specialized interactions, the bacteria supply B vitamins as organic cofactors or create siderophores to bind iron, making it bioavailable to the microalgae. The interaction of microalgae and bacteria offers a unique potential for eco-friendly products such as biofertilizers, biostimulants, biopesticides, and soil conditioners, which reduce reliance on

agrochemicals and sustainably increase crop production and productivity.

In a pot experiment with rice varieties, the combined treatment of cyanobacteria strains (*Anabaena* sp., *Anabaena oscillarioides*, and *Anabaena laxa*) and bacteria strains (*Brevundimonas* sp., *Ochrobactrum* sp., and *Providencia* sp.,) was examined. In this trial, the authors evaluated that a significantly increase in the growth, grain yield by 19.02%, nitrogen fixing potential of rice, and improving soil fertility by nitrogen savings of 40-80kg/ha , especially with *Ochrobacterium* and *Anabaena* species (Prasanna et al., 2012).

During the spring and summer, the combined biostimulant properties of freshwater algae (*Chlorella vulgaris*) and bacteria (*Azospirillum sp., Azotobacter sp., Herbaspirillum sp., Bacillus licheniformis*, and *Bacillus megatherium*) significantly influenced the weight of the romaine and leaf lettuce crops (Kopta et al., 2018). Moreover, the research also suggested that the photosynthetic substances produced by algae, like carotenoids, could boost the quality and productivity of crops and give support during times of stress. Similarly, the positive result was observed by combined application of algae and bacteria to crops promoted growth, productivity, and quality in common bean, maize, and onion (Gavilanes et al., 2020; Geries and Elsadany, 2021; Horácio et al., 2020). This consortium reduces synthetic pesticide use, making it essential to sustainable agriculture and food safety (Niu et al., 2020). A suitable microalgae-bacteria consortium is necessary to boost the potential of strains to enhance growth and development and to inhibit pathogen attack (Yanti et al., 2021). Considering these factors, it is feasible to assume that microalgae-bacteria consortium can be successful at increasing soil microbial activities, crop productivity, and plant disease resistance. However, more investigation needs on the molecular mechanisms underlaying the influence of microalgae and bacteria association to help plants development and disease prevention, so that they can be used in agriculture in a safer and more widespread way.

Table 3 highlighted valuable practical reports on the microalgae– bacteria combined treatments in different crop cultivation. Some studies revealed a promise of the microalgae-bacteria association, examined in the field and greenhouse conditions that can promote seedling growth, germination, and biomass in plants (Kang et al., 2021a). An association between microalgae and bacteria can increase plant growth and development by the production of phytohormones (like auxin, cytokinin, and so on) and polysaccharides; it can also stimulate nutrient uptake by regulating a variety of biochemical and physiological processes; and it can reduce the risk of pathogen infection (Fuentes et al., 2016; Michalak and Chojnacka, 2015a).

3.6 Challenges of microalgae-bacteria interactions

The field of microbial consortia is still in its initial stages, and there are still a lot of problems to solve when it comes to how cells communicate to each other and how to make systems that are stable and easy to control. The main challenge of the association of microbes, soil, and climate in an agricultural setting is to understand their specific structural function activities on plants. A lot of study has demonstrated a promising result in the greenhouse trials, but it fails to confirm in field trials. The microalgae-bacteria interaction can also be affected by environmental factors like pH, temperature, and light intensity (Quijano et al., 2017). It is difficult to depict their ecosystem-wide processes such as metabolic pathways and nutrient cycling because the majority of heterotrophic bacteria and photosynthetic microalgae have not yet been cultured (Zhang et al., 2020). Furthermore, the amount of nutrient present in the growing media has a major impact on the dynamic between microalgae and bacteria (Liu et al., 2012).

The growth phase is another significant aspect that plays a role in the interactions that take place between microalgae and bacteria. Expensive harvesting of biomass, insufficient biomass production, and extraction technologies that need a lot of energy are also main constraints that are preventing their large-scale development. Subsequently, it is challenging to distinguish the individual metabolites that microalgae and bacteria produce in a consortium due to the complexity of their interactions, which are either naturally occurring or artificially engineered for a specific goal (Zhang et al., 2020). The result of microalgae-bacteria interactions is often varied in different studies under different climatic, or soil conditions, which is the main problem in the implementation of the technology. Species and environmental circumstances are the primary variables detrimental to the microalgae-bacteria relationship (Lauritano et al., 2020; Mujtaba and Lee, 2016). Which highlighted the importance of choosing a

suitable combination of microalgae strains versus bacteria strains for the efficient application in the agricultural production. To overcome these restrictions, researchers have focused on enhancing microalgalbacterial consortia, which offer several economic, energy, and environmental benefits due to their mutual interactions.

3.7 Strategies for implementing: A multitude of approaches

Microbial inoculants are formulations of environmentally friendly microorganisms and serve as a promising alternative to chemical fertilizers and pesticides. They can function as phytostimulants, biofertilizers, or microbial biocontrol agents.

The progress made in rhizosphere research has unquestionably enhance our capacity to translate knowledge into practical technological applications in agriculture, restoration of nature and ecological engineering. Recent research focusing on the rhizosphere ecology of noncultivated plant species has brought about a greater understanding of the potential for ecological engineering of soil biota to reconstruct soil structure. Plant growth-promoting microorganisms, among other microorganisms, have the potential to interact with a variety of crop plants, enhancing their growth and development to resist pathogen attacks and promote healthy growth. Many of the metabolites produced by these microorganisms have been identified as commercially valuable due to their abilities to promote plant growth, facilitate mass production, improve biocontrol efficacy, enhance stress tolerance, remove soil pollutants, and enable proper formulation (de Andrade et al., 2023; Oleńska et al., 2020; Orozco-Mosqueda et al., 2022; Rosier et al., 2018).

One notable application is rhizoremediation, which offers a costeffective and environmentally sustainable "Green Technology" for the degradation of petroleum contaminants in soil (Haldar and Sengupta, 2015; Martin et al., 2014). Rhizoremediation is a bioremediation method that involves the enhanced microbial degradation of organic contaminants within the rhizosphere. During the development of microbial inoculants, it is essential to carry out isolation, formulation, and proper application technology (Bashan et al., 2014). These steps play a vital role in ensuring that the necessary quantity of viable and active microbial cells can be applied effectively.

3.7.1 Selection of beneficial strains

The primary goal in the context of plant inoculation with PGPMs, is to identify the most suitable strains or a combination of microorganisms that can achieve the desired impact on the specific crop being targeted (Bashan et al., 2014). To acquire microbial inoculants that can effectively compete with others, it is necessary for the strains employed to possess specific attributes. These include easy to use, high efficacy, beneficial traits for plants, the ability to multiply rapidly and effortlessly, compatibility with native soil microorganisms, extended shelf life beyond a single season, the absence of any adverse effects on non-target organisms and the surrounding natural environment (Bashan et al., 2014).

For any inoculant, there are three key characteristics that are fundamental and essential. Firstly, it should provide a suitable environment for the growth of the intended microorganisms. Secondly, it should maintain a sufficient number of viable microbial cells in a healthy state for a reasonable duration. Lastly, it should deliver an adequate quantity of microorganisms during inoculation to meet the required threshold for a positive plant response (Date, 2001; Stephens and Rask, 2000). In other words, the inoculant must contain enough viable bacteria after the formulation process. To gain a better understanding of the sustainable production potential and feasibility of the microbial products, it is important to assess them under different environmental conditions such as climate, soil type, crop type, and agricultural practices. This evaluation process will help generate a range of potentially beneficial microbial products.

3.7.2 Formulation development: Developing efficient formulation of PGPMs

To enhance the success of a microbial inoculant in soil, it is crucial to ensure both targeted ecological compatibility (occupying a metabolic niche not utilized by the existing microbiota) and protection against unfavorable conditions (e.g., through biofilm formation). The formulation of the inoculant helps shield the microbe from extreme environmental factors, provides an initial food source, and promotes prolonged presence and efficacy (Babalola and Glick, 2012).

practicality of implementing PGPR in agriculture has The progressively grown due to their potential to substitute chemical fertilizers, mineral nutrients and pesticides (Bhattacharyya and Jha, 2012b). Pseudomonas fluorescens, P. putida, P. aeruginosa, Bacillus subtilis, and other Bacillus spp. are among the PGPR strains that hold significant potential for commercialization. These promising PGPR isolates can be formulated using various organic and inorganic carriers, utilizing either solid or liquid fermentation technologies (Gómez-Godínez et al., 2023; Nakkeeran et al., 2006). Green alternatives to traditional agrochemicals are provided by bioformulations of the products, which promote plant growth, suppress phytopathogens, and enhance soil fertility (Arora et al., 2016). Inoculants can be developed in the form of solid or liquid-based products, with the latter encompassing dry or wet formulations (Bashan, 1998; Berger et al., 2018; Catroux et al., 2001). Hence, the primary objective of inoculation formulation is to enhance the survival rate of PGPR during storage and upon application, ensuring their viability in both appropriate and accessible forms.

Achieving an optimal and compatible association between microbes, carrier materials, and their storage is essential for maximizing the performance of microbial consortia formulations in enhancing crop productivity (Ghosh et al., 2016). The utilization of PGPR formulations containing mixtures of strains has proven to be more effective than using individual strains alone when it comes to managing pest and diseases in crop plants, in addition to promoting plant growth (Nakkeeran et al., 2006). As an example, while two distinct strains of

Escherichia coli can individually metabolize glucose and xylose, their synergistic association enables a more efficient metabolism of these sugars compared to when they are single cultured (Eiteman et al., 2008). It is evident that mixed cultures can effectively carry out complex processes, leading to increased productivity compared to a single culture. The key aspect in the formation of mixed consortia lies in the compatibility among microbial members, as it dictates the longterm stability and suitability for industrial applications. This technology reduces the workload on a single culture, emphasizing the need for in-depth research on the interactions between plants and microbes, as well as microbe-microbe interactions, in order to design, optimize, and develop bioformulations. Bioformulations with PGPMs (plant growth-promoting microorganisms) offer a promising and sustainable approach to address adverse environmental conditions such as excessive use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides, which disrupt biodiversity, pollute the environment, and compromise soil health (Balla et al., 2022). These bioformulations exhibit tolerance to diverse biotic and abiotic stresses, exert beneficial effects on plant growth, protect against pests, aid in bioremediation, and contribute to the restoration of degraded lands (Marcial-Coba et al., 2021; Shanmugam, 2022). Choosing suitable PGPMs, carrier materials, and implementing large-scale preparation and preservation methods are essential steps in developing bioformulations for commercial purposes in the long run. To boost the adhesive capacity of microbes to their hosts and improve the efficiency of bioformulations, a range of supplementary materials like hormones, mineral nutrients, fungicides, and carbon sources are employed. In recent times, encapsulation technologies have become widely utilized for producing microbial inoculants with diverse compositions and morphologies (Balla et al., 2022; John et al., 2011; Schoebitz et al., 2012).

3.7.3 Application of bio-inoculant in agriculture

Using N-fixing bacteria such as *Azospirillum* and *Azobacter* in the process of inoculation enabled the application of only half the recommended amount of nitrogen fertilizer while still resulting in higher sesame seed yield and improved quality of the oil produced (Shakeri et al., 2016). The combination of bacteria consisting of *Bacillus cereus* PX35, *Bacillus subtilis* SM21, and *Serrati asp* XY2 effectively decreased the occurrence of root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne incognita*) by 63-69% n tomato plants. Additionally, it led to an improvement in fruit yield by 31.5% to 39% and enhanced quality parameters such as soluble sugars, vitamin C, and titratable acids (Niu et al., 2016).

This environmentally friendly approach encounters obstacles and significantly lags its competitors, synthetic fertilizers, and pesticides. It is often observed that bioformulations designed for specific crops do not yield satisfactory results comparable to laboratory conditions (Mishra and Arora, 2016). These limitations and associated restrictions pose significant challenges to this environmentally friendly approach.

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Experimental site description

The field trial was conducted in 2021, 2022, and 2023, employing uniform treatments in three different locations, all featuring Danubian alluvial soil type. Experiments were conducted with the same treatment located at (47°53'32.3"N 17°15'59.0"E), (47°54'26.7"N 17°15'09.3"E), and (47°53'46.7"N 17°15'46.1"E) at Széchenyi István University farm, Mosonmagyaróvár, Hungary (Fig. 3). The crop cultivated in the previous year at each experimental field was wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), and sunflower in 2021, 2022 and 2023, respectively. Daily temperature and rainfall measurements were observed at each location. Figure 3 displays the recorded rainfall, maximum air temperature (T max), and minimum air temperature (T min) throughout the duration of the research.



Figure 3. Map of the study area

4.2 Experimental design

The study followed a design of completely randomized block design (CRBD) with four replication and a total of 9 treatments. The experimental design included two main factors, which were: Cyanobacterium (MACC-612, *Nostoc linckia*) biomass and plant growth promoting bacteria (PGPB) (such as *Azospirillum lipoferum* (strain NF5) and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* (strain NCAIM B01666). The three levels of the cyanobacterial biomass (control, 0.3 g/L of MACC-612, and 1.0 g/L of MACC-612) and three levels of bacteria

strains (control, *A. lipoferum (NF5)*, and *P. fluorescens* (NCAIM B01666)) were used for the experiment (Table 4).

Table 4: Treatments combination of the *N. linckia*, MACC-612 and PGPB

Keys assigned to	Treatments
each treatment	
MACC0 + B0	Control
MACC0 + BA	Untreated with <i>N. linckia</i> , MACC-612 + <i>A</i> .
	lipoferum
MACC0 + BP	Untreated with <i>N. linckia</i> , MACC-612 + <i>P</i> .
	fluorescens
MACC1 + B0	0.3 g/L of <i>N. linckia</i> , MACC-612 + Untreated
	with bacteria
MACC1 + BA	0.3 g/L of <i>N. linckia</i> , MACC-612 + <i>A</i> .
	lipoferum
MACC1 + BP	0.3 g/L of <i>N. linckia</i> , MACC-612 + <i>P</i> .
	fluorescens
MACC2 + BA	1.0 g/L of <i>N. linckia</i> , MACC-612 + untreated
MACC2 + BA	1.0 g/L of <i>N. linckia</i> , MACC-612 + <i>A</i> .
	lipoferum
MACC2 + BP	1.0 g/L of <i>N. linckia</i> , MACC-612 + <i>P</i> .
	fluorescens
Cyanobacterium strain (MACC-612, N. linckia) was obtained from Mosonmagyaróvár Algal Culture Collection (MACC), Albert Kázmér Faculty of Agricultural and Food Sciences in Mosonmagyaróvár, Széchenyi István University, Hungary. In order to generate the necessary biomass for the experiments, the culture method was used as previously detailed by (Ördög, 1982). The cyanobacterial strain was introduced into the Tamiya nutrient solution after being taken from agar-agar stock cultures (Kuznjecov and Vladimirova, 1964), as cited in (Takács et al., 2019). After a 7-day incubation period, the cultures were transferred into four flasks, each containing 250 mL of Tamiya nutrient solution with an initial concentration of 10 mg/L of algal dry weight (DW). The cultures were then maintained at a temperature of 25 ± 2 °C, under a 14-hour light and 10-hour dark cycle, with a Photosynthetic Photon Flux Density of 130 µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ provided from below. During the light period, the cultures received aeration with 1.33 L of 1.5% CO₂-enriched sterile humidified air per minute at a rate of 20 L/h. Following a 7-days period, the four culture suspensions were mixed, their density was measured, and then they were used to inoculate 48 flasks to establish an initial concentration of 10 mg/L of algal dry weight (Takács et al., 2019). The cultures were cultivated under the mentioned conditions for six days, after which they were subjected to a 15-minute centrifugation at room temperature with 2150 g employing the Sigma 6 K15. The biomass was then freeze-dried with a Christ Gamma 1-15 machine and kept at -18 °C. The freezedried biomass of MACC-612 (N. linckia) was reconstituted in distilled water at varying concentrations stated above and then subjected to a 3minute sonication process using the VirTis VirSonic 600 Ultrasonic Cell Disruptor just prior to soil application.

A. *lipoferum (NF5)* and *P. fluorescens* (NCAIM B01666) was obtained liquid-based formulation from Biofil Microbiological, Gene technological and Biochemical LLC, Budapest, Hungary. The bacterial strains were cultured in a liquid medium that was enriched with yeast extract (3 g/L), glucose (5 g/L), sucrose (5 g/L) and then subjected to a 48-hour incubation period in a gyrotary water bath shaker (New Brunswick Scientific CO. INC. EDISON, N.J. U.S.A) set at 120 rotations per minute and maintained at a temperature of 37 degrees Celsius. The cell concentration of *A. lipoferum* and *P. fluorescens* were 7.8*10⁸ CFU/mL and $1.02*10^9$ CFU/mL respectively measured by DEN-1, McFarland Densitometer (suspension turbidity detector).

Each bacteria strain was randomly combined with each of the three levels of microalgae strains with four replications giving a total of 36 $(3\times3\times4)$ plots. The plants underwent treatment using either tap water as a control or with the cyanobacterium (MACC-612, *N. linckia*) at concentrations of 0.3 or 1.0 g/L dry weight, with the selection of these concentrations being informed by previous research findings on maize (Takács et al., 2019). The solution of the microalgae (*N. linckia*) and PGPB treatments were introduced to the soil using a 15 L manual knapsack sprayer (pump sprayer garden pressure spray) during the sowing process, at an application rate of 300 L/ha. The planting was carried out using a 163-cc mini tractor. For the experimental cultivation, a type of *Zea mays* L. hybrid, obtained from (Saaten Union-Körner kernels Grains), was utilized. Sowing was conducted using a row spacing of 75 cm, a plant spacing of 20 cm, and a sowing depth of 6 cm. Each plot covered an area of 28.5 m² (3×9.5 m), allowing for 256.5 m² per replication and requiring a total of 1026 m² for four replications. Plots were spaced 0.5 m apart, while blocks were kept 1 m apart.

4.3 Data collection and measurements

4.3.1 Plant physiology measurements

The agronomic and physiology measurements (chlorophyll content, NDVI, plant fresh weight, and plant dry weight) were measured.

4.3.1.1 Chlorophyll content

The chlorophyll content of the second youngest leaves was determined with the SPAD-502 Plus Chlorophyll Meter (Toshiba, Japan) portable device which is widely used to estimate foliar chlorophyll content in a non-destructive way (Vesali et al., 2017). Measuring the chlorophyll content in plant leaves involves assessing their green color and providing precise outcomes. This process requires positioning the sample leaves between sensors designed for the measurement. The assessment of chlorophyll content took place on three occasions at 50, 65 and 80 days after sowing (DAS) on 5 randomly selected maize plants from each plot, and the values were averaged. Sampling was conducted on the central portion of the upper leaf surfaces, specifically at a distance from the primary leaf vein. The average SPAD meter readings obtained at each grid point were utilized for subsequent analysis.

4.3.1.2 Normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI)

The NDVI allows producers to evaluate crop biomass and nutrient content by utilizing indirect reflectance measurements (Farias et al., 2023). Leaf spectral reflectance was assessed on days 50, 65, and 80 after sowing (DAS) with a handheld PolyPen RP 410 device from PSI (Photon Systems Instruments, Drásov, Czech Republic). It measures green vegetation by determining the normalized difference between near-infrared light (reflected by green leaves) and red light (absorbed by vegetation); directly correlates with the photosynthetic capability of the plant. Three readings were obtained from a recently fully developed leaf on the primary stem of each plant, and five plants were evaluated per treatment, and the values were averaged. The NDVI values range from -1 to +1, where positive values signify the crop's vegetative health, and negative values indicate the presence of bare soil or the absence of vegetation.

4.3.1.3 Leaf and root fresh and dry weight

Physiological measurements, specifically the fresh and dry weight of both leaf and root, were taken at two specific time points during the experiment. These measurements were conducted at 50 and 65 days after sowing (DAS). The purpose of this assessment was to track and analyze changes in the plant's weight over this period to gain insights into its growth and physiological development. The measurement of shoot and root involved a destructive measurement method. Four plants were randomly chosen from the middle rows within each plot.

The process commenced with the measurement of fresh root weight, which was taken immediately after gently rinsing the roots with tap water to eliminate any contaminants, including soil residues and dust. Following the removal of excess moisture from the roots using absorbent paper, the fresh weight of the roots was recorded. Subsequently, the dry weight was determined after the shoots and roots were subjected to two days of oven drying at a temperature of 70°C. The heated aluminum foil packets were used to cool at room temperature for 5 minutes. Then the plants were individually measured using a digital balance and, then the mean values were calculated.

4.3.2 Plant nitrogen determination

Following the maize's maturity phase, leaves, stalks, cobs, and seeds were gathered from every plot. Then plant samples, which had been dried in an oven and, then underwent grinding using a grinder prior to their analysis for total nitrogen content. Nitrogen analysis was performed using the Rapid N cube (manufactured by Elementar Analysensysteme GmbH, Langenselbold, Germany), employing the Dumas method, a dry combustion approach. The process involves subjecting the sample to quantitative combustion at around 960°C in an oxygen-rich environment. Tinted palettes were prepared by dispensing 150 mg of powdered sample onto tin foil, which was then folded into palettes. These palettes were subsequently positioned within the combustion chamber for analysis.

4.3.3 Plant yield attributes

The research encompassed a comprehensive assessment of various parameters following the maturation of maize. Four plants were selected from each central plot for detailed measurements, including plant height, the count of grains per ear, thousand grains weight, and grain yield. Subsequently, the total yield in tons per hectare was calculated, considering the harvest data from each specific plot.

4.3.4 Soil parameters analyses

Soil samples were extracted from three consecutive years of drilling within the experimental field. Field sampling procedures adhered to regulatory guidelines, specifically targeting the uppermost 0-20 cm layer of the productive soil stratum. The sampling technique employed was the diagonal method, ensuring a comprehensive and representative collection of soil samples across the designated area. The soil collected underwent a sieving process using a 2 mm mesh sieve, followed by thorough mixing to ensure uniformity. Prior to initiating the experiment, soil samples were gathered for chemical analysis (Table 5). The soil samples underwent comprehensive analysis at the Beta Research Institute Nonprofit Limited Company (Beta Kutató Intézet Nonprofit Kft), where a thorough examination and evaluation were conducted to assess the various components and characteristics of the soil.

4.3.4.1 Soil pH analysis

The pH of the soil's particles smaller than 2 mm was assessed using a solution of 1 M KCl following the procedures outlined in accordance with the MSZ-08-0206-2:1978 2.1. Hungarian standard.

4.3.4.2 Humus analysis

The determination of humus content was meticulously executed by following the procedures outlined in accordance with the MSZ-08-0452:1980 Hungarian standard.

4.3.4.3 Nitrate and nitrite analysis

Flow Injection Analysis (FIA) was utilized to determine the concentrations of nitrate and nitrite nitrogen in the samples as outlined in the procedure specified by (ISO, 1996). Samples were mixed with imidazole buffer and treated with copperized cadmium to convert nitrate to nitrite. The analytical procedure involved a color-developing reagent, namely Griess Reagent, which consisted of sulfanilamide (SA) and N-(1-naphthyl) ethylenediamine dihydrochloride (NED). The nitrite reacted with sulfanilamide, forming a red azo dye with N-(1-Naphthyl)-ethylenediamine (NED), which was detected spectrophotometrically at a specific wavelength (546 nm) using a flow cell or a reaction coil within the FIA system.

4.3.4.4 Soil phosphorus analysis

The amount of available phosphorus (P) content was extracted and quantified employing according the outlined in the MSZ 20135:1999 5.4.2.2 Hungarian standard, with the analysis performed using inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES).

4.3.4.5 Soil potassium analysis

The soil analysis procedures were systematically executed in accordance with the Hungarian specifications outlined in the MSZ 20135:1999 5.3 standard. This involved precise sample preparation, acid digestion, calibration with known standards, and subsequent analysis with the ICP-OES (Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectroscopy) instrument, ensuring reliable and reproducible results for the quantitative assessment of potassium concentration in the samples.

4.3.4.6 Soil total nitrogen analysis

The total nitrogen content analysis was carried out using the Dumas method, following the AACC 46-30.01 procedure (ACC, 2023). The Elementar Rapid N III Analyzer, located in Langenselbold, Hesse, Germany, was employed for the precise determination of nitrogen levels in accordance with the specified methodology.

4.3.5 Soil microbial biomass analysis

The microorganisms were evaluated using the agar-plate method according to (Clark, 1965), which is the predominant cultural approach for assessing soil microbial populations, aiding in their identification and quantification. In direct approaches, microorganisms in the soil are quantified by counting the number of colonies forming units (CFU) through a soil dilution series using most probable number (MPN). The MPN method involves dispersing soil samples in a sequence of dilutions to estimate the density of the population by observing the presence or absence of microbial cells (Alexander, 1965). Therefore, if microbial growth is detected in the 10^{-4} dilution but not in the 10^{-5} dilution, the estimated number of cells falls within the range of 10^4 to 10^5 .

To assess soil bacteria population, we tested various dilution factors; no more than 250 colonies should be on any Petri plate. To inoculate, 1 mL of extract was added to sterilized solid agar, then incubated at room temperature for 24 hours before bacterial assessment.

To cultivate actinomycetes, we utilized Dextrose Nitrate Agar as described by (Williams et al., 1983). Serial dilution was employed to achieve dilution factors ranging from 10^{-4} to 10^{-8} , with 1 mL of each dilution then introduced to the agar medium. These dilutions were then introduced to the agar medium, with 1 mL of each dilution applied. Subsequently, the plates were incubated at 28 °C for a period of 5 to 25 days.

Utilizing a logarithmic scale, like log CFU, facilitates the representation of these counts in a more practical and informative fashion.

$$\log CFU = \log 10(CFU)$$

In this equation, CFU denotes the precise tally of colonies, while log CFU signifies the base 10 logarithm of the colony count. Through this logarithmic transformation, values are condensed, facilitating the comparison and visualization of variations in microbial populations.

4.4 Statistical Analysis

All statistical computations and the creation of visual representations were conducted using R studio (version 4.3.1) (R Core Team, 2013), utilizing the software package known as "agricolae." (version 1.3-6) (Mendiburu, 2023). The outcomes from all the experiments, which exhibited a normal distribution pattern, underwent two-way analysis variance (ANOVA) used to test yield attributes, soil chemical analysis and microbial abundance. The result has displayed the average values of the treatments \pm standard deviation within each treatment. Following this, Tukey's HSD post-hoc analysis was applied at a significance level of P \leq 0.05. To streamline data interpretation and statistical analysis of the microbial biomass, we applied a logarithmic transformation, which resulted in condensed values. This approach simplifies the process of comparing and visualizing fluctuations within microbial populations.

5. RESULT

5.1. Experimental field description

The experimental area's soil is classified as Danube alluvial, belonging to the Fluvisol group as per The World Reference Base (WRB). Fluvisols are fertile soils that form from recent alluvial deposits in river valleys, floodplains, and deltas (Tóth et al., 2008). As depicted in Table 5, the soil pH values across the experimental fields remained relatively consistent over the years, displaying a marginal rise from 2021 to 2023, suggesting a potential progression toward a slightly more alkaline state. While humus content varied across the three locations, notably, a rise in humus content was observed in 2023 compared to preceding years in those locations. Furthermore, a marginal increase in nitrate and nitrite nitrogen levels was observed in the 2022 locations compared to both the 2021 and 2023 locations. The phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) levels peaked in 2022, undergoing a slight decrease in both 2021 and 2023 compared to the levels observed in 2022 (Table 5). The fluctuations in soil properties across different locations indicated variations in soil nutrient content over the three-year period. These changes could be influenced by factors such as agricultural practices, environmental conditions, or natural soil processes.

Soil parameters	2021	2022	2023	
pH (KCl)	7.29±0.01	7.33±0.02	7.44±0.13	
Humus (m/m%)	2.06±0.47	1.91±0.23	2.72±0.62	
(NO3 ⁻ +NO2 ⁻)-N (mg/kg)	9.81±1.12 10.24±0.89		9.51±1.56	
Total Nitrogen (%)	0.26	0.29	0.27	
P_2O_5 (mg/kg)	158±24.6	187±17.55	182±20.11	
K ₂ O (mg/kg)	176±10.89	193±16.7	178±14.52	

Table 5: The soil chemical characteristics collected from theexperimental field prior to sowing.

The mean of triplicates, with a standard deviation as denoted \pm

Figure 3, 4 and 5 displays meteorological data for the three years. An amount of 373.5, 369.5, and 403.9 mm rainfall was recorded during the crop season of 2021, 2022, and 2023 field trail, respectively at the Széchenyi István University farm in Mosonmagyaróvár. In the 2022 and 2023 field trial, there was higher precipitation, particularly during the vegetative growth phase, compared to the 2021 production year. However, the precipitation during the reproductive stage was relatively consistent in 2021 and 2023 compared to 2022. The field's temperature remained conducive during the sowing across all seasons; however, during the reproductive stage in 2021, it exhibited higher temperatures compared to the following year, 2022 and 2023.



Where: T min= *Temperature minimum, T average= Temperature average, T* max= *Temperature maximum*

Figure 4: Daily precipitation and temperature data recorded in the experimental field during the interval across from sowing to harvest in the production years of 2021.



Where: T min= *Temperature minimum, T average= Temperature average, T* max= *Temperature maximum*

Figure 5: Daily precipitation and temperature data recorded in the experimental field during the interval across from sowing to harvest in the production years of 2022.



Where: T min= *Temperature minimum, T average= Temperature average, T* max= *Temperature maximum*

Figure 6: Daily precipitation and temperature data recorded in the experimental field during the interval across from sowing to harvest in the production years of 2023.

5.2 Plant physiological parameters

5.2.1 Chlorophyll content

Chlorophyll plays a crucial role as a photosynthetic pigment in plants, significantly impacting their ability to photosynthesize and consequently influencing their growth. Large variation in chlorophyll

content was observed among different treatments throughout the experimental years. Over a span of three years, statistical significance ($P \le 0.05$) was noted in the chlorophyll content specifically at 65 DAS (as shown in Fig. 6, 7, 8). However, except for the data from 2022, the chlorophyll content didn't show significance difference ($P \le 0.05$) at 50 DAS. Across the entire experimental duration, the peak chlorophyll content was consistently registered at 65 DAS, while the lowest levels were consistently observed at 50 DAS. As shown in figure 6, 7, and 8, the control level exhibited the lowest chlorophyll content, whereas the combined application of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L along with *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence* showed higher chlorophyll content.

In 2021, apart from the data noted at 65 DAS, there were no statistically significant variations observed in chlorophyll content (Fig. 6). Nonetheless, notably elevated chlorophyll levels were documented upon the combined application of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L alongside *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence* whereas the lower chlorophyll content was recorded at control group.



Figure 7: Chlorophyll content of maize (Zea mays L.) leaf assessed at different growth stage from SPAD reading in 2021. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

In 2022, statistical significance in chlorophyll content was evident across all stages of plant growth (Fig. 7). The peak chlorophyll content was observed upon the joint application of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L alongside *A. lipoferum*, while the lowest levels were noted in the control group. However, at 65 DAS, the chlorophyll content showed no statistical difference between the combined applications of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L alongside *A. lipoferum*.



Figure 8: Chlorophyll content of maize (Zea mays L.) leaf assessed at different growth stage from SPAD reading in 2022. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

In 2023, the results revealed no statistically significant difference in chlorophyll content at 65 DAS between the control level and the sole application of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L. However, notably elevated chlorophyll levels were observed upon the application of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L in combination with *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence* (Fig. 8).



Figure 9: Chlorophyll content of maize (Zea mays L.) leaf assessed at different growth stage from SPAD reading in 2023. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

5.2.2 The Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI)

NDVI serves as a tool for gauging vegetation's greenness, aiding in assessing vegetation density and identifying alterations in plant health. These indirect measurements of reflectance have been employed for the estimation of both plant biomass and yield. The NDVI values exhibited significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) across different measurement times. Generally, the highest average measurement was observed consistently on the 65 DAS across different experimental periods (Fig. 9, 10, 11). The differences in NDVI values were significant ($P \le 0.05$) at 65 days after sowing, except in the year 2023.

In 2021, NDVI measurements demonstrated statistical significance $(P \le 0.05)$ except those taken at 50 days after sowing (Fig. 9). At 65 days after sowing (DAS), the most elevated mean value was documented in the combined treatment of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L in conjunction with *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, whereas the lowest value was observed in the control group (Fig 9). However, by 80 days after sowing (DAS), the peak NDVI value was documented in the combined treatment involving *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L with *P. florescence*, as well as *N. linckia* at 1 g/L alongside *A. lipoferum*.



Figure 10: The NDVI value of maize (Zea mays L.) assessed at different days after sowing (DAS) in 2021. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

In 2022, except for 65 days after sowing, the NDVI values displayed statistical insignificance ($P \le 0.05$) (Fig. 10). The highest value was observed when *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L was combined with *A. lipoferum*, whereas the lowest values were noted in both the control group and when *N. linckia* was applied alone at 0.3 g/L.



Figure 11: The NDVI value of maize (*Zea mays* L.) assessed at different days after sowing (DAS) in 2022. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

In 2023, apart from the 50 DAS measurement, the other treatment showed no statistical significance ($P \le 0.05$) (Fig 11). The highest

NDVI value was documented upon the combined application of *N*. *linckia* at both 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L, accompanied by *A*. *lipoferum* and *P*. *florescence*.



Figure 12: The NDVI value of maize (*Zea mays* L.) assessed at different days after sowing (DAS) in 2023. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

5.2.3 Leaf and root fresh and dry weight

The findings indicated that both the application of *N. linckia* and the presence of PGPB significantly ($P \le 0.05$) impacted the growth characteristics of the plants, notably affecting the fresh and dry weights

of both above and below-ground parts when compared to the control group.

In 2021, except dry root weight, the interaction effect of *N. linckia* and PGPB was statistically insignificant ($P \le 0.05$) on the fresh and dry plant biomass at 50 DAS (Table 6). However, the maximum values of both fresh and dry plant biomass were observed in the combined application of the *N. linckia* and PGPB. Conversely, the control group exhibited the lowest values (Table 6 and 7). The main effect of *N. linckia* and PGPB was shown significantly affect the plant fresh and dry biomass at 50 and 65 DAS (Table 6 and 7).

Treatment	2021-50 DAS					
	Fresh leaf (g)	sh leaf (g) Dry leaf Fresh ro		Dry root		
		(g)	(g)	(g)		
MACC0+B0	25.07±1.20 ^d	3.33±0.30 ^b	8.89±0.47 ^e	0.93±0.25 ^b		
MACC0+BA	29.30±1.42 ^{cd}	3.99±0.30 ^{ab}	11.81±0.73 ^{bcd}	1.78±0.28ª		
MACC0+BP	31.44±2.13 ^{abcd}	4.74±0.78 ^a	11.61±1.68 ^{cd}	1.96±0.27 ^a		
MACC1+B0	ACC1+B0 30.73±3.20 ^{bcd} 4.77±0.8		10.79±1.88 ^{de}	1.88±0.27 ^a		
MACC1+BA	36.88±3.22 ^{ab}	22^{ab} 5.04±0.58 ^a 15.12±0.66		2.17±0.21ª		
MACC1+BP	IACC1+BP 37.26 ± 1.75^{ab} 5.22 ± 0		14.62±0.92ª	2.06±0.26ª		
MACC2+B0	36.14±6.43 ^{abc}	4.71±0.87 ^a	11.98±1.06 ^{bcd}	1.95±0.17 ^a		
MACC2+BA	C2+BA 37.23±2.57 ^{ab} 4.77±0.25 ^a		14.24±1.23 ^{ab}	2.11±0.24 ^a		
MACC2+BP	2+BP 38.29±3.76 ^a 5.09±0.45 ^a		13.81±1.12 ^{abc}	2.16±0.18 ^a		
MACC	***	***	*** ***			
В	***	**	***	***		
MACC*B	ns	ns	ns	**		

Table 6: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 50 days after sowing in2021.

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \le 0.05$. Where: ns indicates non-significant, * significant at $P \le 0.05$, ** significant at $P \le 0.01$, *** significant at $P \le 0.001$. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are A. *lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

Treatment	2021-65 DAS				
	Fresh leaf (g)	Dry leaf (g)	Fresh root (g)	Dry root (g)	
MACC0+B0	119.36±3.93°	14.69 ± 1.82^{d}	27.19±2.08 ^b	3.72±0.46 ^d	
MACC0+BA	134.21±4.81 ^{bc}	17.89±1.75 ^{cd}	30.80±1.65 ^b	4.76 ± 1.42^{cd}	
MACC0+BP	135.56±4.37 ^{bc}	18.51±2.65 ^{bcd}	30.86±1.82 ^b	4.38 ± 0.74^{d}	
MACC1+B0	130.26±7.17°	18.22±1.91 ^{bcd}	29.93±1.86 ^b	4.63±0.51 ^{cd}	
MACC1+BA	159.78±14.2 ^a	22.43±2.97 ^{abc}	40.19±2.69 ^a	7.72±0.88ª	
MACC1+BP	161.66±15.2 ^a	23.51±1.41 ^a	38.62±3.49 ^a	7.37±0.48 ^{ab}	
MACC2+B0	151.56±10.4 ^{ab}	21.39±2.06 ^{abc}	36.90±3.57 ^a	6.02±0.54 ^{bc}	
MACC2+BA	160.61±7.36 ^a	22.68±2.61 ^{abc}	38.03±1.78 ^a	7.03±0.47 ^{ab}	
MACC2+BP	165.68±14.6 ^a	23.09±1.73 ^{ab}	37.29±1.96 ^a	6.98±0.84 ^{ab}	
MACC	***	***	***	***	
В	***	***	***	***	
MACC*B	ns	*	**	**	

Table 7: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 65 days after sowing in2021.

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \le 0.05$. Where: ns indicate non-significant, * significant at $P \le 0.05$, ** significant at $P \le 0.01$, *** significant at $P \le 0.001$. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

Table 8 highlights the combined application of *N. linckia* and PGPB was significantly affect the dry leaf and root plant biomass, while the effect on the fresh leaf and root plant biomass was statistically insignificant at 50 DAS in 2022. Except fresh leaf weight, the interaction effect of *N. linckia* and PGPB on the fresh and dry plant weight was recorded statistically insignificant at 65 DAS in 2022 (Table 9). However, the combined utilization of *N. linckia* and PGPB

resulted in the highest recorded values for both fresh and dry plant weight, while the control levels showcased the lowest values, as depicted in Tables 8 and 9.

Table 8: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 50 days after sowing in2022.

Treatment	2022-50 DAS				
	Fresh leaf (g)	Dry leaf (g)	Fresh root (g)	Dry root (g)	
MACC0+B0	33.89±3.13 ^b	6.19±1.37 ^b	13.97±0.79 ^a	1.06±0.25 ^d	
MACC0+BA	42.50±8.21 ^{ab}	9.50±2.49 ^b	16.30±3.33ª	2.17±0.68 ^{cd}	
MACC0+BP	41.37±2.83 ^{ab}	8.97±1.63 ^b	14.81 ± 1.16^{a}	2.28±0.43 ^{cd}	
MACC1+B0	CC1+B0 39.04±3.69 ^{ab} 8.25±2.23 ^b		14.10±1.61ª	1.91±0.42 ^{cd}	
MACC1+BA	56.32±5.41ª	16.81±3.31 ^a	18.99±1.02 ^a	5.17±0.91 ^{ab}	
MACC1+BP	57.90±6.62 ^a	57.90 ± 6.62^{a} 17.48±1.73 ^a 17.12±1.38		4.88±0.84 ^{ab}	
MACC2+B0	54.55±9.75 ^a 15.82±1.78 ^a		16.00±6.55 ^a	3.41 ± 1.70^{bc}	
MACC2+BA	-BA 58.39±5.33 ^a 17.76±2.75 ^a 19.20±5.12 ^a		19.20±5.12 ^a	5.80±0.59 ^a	
MACC2+BP	57.78±2.59 ^a	18.68±1.15 ^a	18.61±0.91ª	4.84±0.51 ^{ab}	
MACC	***	***	ns	***	
В	*	***	*	***	
MACC*B	CC*B ns *		ns	*	

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \le 0.05$. Where: ns indicate non-significant, * significant at $P \le 0.05$, ** significant at $P \le 0.01$, *** significant at $P \le 0.001$. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are A. *lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

Treatment	2022-65 DAS					
	Fresh leaf (g)	Dry leaf (g)	Fresh root (g)	Dry root (g)		
MACC0+B0	136.14±3.17°	18.78±2.43 ^d	35.07±3.71°	5.21±1.13°		
MACC0+BA	143.47±4.71 ^{bc}	22.17±3.09 ^{abcd}	42.17±1.82 ^{abc}	6.29±0.78 ^{bc}		
MACC0+BP	142.57±5.09°	21.61±3.17 ^{bcd}	41.12±2.65 ^{abc}	6.04±1.02 ^{bc}		
MACC1+B0	B0 140.60 \pm 4.11 ^c 19.98 \pm 2.19 ^{cd} 38.34 \pm 2.4		38.34±2.42 ^{bc}	6.02±1.19 ^{bc}		
MACC1+BA	169.33±3.58ª	27.92±1.81ª	49.20±5.58ª	9.27±4.47 ^a		
MACC1+BP	MACC1+BP 167.51±3.78 ^a		47.07±3.13 ^{ab}	9.06±2.07 ^a		
MACC2+B0	157.73±7.22 ^{ab}	3 ± 7.22^{ab} 24.56±1.25 ^{abcd} 44		6.90±1.20 ^{ab}		
MACC2+BA	A 164.67 ± 7.04^{a} 26.45 ± 2.72^{ab} $47.55 \pm 1.$		47.55±1.79 ^{ab}	9.55±1.32 ^a		
MACC2+BP	165.30±9.04 ^a	25.30±2.69 ^{abc}	45.70±4.23 ^{ab}	8.10±0.93 ^a		
MACC ***		*** **		**		
В	***	**	***	*		
MACC*B	MACC*B **		C*B ** ns		ns	ns

Table 9: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 65 days after sowing in2022.

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \le 0.05$. Where: ns indicate non-significant, * significant at $P \le 0.05$, ** significant at $P \le 0.01$, *** significant at $P \le 0.001$. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

In 2023, except from fresh root weight at 50 and 56 DAS and dry root at 65 DAS, the interaction impact between *N. linckia* and PGPB showed statistical significance across other plant biomass measurements at 50 and 65 days after sowing, as outlined in Tables 10 and 11. Notably, the combined application of *N. linckia* and PGPB had

a highly significant impact ($P \le 0.001$) on the dry leaf weight at both 50 and 65 days after sowing. Moreover, the combined application of *N*. *linckia* at 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L alongside *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, as well as the alone application of *N. linckia* at 1 g/L, exhibited statistically at par on the fresh and dry leaf weights at both 50 and 65 days after sowing (DAS) (Table 10 and 11). The dry root weight observed from the sole application of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L, as well as the alone application of *P. florescence* was statistically at par to that of the control group at 50 and 65 DAS.

Treatment	2023-50 DAS						
	Fresh leaf (g)	Dry leaf (g)	Fresh root (g)	Dry root (g)			
MACC0+B0	31.41±3.03 ^b	5.25±2.13°	14.15±1.39 ^d	1.52±0.25°			
MACC0+BA	41.59±3.33 ^b	9.18 ± 1.45^{b}	16.99±2.65 ^{bc}	3.03±1.11 ^{bc}			
MACC0+BP	40.76±3.63 ^b	8.96 ± 1.98^{b}	15.51±1.79 ^{cd}	2.78±0.59°			
MACC1+B0	38.61±2.54 ^b	8.29 ± 2.07^{b}	16.14±0.16 ^{cd}	2.47±1.03°			
MACC1+BA	57.93±3.42 ^a	17.41 ± 2.32^{a}	20.45±2.18 ^a	5.88 ± 1.59^{a}			
MACC1+BP	56.86±8.09 ^a	16.98±1.41 ^a	19.43±3.02 ^{ab}	5.77±0.93 ^a			
MACC2+B0	53.94 ± 6.48^{a}	15.61 ± 2.52^{a}	19.19 ± 1.14^{ab}	4.79 ± 1.39^{ab}			
MACC2+BA	57.36 ± 5.68^{a}	16.22 ± 1.33^{a}	20.99±1.22ª	6.37 ± 1.16^{a}			
MACC2+BP	56.22±2.76 ^a	16.59 ± 1.78^{a}	19.63±1.82 ^a	6.02 ± 1.76^{a}			
MACC	***	***	***	***			
В	***	***	**	***			
MACC*B	*	***	ns	*			

Table 10: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 50 days after sowing in 2023.

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \le 0.05$. Where: ns indicate non-significant, * significant at $P \le 0.05$, ** significant at $P \le 0.01$, *** significant at $P \le 0.001$. MACC0 and B0, control;

MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

Table 11: Fresh and dry leaf and root weights at 65 days after sowing in 2023.

Treatment	2023- 65 DAS				
	Fresh leaf (g)	Dry leaf (g)	Fresh root (g)	Dry root (g)	
MACC0+B0	134.38±4.20°	17.72±2.13°	36.42 ± 3.96^{d}	5.82±2.22 ^c	
MACC0+BA	145.16±4.91 ^b	21.85±1.45 ^b	41.71±3.09 ^{bcd}	7.24 ± 0.45^{bc}	
MACC0+BP	145.50±5.06 ^b	22.04±1.98 ^b	42.21±3.63 ^{bcd}	6.88±0.74 ^c	
MACC1+B0	$CC1+B0 144.75\pm3.45^{b} 20.40\pm2.07^{b} 40.92\pm4.97$		40.92±4.97 ^{cd}	6.20±0.96°	
MACC1+BA	171.18±2.93 ^a	29.46±2.32 ^a	51.41±3.76 ^a	11.89±3.99 ^a	
MACC1+BP	167.57±4.75 ^a	29.03±1.41ª	49.19±2.03 ^{ab}	11.66±3.17 ^a	
MACC2+B0	161.57±5.24 ^a 25.34±2.52 ^a 45.93±3.81 ^{abc}		45.93±3.81 ^{abc}	9.53±2.39 ^{abc}	
MACC2+BA	170.06±4.35 ^a	06±4.35 ^a 29.06±1.33 ^a 51.70±3.76		11.82±2.63 ^a	
MACC2+BP	169.10±2.35 ^a	29.32±1.78 ^a	49.30±2.13 ^{ab}	11.56±3.28 ^{ab}	
MACC	*** ***		***	***	
В	***	***	***	***	
MACC*B	** ***		ns	ns	

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \le 0.05$. Where: ns indicate non-significant, * significant at $P \le 0.05$, ** significant at $P \le 0.01$, *** significant at $P \le 0.001$. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are A. *lipoferum* and P. *florescence*, respectively.



Figure 13: The picture of the impacts of different treatment of *N. linckia* and PGPB on the growth of maize seedlings on the 40th days.

Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the *N. linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

5.3 Nitrogen content of plant biomass

Table 12 indicated that the combined impact of *N. linckia* and PGPB did not yield statistically significant ($P \le 0.05$) changes in plant biomass nitrogen content across all observed years. Furthermore, the main and combined effects of *N. linckia* and PGPB demonstrated statistical insignificance on seed and leaf nitrogen content in 2021 and 2022, respectively (Table 12). In 2023, the nitrogen content in both leaf and seed, following the alone use of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L, as well as the sole application of *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, demonstrated statistical similarity to that control group.

Treatment	2021		2022		2023	
	Leaf N (%)	Seed N (%)	Leaf N (%)	Seed N (%)	Leaf N (%)	Seed N (%)
MACC0+B0	1.11±0.11°	1.05±0.04	1.18±0.08	1.22±0.13 ^b	1.13±0.09°	1.07±0.14b
MACC0+BA	1.31±0.15 ^{abc}	1.29±0.44	1.32±0.20	1.43±0.06 ^{ab}	1.20±0.08°	1.16±0.02 ^{ab}
MACC0+BP	1.32±0.13 ^{abc}	1.16±0.06	1.24±0.03	1.39±0.07 ^{ab}	1.19±0.07°	1.15±0.05 ^{ab}
MACC1+B0	1.19±0.06 ^{bc}	1.11±0.11	1.21±0.13	1.35±0.12 ^{ab}	1.18±0.05°	1.13±0.02 ^{ab}
MACC1+BA	1.44±0.16 ^a	1.33±0.05	1.43±0.20	1.44±0.04 ^a	1.42±0.16 ^{ab}	1.37±0.32ª
MACC1+BP	1.33±0.07 ^{ab}	1.42±0.47	1.46±0.33	1.43±0.11 ^{ab}	1.31±0.16 ^{abc}	1.31±0.06 ^a
MACC2+B0	1.32±0.07 ^{abc}	1.31±0.51	1.31±0.18	1.40±0.09 ^{ab}	1.28±0.11 ^{bc}	1.19±0.04 ^{ab}
MACC2+BA	1.42±0.10 ^a	1.37±0.33	1.43±0.18	1.44±0.11ª	1.40±0.15 ^{ab}	1.39±0.17ª
MACC2+BP	1.40±0.03 ^{ab}	1.34±0.26	1.40±0.20	1.43±0.08 ^{ab}	1.49±0.11ª	1.39±0.22ª
MACC	**	ns	ns	ns	***	**
В	***	ns	ns	*	***	**
MACC*B	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns

Table 12: Nitrogen content of plant biomass

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \le 0.05$. Where: ns indicate non-significant, * significant at $P \le 0.05$, ** significant at $P \le 0.01$, *** significant at $P \le 0.001$. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

5.4 Plant yield parameters

Table 13 provides data on how the plant growth parameters of maize were affected by different concentrations of *N. linckia* and PGPB strains. The yield and its component traits were influenced by *N. linckia*, PGPB, and their interaction. The statistical analysis showed a significant ($P \le 0.05$) increase in the number of seeds per ear, thousandgrain weight, and yield when *N. linckia* and PGPB were applied alone or jointly across the experimental years. However, the main and interaction impact of *N. linckia* and PGPB on the plant height was statistically insignificant across the experimental period, except main effect of the PGPB in 2023 (Table 13).

The highest number of seeds per ear was documented when using *N*. *linckia* at a concentration of 0.3 g/L in combination with *A*. *lipoferum* in all the experimental periods, whereas the lowest number of seeds per ear was observed in the untreated trials. However, the combined application of *N*. *linckia* at concentrations of 0.3 g/L with *A*. *lipoferum* and *P*. *fluorescens*, as well as *N*. *linckia* at 1 g/L with *P*. *fluorescens*, demonstrated statistically similar results in terms of the number of seeds per ears in 2021. The statistical significance of the interaction between *N*. *linckia* and PGPB varied across years, displaying significance at $p \le 0.5$ in 2021 and 2023, while reaching a higher significance level of $p \le 0.001$ in 2022 (Table 13).

Treatment	Plant height (cm)				Number of seeds/ea	ars
	2021	2022	2023	2021	2022	2023
MACC0+B0	213.15±5.96	171.75±8.22	206.38±7.52	385.10±35.05 ^b	400.34±14.91 ^d	421.00±38.17 ^d
MACC0+BA	214.40±6.56	178.98±5.08	215.33±10.86	473.47±54.57 ^a	476.50±15.73 ^{bc}	503.88±35.74 ^{abcd}
MACC0+BP	216.84±4.17	180.03±8.15	211.47±7.03	472.68±23.62 ^a	441.33±49.72 ^{cd}	491.63±40.95 ^{bcd}
MACC1+B0	217.00±5.50	182.03±9.03	210.67±11.67	472.68±25.27 ^a	435.80±20.30 ^{cd}	487.38±30.81 ^{bcd}
MACC1+BA	217.95±3.55	184.69±9.79	223.12±2.45	517.05±19.33 ^a	548.60±6.00ª	589.00±48.34ª
MACC1+BP	218.03±5.63	181.75±2.74	215.98±7.29	514.88±20.90 ^a	510.20±11.25 ^{ab}	548.90±33.61 ^{abc}
MACC2+B0	214.40±5.84	182.81±9.67	213.25±6.17	482.53±46.09 ^a	504.67±24.65 ^{ab}	463.63±46.11 ^{cd}
MACC2+BA	215.70±8.99	183.63±5.58	219.42±4.33	461.90±28.02 ^{ab}	508.50±6.31 ^{ab}	577.25±26.59 ^{ab}
MACC2+BP	218.10±7.24	180.31±9.10	217.97±7.34	475.08±19.46 ^a	472.50±14.92 ^{bc}	551.88±42.65 ^{abc}
MACC	ns	ns	ns	**	***	***
В	ns	ns	*	*	***	***
MACC*B	ns	ns	ns	*	***	*

Table 13: Impact of single and combined application microalgae and PGPB on maize yield components

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \le 0.05$. Where: ns indicate non-significant, * significant at $P \le 0.05$, ** significant at $P \le 0.01$, *** significant at $P \le 0.001$. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

Table 14 highlighted that the interaction between *N. linckia* and PGPB showed statistical insignificance on the thousand seed weight, except for 2022, where significance was observed at P < 0.001. In 2021 and 2023, the highest thousand seed weight was achieved through the combined use of N. linckia at 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L with A. lipoferum and P. fluorescens. In 2022, the highest thousand seed weight was observed with N. linckia at a concentration of 0.3 g/L combined with A. lipoferum, while the lowest weight was seen in the control. The application of N. linckia at 0.3 g/L alongside A. lipoferum notably increased the thousand grain weight, showing impressive enhancements of 99.02%, 83.33%, and 90.9% in 2021, 2022, and 2023, respectively, compared to untreated plots.

The influence of *N. linckia* and PGPB on maize grain yield was statistically significant ($P \le 0.05$) in all years except 2022, indicating their substantial impact on the crop's productivity. The utilization of *N. linckia* at a concentration of 0.3 g/L in combination with *A. lipoferum* resulted in a significant upsurge in grain yield, demonstrating a remarkable 33.20% enhancement, with a significance of $P \le 0.05$, in the initial year and a substantial 31.53 and 32.34% increase in 2022 and 2023, respectively when compared with untreated plots (Table 14). In general, the grain yield demonstrated a high performance in the third year as opposed to the other years.

Treatment	Tho	housand seed weight (kg) Yield (ton/ha)				
	2021	2022	2023	2021	2022	2023
MACC0+B0	0.26±0.02 ^b	0.35±0.01 ^h	0.30±0.03 ^b	5.20±0.29 ^d	5.93±1.21 ^b	6.22±0.47°
MACC0+BA	0.43±0.08 ^{ab}	0.57±0.01 ^f	0.59±0.16 ^{ab}	5.97±0.42 ^{bcd}	7.16±0.73 ^{ab}	6.81±1.22 ^{abc}
MACC0+BP	0.41±0.05 ^{ab}	0.52±0.004g	0.56±0.33 ^{ab}	5.78±0.54 ^{cd}	6.85±1.07 ^{ab}	6.65±1.16 ^{bc}
MACC1+B0	0.38±0.03 ^{ab}	0.61±0.01e	0.52±0.19 ^{ab}	6.03±0.41 ^{bcd}	7.13±0.55 ^{ab}	6.37±1.38°
MACC1+BA	0.77±0.41ª	0.85±0.02ª	0.80±0.16ª	7.27±0.45ª	8.15±0.41ª	8.62±1.23ª
MACC1+BP	0.72±0.23ª	0.72±0.02 ^b	0.71±0.22ª	7.09±0.69 ^{ab}	7.71±0.70ª	7.99±1.17 ^{abc}
MACC2+B0	0.47±0.09 ^{ab}	0.68±0.01°	0.67±0.25 ^{ab}	6.02±0.43 ^{bcd}	7.33±0.32 ^{ab}	7.04±1.22 ^{abc}
MACC2+BA	0.67±0.15ª	0.73±0.01 ^b	0.81±0.06ª	7.07±0.67 ^{ab}	7.96±0.22ª	8.31±1.57 ^{ab}
MACC2+BP	0.64±0.06 ^{ab}	0.64±0.01 ^d	0.73±0.37ª	6.75±0.41 ^{abc}	7.03±0.25 ^{ab}	7.89±1.50 ^{abc}
MACC	**	***	**	***	**	**
В	**	***	**	***	**	***
MACC*B	ns	***	ns	*	ns	*

Table 14: Impact of single and combined application microalgae and PGPB on maize yield components

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \le 0.05$. Where: ns indicate non-significant, * significant at $P \le 0.05$, ** significant at $P \le 0.01$, *** significant at $P \le 0.001$. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

5.4 Soil chemical properties

Following the maize plant harvest from each treatment, the soil was gathered and subjected to analysis to assess the post-treatment impacts on soil properties, including pH, organic matter content, $(NO_3^{-} + NO_2^{-})$)-nitrogen, total nitrogen, phosphorus (P₂O₅), and potassium (K₂O) levels. Overall, whether applied individually or in combination, different concentrations of N. linckia and PGPB strains noticeably elevated soil pH, humus, (NO3⁺ + NO2⁻)-nitrogen and total nitrogen, whereas phosphorus and potassium were statistically insignificant during the experimental periods, as illustrated in Figure 13, 14, 15, 16, and 17. In 2021, statistical analysis revealed that, except for soil humus and total nitrogen content, all other examined soil parameters demonstrated no significant differences at the level of $P \leq 0.05$. In contrast to the findings in the initial year, the results of the soil analysis in 2022 showed a statistically significant effect between N. linckia and PGPB with respect to pH, humus, and (NO3⁻⁺ NO2⁻)-N and total nitrogen content, indicating that the combined application of N. linckia and PGPB increases soil fertility. Conversely, in 2023, excluding (NO3-+ NO2-)-nitrogen and total nitrogen content, the remaining measured soil parameters were statistically insignificant.

Figure 13 highlighted that except for the year 2022, the statistical significance of pH values in the remaining seasons was not observed. In 2022, the highest pH value (7.42) was observed in the control group, signifying slightly alkaline soil conditions. In contrast, lower pH values
were recorded in the treatments involving *N. linckia* at a concentration of 0.3 g/L in combination with *A. lipoferum* (7.24) and *P. fluorescens* (7.23), as well as *N. linckia at* a concentration of 1 g/L with *A. lipoferum* (7.26), indicating that the combined application of *N. linckia and* PGPB slightly lowers the alkalinity level (Fig. 13).



Figure 14: Effect of different application of N. linckia and PGPB on soil pH. Mean values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Error bars indicate standard deviation. The bars with different lowercase letters are significantly different at p \leq 0.05 by Tukey's test. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

Figure 14 reveals that, except for 2023, the humus content exhibited statistically significant variations across all other seasons. In 2021, the highest humus content was obtained through the combined application of *N. linckia* at a concentration of 0.3 g/L along with *A. lipoferum*, which resulted in 25.49% increases in humus content compared to untreated group. Conversely, lower soil humus content was observed

in a sole application of *P. fluorescens* and *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L, and the combined application of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L with *P. fluorescens* (Fig 14).

Furthermore, in 2022, the combined use of *N. linckia* at a concentration of 0.3 g/L in combination with *A. lipoferum* resulted in 20.25% increase in humus content compared with the control trails (Fig. 14). Similarly, in 2023, the application of *N. linckia* at a concentration of 0.3 g/L along with treatments of A. *lipoferum* resulted in humus levels that were 15.71% higher compared with the untreated trails (Fig. 14).



Figure 15: Effect of different application of *N. linckia* and PGPB on soil humus. Mean values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Error bars indicate standard deviation. The bars with different lowercase letters are significantly different at p \leq 0.05 by Tukey's test. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the *N. linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

Figure 15 reveals that, excluding the year 2021, the treatment of soil during sowing with *N. linckia* and PGPB showed statistical significance in terms of soil ($NO_3^{-}+ NO_2^{-}$)- nitrogen content. During 2022, the analysis of bulk soil showed a noteworthy rise in ($NO_3^{-}+ NO_2^{-}$)-N content within the treatments subjected to *N. linckia* at a concentration of 0.3 g/L with *A. lipoferum* treatment (a notable increase of 59.2%), *N. linckia* at a concentration of 1 g/L along with treatments of *A. lipoferum* treatment (an increase of 43.2%), and *N. linckia* at a concentration of 1 g/L along with *P. fluorescens* treatment (an increases of 21.82%), in comparison to the control group (Fig. 15).

In 2023, the highest soil (NO₃⁻⁺ NO₂⁻)-N content was observed with the combined application of *N. linckia* at a concentration of 1 g/L along with *A. lipoferum*, while the lowest content was noted at control levels (Fig. 15). The data indicates a notable 51.54% increase in (NO₃⁻⁺ NO₂⁻)-N content with the combined application of *N. linckia* at a concentration of 1 g/L along with *A. lipoferum* compared to the control group, as depicted in figure 15.



Figure 16: Effect of different application of *N. linckia* and PGPB on soil nitrate-nitrite-nitrogen. Mean values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Error bars indicate standard deviation. Error bars indicate standard deviation. The bars with different lowercase letters are significantly different at p \leq 0.05 by Tukey's test. MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the *N. linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

Figure 16 highlighted that the application of *N. linckia* and PGPB, either alone or in combination exhibited statistical significance on the total nitrogen content. However, the interaction effect of *N. linckia* and PGPB on total nitrogen revealed statistical insignificant in 2023.

In 2021, the highest nitrogen content occurred at the combined application of *N. linckia* at the concentration of 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L along with *A. lipoferum*, which resulted 40% increases in nitrogen content

compared to untreated trails. Conversely, the lowest content was recoded at control levels.

In 2022 and 2023, the highest total nitrogen content was recorded at combined applications of *N. linckia* at the concentration of 0.3 g/L along with *A. lipoferum*, while conversely, the lowest was noted at control levels (Fig. 16). The combined application of *N. linckia* at the concentration of 0.3 g/L with *A. lipoferum* resulted in a 20.69% and 27.59% increase in total nitrogen content in 2022 and 2023, respectively, compared to untreated plots (Fig. 16).



Figure 17: Effect of different application of *N. linckia* and PGPB on soil total nitrogen. Mean values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Error bars indicate standard deviation. The bars with different lowercase letters are significantly different at p \leq 0.05 by Tukey's test. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the *N. linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

Throughout the experimental period, the data revealed no statistically significant differences in the soil phosphorus and potassium content (Fig 17and 18).



Figure 18: Effect of different application of *N. linckia* and PGPB on soil phosphorus. Mean values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Error bars indicate standard deviation. The bars with different lowercase letters are significantly different at p \leq 0.05 by Tukey's test. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the *N. linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.



Figure 19: Effect of different application of *N. linckia* and PGPB on soil potassium. Mean values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Error bars indicate standard deviation. The bars with different lowercase letters are significantly different at p \leq 0.05 by Tukey's test. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the *N. linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

5.5 Microbial activity of the soil

Table 15 show that, the activity of the bacteria and actinomycete population exhibited statistically significant differences in 2021 and 2022. However, the statistical insignificance of the interaction effect between *N. linckia* and PGPB was observed, except for the bacterial population in 2021. Throughout the course of this study, the lowest

levels of bacterial and actinomycete populations were consistently observed in the control groups (Table 15).

The findings revealed that the bacterial biomass reached its peak in the 2021 production season when *N. linckia* was applied at a concentration rate of 1 g/L in combination with *A. lipoferum* and *P. fluorescens*. Similarly, during the 2022 season, the highest bacterial biomass was observed with the combined application of *N. linckia* at a concentration rate of 0.3 g/L with *A. lipoferum*.

Moreover, an elevated count of actinomycetes was noted during the 2021 season, particularly in the treatment involving *N. linckia* at a concentration rate of 1 g/L combined with *P. fluorescens*, as well as in the sole application of *N. linckia* at the concentration of 1 g/L. Additionally, in the 2022 season, the highest actinomycete count was observed in the treatment where *N. linckia* at a concentration rate of 1 g/L was combined with *A. lipoferum* and *P. fluorescens*.

Treatment	Bacteria		Actinomycete	
	2021	2022	2021	2022
MACC0+B0	6.06±0.42 ^d	6.15±0.29 ^d	5.27±0.29 ^b	5.68±0.30 ^{bc}
MACC0+BA	6.64±0.22 ^{cd}	7.51±0.28 ^{bc}	5.51±0.28 ^{ab}	6.18±0.43 ^{abc}
MACC0+BP	6.54±0.38 ^{cd}	7.16±0.77 ^{bcd}	5.46±0.45 ^{ab}	5.97±0.62 ^{abc}
MACC1+B0	6.22 ±0.21 ^d	6.73±0.76 ^{cd}	5.63±0.07 ^{ab}	6.26±0.42 ^{ab}
MACC1+BA	7.05±0.05 ^{bc}	8.93±0.32ª	5.71±0.04 ^{ab}	6.52±0.03 ^{ab}
MACC1+BP	7.55±0.35 ^{ab}	7.74±0.78 ^{abc}	5.73±0.04 ^{ab}	6.51±0.05 ^{ab}
MACC2+B0	7.30±0.05 ^{ab}	7.27±0.34 ^{bcd}	5.93±0.15 ^a	6.21±0.75 ^{ab}
MACC2+BA	7.84±0.13 ^a	8.21±0.25 ^{ab}	5.76±0.13 ^{ab}	6.56±0.06ª
MACC2+BP	7.77±0.04 ^a	8.21±0.64 ^{ab}	5.84±0.03 ^a	6.57±0.03ª
MACC	***	***	***	**
В	***	***	ns	ns
MACC*B	*	ns	ns	ns

Table 15: Effect of the *N. linckia* and PGPB on activity of soil bacteria and actinomycete

Values represent means \pm standard deviation (n=4), and different superscript letters denote significant differences based on pairwise comparisons conducted by Tukey's test at $P \leq 0.05$ Where: ns indicate non-significant, * significant at $P \leq 0.05$, ** significant at $P \leq 0.01$, *** significant at $P \leq 0.001$. Where: MACC0 and B0, control; MACC1 and MACC2, which are 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L of the N. *linckia*, respectively. BA and BP, which are *A. lipoferum* and *P. florescence*, respectively.

6. DISCUSSION

Maize (*Zea mays* L.) holds a prominent position as one of the most frequently cultivated field crops on a global scale, being grown extensively across various regions of the world (FAO, 2022). It is a globally cultivated essential crop used for food, animal feed, and as a raw material for diverse industries. Maize requires a significant amount of nitrogen fertilizer, making it important to explore alternative fertilizer sources that offer benefits in agronomy, environmental sustainability, and economics (Alves et al., 2023; Hungria et al., 2022).

The utilization of beneficial microorganisms in plants contributes to the improvement of soil health and increased crop yields in diverse agricultural systems. The study was conducted to investigate how the combined impact of cyanobacteria (*N. linckia*) and PGPR influences the growth of maize plants and soil fertility under different concentrations of cyanobacteria and bacterial strains. The impact of *N. linckia* and PGPR, both separately and in combination, yielded diverse outcomes when subjected to analysis. The utilization of both cyanobacteria and PGPB in soil treatment resulted in a significant enhancement in the chlorophyll, vegetation index, yield components, soil microbial population and soil fertility. However, the effectiveness of biofertilizer treatment on both plant growth and soil fertility is dependent on the concentration rate of *N. linckia* and the PGPB strains used.

6.1 Plant physiological parameters

Chlorophyll serves as the primary light-absorbing pigment for plant photosynthesis, and while evolution favors high chlorophyll content in leaves (Cho et al., 2024). The amount of chlorophyll in leaves is crucial for signaling both plant stress and its nutrient status (Liang et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2022). We found that the joint usage of N. linckia and the PGPB strains had a beneficial impact on the chlorophyll and green health vegetation of maize crops. Our investigation revealed that the peak chlorophyll content throughout the experiment period, was achieved through the joint use of N. linckia at a concentration of 0.3 g/L in conjunction with A. *lipoferum*, while the minimum chlorophyll content was noted in the control group. Similarly, (Prasanna et al., 2012) has observed that cyanobacteria inoculants demonstrated a substantial superiority over the uninoculated control, manifesting a noteworthy improvement in Soil Plant Analysis Development (SPAD) values, specifically achieving an enhancement ranging from 10 to 15% in maize crop. Moreover, the biostimulatory impact of cyanobacteria on chlorophyll content, exhibited a notably higher significance in the treated maize and wheat during the reproductive stages (Ördög et al., 2021; Takács et al., 2019).

We observed decline in chlorophyll concentration after 65 days from planting was noted, potentially attributable to the plant entering its flowering stages. Study also revealed that chlorophyll concentration showed elevated levels in the early phases of growth, spanning the vegetative and early reproductive stages, but a noticeable decline was observed as the plants advanced into the flowering and subsequent maturity stages (Ciganda et al., 2008; Mushongi et al., 2013).

In the year 2021, at 50 days after sowing (DAS), the chlorophyll content exhibited a diminished level relative to the preceding consecutive years (Fig. 6). This disparity can be attributed to reduced precipitation during the seedling and vegetative stages of maize development (Fig. 3). Similarly, extended and severe water stress experienced by maize plants during the seedling stage can lead to structural damage in the photosynthetic membrane, consequently causing a reduction in chlorophyll content and inevitable yield losses (Song et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2018).

Leaf spectral values, influenced by plant biomass, developmental stage, and responses to environmental and various stress factors, serve as robust indicators, offering valuable insights into the plant's present condition. Our findings suggest that the joint application of *N. linckia* and PGPB had a significant impact on the NDVI values throughout the entire experimental duration. At 50 days after sowing (DAS) in 2021, the NDVI value exhibited a decrement compared to the subsequent consecutive year, attributable to the imposition of stress on the plants during the vegetative phase. The highest NDVI value was recorded at combined application of *N. linckia* at the concentration of 0.3 g/L and 1 g/L along A. *lipoferum*.

Our observations revealed that the joint application of *N. linckia* and PGPB resulted in elevated chlorophyll content, plant biomass, and

NDVI values. Conversely, lower values were recorded at the control levels. This underscores a direct correlation between chlorophyll levels, NDVI, and maize biomass. The studies also revealed a compelling relationship between NDVI values and the accumulation of biomass in both maize and wheat crops (Verhulst et al., 2011). The NDVI allows producers to assess crop biomass and yield by extensively using indirect reflectance measurements for estimation purposes (El-Hendawy et al., 2022). Reflectance indices are connected to the biomass of vegetation, specific physiological processes, and the biochemical compositions present in plants. These indices serve as valuable tools for monitoring plants over both short-term and long-term periods (Kior et al., 2021). Hence, our research showcases how the combined application of *N. linckia* and PGPB effectively enhances both the vegetative growth and development of maize, ultimately boosting its productivity and final yield.

6.2 Fresh and dry weight of plant biomass

The main application of *N. linckia* and PGPB, whether employed individually or in combination, results in a notable augmentation in both the fresh and dry weight of leaf and root biomass. The combined inoculation of *N. linckia* and PGPB exhibited a significant enhancement in fresh leaf weight, ranging between 38.49-59.37% and 21.73-32.5% at 50 and 65 DAS, respectively compared to control levels. Furthermore, the combined use of *N. linckia* and PGPB results in an improvement of dry leaf weight by 35.56% to 107.32% at 50 DAS

and 29.58% to 49.77% at 65 DAS, in comparison to the control group. In prior studies conducted by (Adesemoye et al., 2009; Mäder et al., 2011), it was observed that the inoculation of cereal plants with Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria (PGPR) yielded consistently favorable outcomes, eliciting significant enhancements in root length (54%), root weight (74%), root area (75%), and shoot weight (23%).

The study similarly demonstrates that the concurrent utilization of cyanobacteria and plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria elicited a substantial increase in dry shoot mass, registering a notable augmentation ranging from 76% to 80% (Kholssi et al., 2021). However, our study shows that the combined influence of N. linckia and PGBP on both fresh and dry leaf weight was found to be statistically insignificant at 50 DAS in the year 2021. Overall, the lowest fresh and dry leaf weight was observed in 2021, while the highest was recorded in 2023. The diminution in both fresh and dry leaf weight observed in 2021 can be attributed to the inadequate precipitation levels during the vegetative stage of maize growth. According to (Wang and Frei, 2011; Yang et al., 2023), inadequate soil moisture availability compromises the metabolic processes of maize, diminishes its biomass growth, and attenuates its photosynthetic efficiency by diminishing chlorophyll concentrations in foliage. Consequently, this culminates in a reduction in maize yield.

According to (Li et al., 2019), the synergy between cyanobacteria and PGPB emerges as a promising alternative for augmenting crop growth and yield in major crops like maize, owing to their inherent capacity to

stimulate the expansion of root systems. Likewise, our result revealed that the combined application of N. linckia and PGPB resulted in a significant increase in fresh root weight, with enhancements of 20.27-51.89% observed at 50 DAS and 26.31-38.59% at 65 DAS compared to the control group. Moreover, the combined application of N. linckia and PGPB led to a notable rise in dry root weight, exhibiting increases of 75.59-130.19% at 50 DAS and 56.08-69.93% at 65 DAS compared to the control group. The pervious study confirmed that microbes within the rhizosphere play a crucial role in nutrient cycling, promoting improved nutrient mobilization and facilitating uptake, ultimately resulting in heightened root growth, biomass, and plant yield (Manjunath et al., 2016). In this study, the highest value of dry root weight was recorded at combined application of N. linckia at a concentration of 1 g/L along with A. lipoferum. Plants coexist in proximity with countless microorganisms intimate in their surroundings, on their surfaces, and within their structures. As stated by (Harman et al., 2021), when specific symbiotic strains of bacteria and fungi colonize plant roots, these plants exhibit enhanced performance compared to those whose roots are only inhabited by wild microbial populations. The present study could confirm this symbiosis. Hence, the most effective approach was the joint use of N. linckia and PGPB, followed by the alone application of *N. linckia* or PGPB, which also showed notable improvements compared with the control group.

6.3 Nitrogen content of plant biomass

The statistical insignificance of the interaction effects between *N*. *linckia* and PGPB on the nitrogen content of plant biomass persisted consistently across the entire duration of the study. Except for the year 2022, the main effects of *N*. *linckia* and PGPB on leaf nitrogen content were statistically significant (p<0.05). In contrast to (Rana et al., 2015), the introduction of plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) and cyanobacteria through inoculation emerges as a potent strategy, yielding substantial enhancements in the nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium content in wheat-rice cropping system. Numerous studies consistently demonstrate that the application of Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria (PGPB) has led to a discernible augmentation in the nutrient profile of plants, encompassing elevated levels of nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and iron (Abadi et al., 2020; Ambrosini and Passaglia, 2017; Reed and Glick, 2023).

6.4 Yield of attributes of maize

The data clearly showed that using *N. linckia* and PGPB alone/combination in the soil significantly boosted maize growth, resulting in more seeds per ear, higher thousand seed weight, and increased yield compared with the respective control. The improvement in various plant growth factors is likely a consequence of plants being better able to absorb essential nutrients from the soil. This enhanced nutrient uptake process makes vital nutrients more readily available to plants, supporting their overall growth and development.

Furthermore, microbes have been reported to facilitate nutrient movement toward plant roots, and a substantial portion of soil microorganisms possess the capacity to improve plant nutrient uptake, offering eco-friendly strategies to address plant nutritional needs (Saia et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2022).

Our observations revealed that the application of *N. linckia* and PGPB, either individually or in combination, yielded statistically insignificant (p < 0.05) effects on plant height over studied period. In contrast, the utilization of cyanobacteria and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria on the maize and wheat crop demonstrated a notably superior performance in terms of plant height compared to the uninoculated control, underscoring the efficacy of the cyanobacterial application in influencing the vertical growth of the maize plants (Kholssi et al., 2021; Manjunath et al., 2011; Prasanna et al., 2015; Prasanna et al., 2016b). During studied period, the statistical significance (p < 0.05) of the number of seeds per ear was evident when employing N. linckia and PGPB, whether applied individually or in combination. The highest number of seeds per ear was achieved at combined application of N. *linckia* at concentrations of 0.3 g/L along with A. *lipoferum* while the lowest number of seeds per ears was noted in the control level throughout the entire studied periods. Furthermore, with the exception of the year 2022, the statistical analysis revealed that the interaction effect of N. linckia and PGPB on the thousand seed weight was deemed statistically insignificant. However, the main effect of N. linckia and PGPB remained statistically significant across the entire experimental

duration. The maximum thousand seed weight was attained through the combined application of *N. linckia* at concentrations of 0.3 and 1 g/L, in conjunction with *A. lipoferum*.

Our study revealed that the inoculation of N. linckia at the concentration of 0.3 g/L along with A. *lipoferum* positively influenced yield of maize, leading to a significant enhancement in grain yield by 7.09 tonha⁻¹ (33.20%) during 2021, 7.71 tonha⁻¹ (31.53 %) in season 2022, and 8.62 tonha⁻¹ (32.34%) in season 2023, as compared to the control. In earlier research, it has been demonstrated that applying cyanobacteria and PGPB, whether separately or together, leads to enhanced maize growth and yield by either directly improving resource utilization and adjusting plant hormone levels or indirectly reducing the negative impact of various harmful agents (Di Benedetto et al., 2017; Gavilanes et al., 2020; Reed and Glick, 2023). In the present study, it was observed that the highest result in terms of the number of seeds per ear, seed weight and yield was recorded at combined application N. linckia at a concentration of 0.3 g/L with A. lipoferum (Table 2). The Azospirillum genus, consisting of free-living diazotrophs found in plant rhizospheres, is esteemed as a prime example of Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria (PGPB) as a biofertilizers due to their beneficial influence on plant growth, crop yields, and nitrogen content (Vuolo et al., 2022). Utilizing cyanobacteria and PGPB could serve as a viable alternative to enhance crop growth and yield in significant crops such as maize, enhance nutrient use efficiency (NUE) (Nilde Antonella Di et al., 2017; Pandey et al., 2021), and enhance the uptake of essential

nutrients, including nitrogen (N) (Múnera-Porras et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2020).

6.5 Soil properties

The use of either *N. linckia* or PGPB, as well as their combined application, resulted in a notable improvement in soil pH, humus content, $(NO_3^-+ NO_2^-)-N$, and total nitrogen levels. Microbial technologies provide environmentally friendly and cost-effective methods for promoting sustainable soil health and crop production (Manjunath et al., 2016).

Apart from 2022, it is evident from the data that the joint utilization of *N. linckia* and PGPB did not result in statistically significant (*p*<0.05) changes in pH values throughout the remaining seasons. In the year 2022, the combined application of *N. linckia* and PGPB resulted in a moderate reduction of soil pH. Moreover, the combined use f *N. linckia* at a concentration of 0.3 g/L, in along with *A. lipoferum*, yielded noteworthy enhancements in humus content, with increments of 25.49%, 20.24%, and 15.71% observed for the respective years 2021, 2022, and 2023, against untreated control trials, as illustrated in Figure 13. It may be due to the improvement of organic matter in the soil has had a positive impact on the soil's physicochemical and biological properties. This enhancement of organic matter has been facilitated by beneficial microorganisms, including microalgae and bacteria, known for their ability to promote soil health and fertility (Gonzalez-Gonzalez and de-Bashan, 2023a; Kumar et al., 2022b; Mutum et al., 2022;

Ramakrishnan et al., 2023; Singh et al., 2016). Further, the research findings indicated a substantial augmentation in organic carbon levels across all microbial-inoculated treatments, following the co-inoculation of bacteria-cyanobacteria, a trend that exhibited a discernible correlation with microbial biomass carbon values (Prasanna et al., 2012).

The study shows that the synergistic alliance between PGPR and cyanobacteria not only optimizes soil fertility and nutrient utilization to augment plant growth but also fortifies plant resilience to environmental adversities like drought and salinity (Pathak et al., 2018; Prasanna et al., 2012). Our study revealed that the combined application of *N. linckia* at the concentration of 1 g/L with *A. lipoferum* resulted increases the (NO₃⁻+ NO₂⁻)-N content by 27.05% in 2021 and 51.54% in 2023 compared to the control levels. Moreover in 2022, the combined application of *N. linckia* at 0.3 g/L along with *A. lipoferum* resulted in the highest soil (NO₃⁻+ NO₂⁻)-N content, showcasing a significant 59.20% increase compared to the control levels (Fig 15).

Numerous studies revealed that application of cyanobacteria improves soil properties, particularly when combined with PGPB, leading to enhanced plant growth, organic matter, improved soil fertility, nutrient utilization, and increased plant stress tolerance (Eman et al., 2023; Gonzalez-Gonzalez and de-Bashan, 2023a; Mutale-Joan et al., 2023; Prasanna et al., 2021; Singh, 2014; Singh et al., 2016). Our studies shows that the synergistic application of *N. linckia* at a concentration of 0.3 g/L, in conjunction with *A. lipoferum*, led to significant improvements in total nitrogen levels, registering increments of 40%, 20.69%, and 27.59% for the years 2021, 2022, and 2023, respectively, when compared to untreated control trials. Cyanobacteria, serving as eco-friendly inputs, not only enhance plant growth and soil fertility but also outperformed the uninoculated control by augmenting available nitrogen (N) in the soil, consequently resulting in a substantial nitrogen fertilizer saving of 40-50 kg N ha⁻¹ (Prasanna et al., 2015).

The increase in soil nitrate-nitrite nitrogen content with the combined application of *N. linckia* and PGPB can be attributed to the synergistic interactions between N. linckia and the plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB). Further, N. linckia may contribute to enhanced nutrient availability and uptake by the plants, promoting nitrogen assimilation. Additionally, PGPB can facilitate nitrogen fixation or enhance nutrient mobilization in the soil, leading to increased nitratenitrite nitrogen levels. The combined effect of these factors results in a higher concentration of soil nitrate-nitrite nitrogen (Aquino et al., 2021; Calvo et al., 2019). In the current study, applying *N. linckia* and PGPB either alone or in combination had no statistically significant impact on phosphorus and potassium levels. In contrast to this study, the research findings demonstrated that PGPB enhanced soil characteristics, elevating the availability of phosphorus and potassium content by a significant margin 100% and 70%, respectively compared to the untreated soil (Schoebitz et al., 2014).

6.6 Soil microbial populations

In our current research, whether we applied *N. linckia* or PGPB alone or in combination to the soil, we observed significant differences in bacterial and actinomycete populations in 2021 and 2022 production years. Notably, the control group consistently exhibited the lowest levels of these populations throughout the study period. Cyanobacteria and Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria (PGPB) play a pivotal role in regulating the abundance and functions of diverse soil microbial communities and enhance plant growth (Ranjan et al., 2016; Sharma et al., 2020). The soil's microbial communities in the rhizosphere play a crucial role in fostering eco-friendly agricultural practices, promoting sustainability, soil fertility, and ensuring agricultural productivity (Uzoh and Babalola, 2018). The incorporation of microbial biomass in the soil resulted in enhanced microbial diversity, changes in the abundance of organic matter-decomposing microorganisms, improved soil health, and the promotion of greater microbial variety (Alobwede et al., 2022; Ranjan et al., 2016).

Overall, our research demonstrates a positive association *between N. linckia* and PGPB with growth, soil fertility, and soil microbial biomass. For the future studies, we would suggest on the investigation the adaptability of *N. linckia* and PGPB in diverse environmental conditions, while exploring their molecular basis in plant-microbe interactions to optimize microbial formulations for enhanced crop productivity. Additionally, assess their efficacy in enhancing maize resilience to both biotic and abiotic stresses.

7. CONCLUSION

Maize, a globally important crop, often relies heavily on nitrogen fertilizers, prompting the need for sustainable alternatives. This comprehensive study highlights the potential of beneficial *N. linckia* biomass and PGPB as microbial inoculants, with the aim of enhancing maize the growth, yields, and soil fertility. The application of *N. linckia* biomass and PGPB, either individually or in combination, led to a substantial augmentation in physiological parameters and plant biomass. The study underscored the positive correlation between the microbial application and enhanced biomass, emphasizing the potential for improved crop productivity.

The data demonstrated that the joint application of *N. linckia* biomass and PGPB significantly enhanced maize growth, resulting in increased seeds per ear, higher thousand seed weight, and elevated overall yield. This outcome highlighted the practical implications of employing these microbial agents in agriculture, as they positively impacted various aspects of maize growth and productivity. Furthermore, the application of *N. linckia* biomass and PGPB, either individually or combined, positively influenced soil properties, including pH, humus content, (NO₃⁻+ NO₂)-N, and total nitrogen contents. The positive effects extended to soil properties and microbial populations, showcasing the potential for sustainable and eco-friendly agricultural practices through the strategic use of beneficial microorganisms.

The study underscores that the combined use of *N. linckia* biomass and PGPB was the most effective strategy. In this work, all strains

displayed a high degree of compatibility for co-growth, however, the most optimal synergistic grouping were established by integrating both *N. linckia* biomass at a concentration of 0.3 g/L along with *A. lipoferum*, resulting enhancing maize growth, yield, soil fertility and microbial populations. The formulation of biofertilizers through synergistic combinations of two or more microorganisms, such as algae-bacteria, holds promise for enhancing crop productivity.

8. NOVEL SCIENTIFIC RESULTS OF DOCTORAL RESEARCH

- The joint application of *Nostic linckia* biomass and plant growth-promoting bacteria increased chlorophyll and green vegetation content in maize, demonstrating potential for enhancing plant photosynthesis.
- It was found that the joint application of *Nostic linckia* biomass and plant growth-promoting bacteria significantly enhanced maize growth, resulting in increased fresh and dry shoot and root biomass.
- The combined use of *Nostic linckia* and plant growthpromoting bacteria significantly boosted maize productivity, resulting in more seeds per ear, increased thousand seed weight, and higher overall yield.
- The combined use of *Nostic linckia* biomass and plant growthpromoting bacteria synergistically improved soil pH, humus content, nitrate-nitrite nitrogen, total nitrogen, and microbial populations, paving the way for sustainable and eco-friendly agricultural practices.
- Optimal synergistic groupings were identified by combining *N*. *linckia* biomass at a concentration of 0.3 g/L with *A*. *lipoferum*, leading to enhanced maize growth, increased yield, improved soil fertility, and increased microbial populations.

9. PUBLICATIONS

- Solomon, W., Janda, T., and Molnár, Z. (2024). Unveiling the significance of rhizosphere: Implications for plant growth, stress response, and sustainable agriculture. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 206, 108290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2023.108290
- Solomon, W.; Mutum, L.; Rakszegi, M.; Janda, T.; Molnár, Z. (2023). Harnessing the Synergy of the Cyanobacteria-Plant Growth Promoting Bacteria for Improved Maize (*Zea mays*) Growth and Soil Health. *Sustainability*, *15*, 16660. https://doi.org/10.3390/su152416660
- Solomon, W., Mutum, L., Janda, T., Molnar Z. (2023). Potential benefit of microalgae and their interaction with bacteria to sustainable crop production. *Plant Growth Regulation*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-023-01019-8</u>
- Mutum, L., Solomon, W., Janda, T., Molnar Z. (2023). Time of application and cultivar influence on the effectiveness of microalgae biomass upon winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). CEREAL RESEARCH COMMUNICATIONS. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42976-023-00443-w
- Molnár, Z.; Solomon, W.; Mutum, L.; Janda, T. (2023). Understanding the Mechanisms of Fe Deficiency in the Rhizosphere to Promote Plant Resilience. *Plants*, 12, 1945. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12101945</u>

- Molnár, Z., Lamnganbi, M., Solomon, W., & Janda, T. (2023). Chitosan and cyanobacterial biomass accounting physiological and biochemical development of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) under nutrient stress conditions. *Agrosystems, Geosciences* & *Environment*, 6, e20428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/agg2.20428</u>
- Kabato, W., Ergudo, T., Mutum, Janda, ., Molnár, Z., (2022). Response of wheat to combined application of nitrogen and phosphorus along with compost. *J. Crop Sci. Biotechnology*. 25, 557–564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12892-022-00151-7</u>

10. CONFERENCE PRESENTATION AND PARTICIPATION:

- Wogene Solomon, Tibor Janda, Molnar Zoltan (2024). Effect of Microalgae-Bacteria Synergy on Maize (*Zea mays* L.) Growth and Soil Fertility. Student conference on plant biology, Gregor Mendel Institute of Molecular Plant Biology GmbH, Vienna, Austria, February 22-23, 2024.
- Wogene Solomon, Mutum Lamnganbi, Tibor Janda, Molnar Zoltan (2022). Promising effect of the microalgae-bacteria interaction on maize growth performance, poster presentation. Plant-microbe interaction conference, Novo Nordisk foundation science cluster, Copenhagen, Denmark, November 13-17, 2022.
- Mutum Lamnganbi, Wogene Kobato, Tibor Janda, Zoltan Molnar (2022). Chitosan and Microalgae stimulators compensating deprivation of early physiological and biochemical development of winter wheat at half N-portion. In: C. Jacquard, E. Ait-Barka, C. Clement (Eds.) Plant BioProTech 2022, 27-30 June 2022, Reims, France, Poster Abstracts, p. 31.
- Kabato Wogene, Tegasse Abera, Mutum Lamnganbi, Tibor Janda, Molnar Zoltan (2021). Response of wheat to combined application of nitrogen and phosphorus along with compost of Southern Ethiopia, Abstract book-XIII. HUNGARIAN PLANT BIOLOGY CONGRESS Biological Research Centre, Szeged, 2021: p. 16.

 Mutum Lamnganbi, Kabato Wogene, Ördög Vince, Tibor Janda, Molnar, (2021). Secondary metabolites of microalgae, thier relationship with germination and hormonal activity in winter wheat, Abstract book-XIII. HUNGARIAN PLANT BIOLOGY CONGRESS Biological Research Centre, Szeged, 2021: p. 17.

11. DEDICATION

I wish to pay tribute to my father, Solomon Kabato (Abebo), who passed away during my Ph.D. studies, by dedicating this dissertation to his memory.

12. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I express my sincere gratitude to God for providing me with health and strength throughout my academic journey.

I extend my heartfelt appreciation to my dedicated and supportive supervisors, Dr. Zoltán Molnár, and Dr. Tibor Janda, who played pivotal roles in guiding me through the challenges of my PhD journey. Their invaluable insights, mentorship, and encouragement have significantly contributed to the successful completion of this academic pursuit.

I would like to extend special thanks to Gábor Kálovits, Ildikó Lobik, Zsófia Kiss, Dr. Georgina Takács, and Dr. Lamnganbi Mutum for their invaluable technical help and assistance.

I am deeply thankful to all those who extended their hands in support and offered words of encouragement during this rigorous process. The collaborative spirit and camaraderie within the academic community have been instrumental in shaping my research endeavors.

Lastly, I appreciate the continuous encouragement and understanding from my family and friends, whose unwavering support has been a constant source of motivation. Together, these collective efforts have played a crucial role in my academic accomplishments.

13.REFERENCES

- Abadi, V. A. J. M., Sepehri, M., Rahmani, H. A., Zarei, M., Ronaghi, A., Taghavi, S. M., and Shamshiripour, M. (2020). Role of Dominant Phyllosphere Bacteria with Plant Growth– Promoting Characteristics on Growth and Nutrition of Maize (Zea mays L.). *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 20, 2348-2363.10.1007/s42729-020-00302-1.
- Abd El-Baky, H. H., El-Baz, F. K., and El Baroty, G. S. (2010). Enhancing antioxidant availability in wheat grains from plants grown under seawater stress in response to microalgae extract treatments. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* **90**, 299-303.<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.3815</u>.
- Abdel Latef, A. A. H., Abu Alhmad, M. F., Kordrostami, M., Abo– Baker, A.-B. A.-E., and Zakir, A. (2020). Inoculation with Azospirillum lipoferum or Azotobacter chroococcum Reinforces Maize Growth by Improving Physiological Activities Under Saline Conditions. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* 39, 1293-1306.10.1007/s00344-020-10065-9.
- Abinandan, S., Subashchandrabose, S. R., Venkateswarlu, K., and Megharaj, M. (2019). Soil microalgae and cyanobacteria: the biotechnological potential in the maintenance of soil fertility and health. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology* **39**, 981-998.10.1080/07388551.2019.1654972.
- ACC (2023). AACC Approved Methods of Analysis *In* "AACC Method 46-30.01; Crude Protein—Combustion Method; Cereals and Grains Association:" Vol. 2023.
- Adesemoye, A. O., Torbert, H. A., and Kloepper, J. W. (2009). Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria Allow Reduced Application Rates of Chemical Fertilizers. *Microbial Ecology* 58, 921-929.10.1007/s00248-009-9531-y.
- Aditya, L., Mahlia, T. M. I., Nguyen, L. N., Vu, H. P., and Nghiem, L. D. (2022). Microalgae-bacteria consortium for wastewater treatment and biomass production. *Science of The Total Environment* 838,

155871.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.155871</u>.

Ahluwalia, O., Singh, P. C., and Bhatia, R. (2021). A review on drought stress in plants: Implications, mitigation and the role

of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria. *Resources*, *Environment and Sustainability* **5**, 100032.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resenv.2021.100032.

- Ajijah, N., Fiodor, A., Pandey, A. K., Rana, A., and Pranaw, K. (2023). Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria (PGPB) with Biofilm-Forming Ability: A Multifaceted Agent for Sustainable Agriculture. *Diversity* 15, 112
- Alexander, M. (1965). Most-Probable-Number Method for Microbial Populations. *In* "Methods of Soil Analysis", pp. 1467-1472.<u>https://doi.org/10.2134/agronmonogr9.2.c49</u>.
- Aliyu, O. M., Adeigbe, O. O., and Awopetu, J. A. (2011). Foliar application of the exogenous plant hormones at pre-blooming stage improves flowering and fruiting in cashew (Anacardium occidentale L.). *Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology* 14, 143-150.10.1007/s12892-010-0070-3.
- Alobwede, E., Cotton, A., Leake, J. R., and Pandhal, J. (2022). The Fate and Distribution of Microalgal Nitrogen When Applied as an Agricultural Soil Fertiliser and Its Effect on Soil Microbial Communities. *Phycology* 2, 297-318
- Alvarez, A. L., Weyers, S. L., Goemann, H. M., Peyton, B. M., and Gardner, R. D. (2021). Microalgae, soil and plants: A critical review of microalgae as renewable resources for agriculture. *Algal Research* 54, 1002001 (1010) (1010) (1010) (10000)

102200.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2021.102200</u>. Alves, D. K. M., Teixeira, M. B., Cunha, F. N., Cabral Filho, F. R., Cunha, G. N., and Andrade, C. L. L. d. (2023). Grain Yield of

- Maize Crops under Nitrogen Fertigation Using Wastewater from Swine and Fish Farming. *Agronomy* **13**, 1834
- Ambrosini, A., and Passaglia, L. M. P. (2017). Plant Growth– Promoting Bacteria (PGPB): Isolation and Screening of PGP Activities. *Current Protocols in Plant Biology* 2, 190-209.<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pb.20054</u>.
- Amin, S. A., Hmelo, L. R., van Tol, H. M., Durham, B. P., Carlson, L. T., Heal, K. R., Morales, R. L., Berthiaume, C. T., Parker, M. S., Djunaedi, B., Ingalls, A. E., Parsek, M. R., Moran, M. A., and Armbrust, E. V. (2015). Interaction and signalling between a cosmopolitan phytoplankton and associated bacteria. *Nature* 522, 98-101.10.1038/nature14488.

- Andronov, E. E., Petrova, S. N., Pinaev, A. G., Pershina, E. V., Rakhimgalieva, S. Z., Akhmedenov, K. M., Gorobets, A. V., and Sergaliev, N. K. (2012). Analysis of the structure of microbial community in soils with different degrees of salinization using T-RFLP and real-time PCR techniques. *Eurasian Soil Science* 45, 147-156.10.1134/S1064229312020044.
- Aqsa, T., and Ambreen, A. (2023). Bacterial Symbiotic Signaling in Modulating Plant-Rhizobacterial Interactions. *In* "Symbiosis in Nature" (R. Everlon Cid, ed.), pp. Ch. 3. IntechOpen, Rijeka.10.5772/intechopen.109915.
- Aquino, J. P. A., Antunes, J. E. L., Bonifácio, A., Rocha, S. M. B., Amorim, M. R., Alcântara Neto, F., and Araujo, A. S. F. (2021). Plant growth-promoting bacteria improve growth and nitrogen metabolism in maize and sorghum. *Theoretical and Experimental Plant Physiology* 33, 249-260.10.1007/s40626-021-00209-x.
- Arora, N. K., Mehnaz, S., and Balestrini, R. (2016). Bioformulations : for sustainable agriculture. Springer, India.
- Babalola, O. O., and Glick, B. R. (2012). The use of microbial inoculants in African agriculture: current practice and future prospects. J. Food Agric. Environ 10, 540-549
- Babu, S., Prasanna, R., Bidyarani, N., and Singh, R. (2015).
 Analysing the colonisation of inoculated cyanobacteria in wheat plants using biochemical and molecular tools. *Journal of Applied Phycology* 27, 327-338.10.1007/s10811-014-0322-6.
- Backer, R., Rokem, J. S., Ilangumaran, G., Lamont, J., Praslickova, D., Ricci, E., Subramanian, S., and Smith, D. L. (2018). Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria: Context, Mechanisms of Action, and Roadmap to Commercialization of Biostimulants for Sustainable Agriculture. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 9.10.3389/fpls.2018.01473.
- Balla, A., Silini, A., Cherif-Silini, H., Chenari Bouket, A., Alenezi, F.
 N., and Belbahri, L. (2022). Recent Advances in Encapsulation Techniques of Plant Growth-Promoting Microorganisms and Their Prospects in the Sustainable Agriculture. *Applied Sciences* 12, 9020

- Barone, V., Puglisi, I., Fragalà, F., Stevanato, P., and Baglieri, A. (2019). Effect of living cells of microalgae or their extracts on soil enzyme activities. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science* 65, 712-726.10.1080/03650340.2018.1521513.
- Barua, N., Clouse, K. M., Ruiz Diaz, D. A., Wagner, M. R., Platt, T. G., and Hansen, R. R. (2023). Screening the maize rhizobiome for consortia that improve Azospirillum brasilense root colonization and plant growth outcomes. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 7.10.3389/fsufs.2023.1106528.
- Bashan, Y. (1998). Inoculants of plant growth-promoting bacteria for use in agriculture. *Biotechnology Advances* **16**, 729-770.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0734-9750(98)00003-2</u>.
- Bashan, Y., and de-Bashan, L. E. (2010). Chapter Two How the Plant Growth-Promoting Bacterium Azospirillum Promotes Plant Growth—A Critical Assessment. *Advances in Agronomy* 108, 77-136
- Bashan, Y., de-Bashan, L. E., Prabhu, S. R., and Hernandez, J.-P. (2014). Advances in plant growth-promoting bacterial inoculant technology: formulations and practical perspectives (1998–2013). *Plant and Soil* **378**, 1-33.10.1007/s11104-013-1956-x.
- Beal, C. M., Gerber, L. N., Thongrod, S., Phromkunthong, W., Kiron, V., Granados, J., Archibald, I., Greene, C. H., and Huntley, M. E. (2018). Marine microalgae commercial production improves sustainability of global fisheries and aquaculture. *Scientific Reports* 8, 15064.10.1038/s41598-018-33504-w.
- Benard, P., Zarebanadkouki, M., Hedwig, C., Holz, M., Ahmed, M. A., and Carminati, A. (2018). Pore-Scale Distribution of Mucilage Affecting Water Repellency in the Rhizosphere. *Vadose Zone Journal* 17, 170013.https://doi.org/10.2136/vzj2017.01.0013.
- Berendsen, R. L., Pieterse, C. M., and Bakker, P. A. (2012). The rhizosphere microbiome and plant health. *Trends Plant Sci* 17, 478-86.10.1016/j.tplants.2012.04.001.
- Berger, B., Patz, S., Ruppel, S., Dietel, K., Faetke, S., Junge, H., and Becker, M. (2018). Successful Formulation and Application of Plant Growth-Promoting<i>Kosakonia radicincitans</i>

Maize Cultivation. *BioMed Research International* **2018**, 6439481.10.1155/2018/6439481.

- Berger, S., Van Wees, S. C. M., Nybroe, O., and Großkinsky, D. K. (2020). Editorial: Cross-Frontier Communication: Phytohormone Functions at the Plant-Microbe Interface and Beyond. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11.10.3389/fpls.2020.00386.
- Berthon, J.-Y., Michel, T., Wauquier, A., Joly, P., Gerbore, J., and Filaire, E. (2021). Seaweed and microalgae as major actors of blue biotechnology to achieve plant stimulation and pest and pathogen biocontrol – a review of the latest advances and future prospects. *The Journal of Agricultural Science* **159**, 523-534.10.1017/S0021859621000885.
- Bhanse, P., Kumar, M., Singh, L., Awasthi, M. K., and Qureshi, A. (2022). Role of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria in boosting the phytoremediation of stressed soils: Opportunities, challenges, and prospects. *Chemosphere* **303**, 134954
- Bhardwaj, D., Ansari, M. W., Sahoo, R. K., and Tuteja, N. K. (2014).
 Biofertilizers function as key player in sustainable agriculture by improving soil fertility, plant tolerance and crop productivity. *Microbial Cell Factories* 13, 66 66
- Bhattacharyya, P. N., and Jha, D. K. (2012a). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): emergence in agriculture. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 28, 1327-1350.10.1007/s11274-011-0979-9.
- Bhattacharyya, P. N., and Jha, D. K. (2012b). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): emergence in agriculture. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol* 28, 1327-50.10.1007/s11274-011-0979-9.
- Bibi, S., Saadaoui, I., Bibi, A., Al-Ghouti, M., and Abu-Dieyeh, M. H. (2024). Applications, advancements, and challenges of cyanobacteria-based biofertilizers for sustainable agro and ecosystems in arid climates. *Bioresource Technology Reports* 25, 101789.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2024.101789</u>.
- Boleta, E. H. M., Shintate Galindo, F., Jalal, A., Santini, J. M. K., Rodrigues, W. L., Lima, B. H. d., Arf, O., Silva, M. R. d., Buzetti, S., and Teixeira Filho, M. C. M. (2020). Inoculation With Growth-Promoting Bacteria Azospirillum brasilense and
Its Effects on Productivity and Nutritional Accumulation of Wheat Cultivars. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* **4**.10.3389/fsufs.2020.607262.

- Brüll, L. P., Huang, Z., Thomas-Oates, J. E., Paulsen, B. S., Cohen, E. H., and Michaelsen, T. E. (2000). STUDIES OF POLYSACCHARIDES FROM THREE EDIBLE SPECIES OF NOSTOC (CYANOBACTERIA) WITH DIFFERENT COLONY MORPHOLOGIES: STRUCTURAL CHARACTERIZATION AND EFFECT ON THE COMPLEMENT SYSTEM OF POLYSACCHARIDES FROM NOSTOC COMMUNE Journal of Phycology 36, 871-881.<u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1529-8817.2000.00038.x</u>.
- Bulgari, R., Franzoni, G., and Ferrante, A. (2019). Biostimulants Application in Horticultural Crops under Abiotic Stress Conditions. *Agronomy* **9**, 306
- Bunbury, F., Deery, E., Sayer, A. P., Bhardwaj, V., Harrison, E. L., Warren, M. J., and Smith, A. G. (2022). Exploring the onset of B12-based mutualisms using a recently evolved Chlamydomonas auxotroph and B12-producing bacteria. *Environmental Microbiology* 24, 3134-3147.https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.16035.
- Büttner, D., and He, S. Y. (2009). Type III Protein Secretion in Plant Pathogenic Bacteria. *Plant Physiology* **150**, 1656-1664.10.1104/pp.109.139089.
- Calvo, P., Nelson, L., and Kloepper, J. W. (2014). Agricultural uses of plant biostimulants. *Plant and Soil* **383**, 3-41.10.1007/s11104-014-2131-8.
- Calvo, P., Zebelo, S., McNear, D., Kloepper, J., and Fadamiro, H. (2019). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria induce changes in Arabidopsis thaliana gene expression of nitrate and ammonium uptake genes. *Journal of Plant Interactions* 14, 224-231.10.1080/17429145.2019.1602887.
- Cameron, D. D., Neal, A. L., van Wees, S. C. M., and Ton, J. (2013). Mycorrhiza-induced resistance: more than the sum of its parts? *Trends in Plant Science* **18**, 539-545.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2013.06.004.
- Cardona, T., Battchikova, N., Zhang, P., Stensjö, K., Aro, E.-M., Lindblad, P., and Magnuson, A. (2009). Electron transfer

protein complexes in the thylakoid membranes of heterocysts from the cyanobacterium Nostoc punctiforme. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics* **1787**, 252-263.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2009.01.015</u>.

- Catroux, G., Hartmann, A., and Revellin, C. (2001). Trends in rhizobial inoculant production and use. *Plant and Soil* **230**, 21-30.10.1023/A:1004777115628.
- Chamkhi, I., El Omari, N., Balahbib, A., El Menyiy, N., Benali, T., and Ghoulam, C. (2022). Is the rhizosphere a source of applicable multi-beneficial microorganisms for plant enhancement? *Saudi J Biol Sci* 29, 1246-1259.10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.09.032.
- Chandini, Randeep Kumar, Ravendra Kumar, and Om Prakash (2019). "The Impact of Chemical Fertilizers on our Environment and Ecosystem.," in Research Trends in Environmental Sciences, ed. P. Sharma (New Delhi: AkiNik Publications)
- Chaudhary, V., Prasanna, R., Nain, L., Dubey, S. C., Gupta, V., Singh, R., Jaggi, S., and Bhatnagar, A. K. (2012). Bioefficacy of novel cyanobacteria-amended formulations in suppressing damping off disease in tomato seedlings. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 28, 3301-3310.10.1007/s11274-012-1141-z.
- Checker, V. G., Kushwaha, H. R., Kumari, P., and Yadav, S. (2018).
 Role of Phytohormones in Plant Defense: Signaling and Cross Talk. *In* "Molecular Aspects of Plant-Pathogen Interaction" (A. Singh and I. K. Singh, eds.), pp. 159-184. Springer Singapore, Singapore.10.1007/978-981-10-7371-7_7.
- Chen, C., Wang, M., Zhu, J., Tang, Y., Zhang, H., Zhao, Q., Jing, M., Chen, Y., Xu, X., Jiang, J., and Shen, Z. (2022). Long-term effect of epigenetic modification in plant–microbe interactions: modification of DNA methylation induced by plant growth-promoting bacteria mediates promotion process. *Microbiome* 10, 36.10.1186/s40168-022-01236-9.
- Chen, D., Liu, Q., Zhang, G., and Zang, L. (2023). Enhancement of Soil Available Nutrients and Crop Growth in Sustainable Agriculture by a Biocontrol Bacterium Lysobacter

enzymogenes LE16: Preliminary Results in Controlled Conditions. *Agronomy* **13**, 1453

- Cheng, Y. T., Zhang, L., and He, S. Y. (2019). Plant-Microbe Interactions Facing Environmental Challenge. *Cell Host Microbe* 26, 183-192.10.1016/j.chom.2019.07.009.
- Chittora, D., Meena, M., Barupal, T., and Swapnil, P. (2020). Cyanobacteria as a source of biofertilizers for sustainable agriculture. *Biochem Biophys Rep* 22, 100737.10.1016/j.bbrep.2020.100737.
- Cho, Y. B., Boyd, R. A., Ren, Y., Lee, M.-S., Jones, S. I., Ruiz-Vera, U. M., McGrath, J. M., Masters, M. D., and Ort, D. R. (2024). Reducing chlorophyll levels in seed-filling stages results in higher seed nitrogen without impacting canopy carbon assimilation. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 47, 278-293.<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.14737</u>.
- Ciganda, V., Gitelson, A., and Schepers, J. (2008). Vertical Profile and Temporal Variation of Chlorophyll in Maize Canopy: Quantitative "Crop Vigor" Indicator by Means of Reflectance-Based Techniques. *Agronomy Journal* **100**, 1409-1417.https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2007.0322.
- Clark, F. E. (1965). Agar-Plate Method for Total Microbial Count. *In* "Methods of Soil Analysis", pp. 1460-1466.https://doi.org/10.2134/agronmonogr9.2.c48.
- Colla, G., Hoagland, L., Ruzzi, M., Cardarelli, M., Bonini, P., Canaguier, R., and Rouphael, Y. (2017). Biostimulant Action of Protein Hydrolysates: Unraveling Their Effects on Plant Physiology and Microbiome. *Front Plant Sci* 8, 2202.10.3389/fpls.2017.02202.
- Cooper, M. B., and Smith, A. G. (2015). Exploring mutualistic interactions between microalgae and bacteria in the omics age. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* **26**, 147-53.10.1016/j.pbi.2015.07.003.
- Date, R. A. (2001). Advances in inoculant technology: a brief review. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* **41**, 321-325.<u>https://doi.org/10.1071/EA00006</u>.
- De-Bashan, L. E., Antoun, H., and Bashan, Y. (2008). INVOLVEMENT OF INDOLE-3-ACETIC ACID PRODUCED BY THE GROWTH-PROMOTING BACTERIUM AZOSPIRILLUM SPP. IN PROMOTING

GROWTH OF CHLORELLA VULGARIS1. *Journal of Phycology* **44**, 938-947.<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2008.00533.x</u>.

- de Andrade, L. A., Santos, C. H. B., Frezarin, E. T., Sales, L. R., and Rigobelo, E. C. (2023). Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria for Sustainable Agricultural Production. *Microorganisms* **11**, 1088
- De Coninck, B., Timmermans, P., Vos, C., Cammue, B. P., and Kazan, K. (2015). What lies beneath: belowground defense strategies in plants. *Trends Plant Sci* **20**, 91-101.10.1016/j.tplants.2014.09.007.
- Dey, S. K., Chakrabarti, B., Prasanna, R., Pratap, D., Singh, S. D., Purakayastha, T. J., and Pathak, H. (2017). Elevated carbon dioxide level along with phosphorus application and cyanobacterial inoculation enhances nitrogen fixation and uptake in cowpea crop. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science* 63, 1927-1937.10.1080/03650340.2017.1315105.
- Di Benedetto, N. A., Corbo, M. R., Campaniello, D., Cataldi, M. P., Bevilacqua, A., Sinigaglia, M., and Flagella, Z. (2017). The role of Plant Growth Promoting Bacteria in improving nitrogen use efficiency for sustainable crop production: a focus on wheat. *AIMS Microbiol* **3**, 413-434.10.3934/microbiol.2017.3.413.
- Dineshkumar, R., Subramanian, J., Gopalsamy, J., Jayasingam, P., Arumugam, A., Kannadasan, S., and Sampathkumar, P. (2017). The Impact of Using Microalgae as Biofertilizer in Maize (Zea mays L.). *Waste and Biomass Valorization* 10, 1101-1110.1007/s12649-017-0123-7.
- Dineshkumar, R., Subramanian, J., Gopalsamy, J., Jayasingam, P., Arumugam, A., Kannadasan, S., and Sampathkumar, P. (2019). The Impact of Using Microalgae as Biofertilizer in Maize (Zea mays L.). *Waste and Biomass Valorization* 10, 1101-1110.1007/s12649-017-0123-7.
- Ding, L. N., Li, Y. T., Wu, Y. Z., Li, T., Geng, R., Cao, J., Zhang, W., and Tan, X. L. (2022). Plant Disease Resistance-Related Signaling Pathways: Recent Progress and Future Prospects. *Int J Mol Sci* 23.10.3390/ijms232416200.

- Dolatabadian, A. (2020). Plant-Microbe Interaction. *Biology (Basel)* **10**.10.3390/biology10010015.
- Douglas, A. E., and Werren, J. H. (2016). Holes in the Hologenome: Why Host-Microbe Symbioses Are Not Holobionts. *mBio* **7**, 10.1128/mbio.02099-15.doi:10.1128/mbio.02099-15.
- Drobek, M., Frąc, M., and Cybulska, J. (2019). Plant Biostimulants: Importance of the Quality and Yield of Horticultural Crops and the Improvement of Plant Tolerance to Abiotic Stress—A Review. *Agronomy* **9**, 335
- du Jardin, P. (2015). Plant biostimulants: Definition, concept, main categories and regulation. *Scientia Horticulturae* **196**, 3-14.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2015.09.021</u>.
- Dubey, R. K., Tripathi, V., and Abhilash, P. C. (2015). Book Review: Principles of Plant-Microbe Interactions: Microbes for Sustainable Agriculture. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 6.10.3389/fpls.2015.00986.
- Dwivedi, S. L., Sahrawat, K. L., Upadhyaya, H. D., Mengoni, A., Galardini, M., Bazzicalupo, M., Biondi, E. G., Hungria, M., Kaschuk, G., Blair, M. W., and Ortiz, R. (2015). Chapter One Advances in Host Plant and Rhizobium Genomics to Enhance Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation in Grain Legumes. *In* "Advances in Agronomy" (D. L. Sparks, ed.), Vol. 129, pp. 1-116. Academic

Press.https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2014.09.001.

- Egamberdieva, D., Wirth, S. J., Alqarawi, A. A., Abd_Allah, E. F., and Hashem, A. (2017). Phytohormones and Beneficial Microbes: Essential Components for Plants to Balance Stress and Fitness. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 8.10.3389/fmicb.2017.02104.
- Eiteman, M. A., Lee, S. A., and Altman, E. (2008). A co-fermentation strategy to consume sugar mixtures effectively. *Journal of Biological Engineering* **2**, 3.10.1186/1754-1611-2-3.
- El-Hendawy, S., Al-Suhaibani, N., Mubushar, M., Tahir, M. U., Marey, S., Refay, Y., and Tola, E. (2022). Combining Hyperspectral Reflectance and Multivariate Regression Models to Estimate Plant Biomass of Advanced Spring Wheat Lines in Diverse Phenological Stages under Salinity Conditions. *Applied Sciences* 12, 1983

El-Naggar, A. H., Osman, M. E. H. E.-S., and Gheda, S. F. (2005). Influence of the aqueous extracts of Ulva lactuca and Chlorella kessleri on growth and yield of Vicia faba. *Algological Studies/Archiv für Hydrobiologie, Supplement Volumes* 116, 213-229.10.1127/1864-1318/2005/0116-0213.

El Arroussi, H., Benhima, R., Elbaouchi, A., Sijilmassi, B., El Mernissi, N., Aafsar, A., Meftah-Kadmiri, I., Bendaou, N., and Smouni, A. (2018). Dunaliella salina exopolysaccharides: a promising biostimulant for salt stress tolerance in tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). *Journal of Applied Phycology* **30**, 2929-2941.10.1007/s10811-017-1382-1.

- EL Sabagh, A., Islam, M. S., Hossain, A., Iqbal, M. A., Mubeen, M., Waleed, M., Reginato, M., Battaglia, M., Ahmed, S., Rehman, A., Arif, M., Athar, H.-U.-R., Ratnasekera, D., Danish, S., Raza, M. A., Rajendran, K., Mushtaq, M., Skalicky, M., Brestic, M., Soufan, W., Fahad, S., Pandey, S., Kamran, M., Datta, R., and Abdelhamid, M. T. (2022). Phytohormones as Growth Regulators During Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants. *Frontiers in Agronomy* **4**.10.3389/fagro.2022.765068.
- Elarroussia, H., Elmernissia, N., Benhimaa, R., El Kadmiria, I. M., Bendaou, N., Smouni, A., and Wahbya, I. (2016). Microalgae polysaccharides a promising plant growth biostimulant. J. Algal Biomass Utln 7, 55-63
- Eman, E., Magdi, A. E. A., and Hassan, E. F. (2023). Perspective Chapter: Cyanobacteria – A Futuristic Effective Tool in Sustainable Agriculture. *In* "Cyanobacteria" (T. Archana, ed.), pp. Ch. 4. IntechOpen, Rijeka.10.5772/intechopen.109829.
- Erenstein, O., Jaleta, M., Sonder, K., Mottaleb, K., and Prasanna, B. M. (2022). Global maize production, consumption and trade: trends and R&D implications. *Food Security* 14, 1295-1319.10.1007/s12571-022-01288-7.
- Fadiji, A. E., Babalola, O. O., Santoyo, G., and Perazzolli, M. (2022). The Potential Role of Microbial Biostimulants in the Amelioration of Climate Change-Associated Abiotic Stresses on Crops. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 12.10.3389/fmicb.2021.829099.
- FAO (2022). World Food and Agriculture Statistical Yearbook 2022, Rome.10.4060/cc2211en.

FAOStat (2021). FAO Stat. Italy, Rome.

- Farhangi-Abriz, S., Tavasolee, A., Ghassemi-Golezani, K., Torabian, S., Monirifar, H., and Rahmani, H. A. (2020). Growthpromoting bacteria and natural regulators mitigate salt toxicity and improve rapeseed plant performance. *Protoplasma* 257, 1035-1047.10.1007/s00709-020-01493-1.
- Farias, G. D., Bremm, C., Bredemeier, C., de Lima Menezes, J., Alves, L. A., Tiecher, T., Martins, A. P., Fioravanço, G. P., da Silva, G. P., and de Faccio Carvalho, P. C. (2023). Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) for soybean biomass and nutrient uptake estimation in response to production systems and fertilization strategies. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 6.10.3389/fsufs.2022.959681.
- Fessia, A., Barra, P., Barros, G., and Nesci, A. (2022). Could Bacillus biofilms enhance the effectivity of biocontrol strategies in the phyllosphere? *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 133, 2148-2166.<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.15596</u>.
- Flemer, B., Gulati, S., Bergna, A., Rändler, M., Cernava, T., Witzel, K., Berg, G., and Grosch, R. (2022). Biotic and Abiotic Stress Factors Induce Microbiome Shifts and Enrichment of Distinct Beneficial Bacteria in Tomato Roots. *Phytobiomes Journal* 6, 276-289.10.1094/pbiomes-10-21-0067-r.
- Fuentes, J. L., Garbayo, I., Cuaresma, M., Montero, Z., González-Del-Valle, M., and Vílchez, C. (2016). Impact of Microalgae-Bacteria Interactions on the Production of Algal Biomass and Associated Compounds. *Mar Drugs* 14.10.3390/md14050100.
- G, T., D.J, B., and M.S, R. (2016). Selected microbial consortia developed for chilly reduces application of chemical fertilizers by 50% under field conditions. *Scientia Horticulturae* **198**, 27-35.10.1016/j.scienta.2015.11.021.
- Garcia-Gonzalez, J., and Sommerfeld, M. (2016). Biofertilizer and biostimulant properties of the microalga Acutodesmus dimorphus. *J Appl Phycol* **28**, 1051-1061.10.1007/s10811-015-0625-2.
- García-Sánchez, F., Simón-Grao, S., Navarro-Pérez, V., and Alfosea-Simón, M. (2022). Scientific Advances in Biostimulation Reported in the 5th Biostimulant World Congress. *Horticulturae* **8**, 665

- Gavilanes, F. Z., Souza Andrade, D., Zucareli, C., Horácio, E. H., Sarkis Yunes, J., Barbosa, A. P., Alves, L. A. R., Cruzatty, L. G., Maddela, N. R., and Guimarães, M. d. F. (2020). Coinoculation of Anabaena cylindrica with Azospirillum brasilense increases grain yield of maize hybrids. *Rhizosphere* 15, 100224.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhisph.2020.100224</u>.
- Geries, L. S. M., and Elsadany, A. Y. (2021). Maximizing growth and productivity of onion (Allium cepa L.) by Spirulina platensis extract and nitrogen-fixing endophyte Pseudomonas stutzeri. *Archives of Microbiology* 203, 169-181.10.1007/s00203-020-01991-z.
- Ghosh, S., Chowdhury, R., and Bhattacharya, P. (2016). Mixed consortia in bioprocesses: role of microbial interactions. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **100**, 4283-4295.10.1007/s00253-016-7448-1.
- Gimenez-Ibanez, S., Chini, A., and Solano, R. (2016). How Microbes Twist Jasmonate Signaling around Their Little Fingers. *Plants* 5, 9
- Glaser, K., Albrecht, M., Baumann, K., Overmann, J., and Sikorski, J. (2022). Biological Soil Crust From Mesic Forests Promote a Specific Bacteria Community. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 13.10.3389/fmicb.2022.769767.
- Glick, B. R. (2012). Plant growth-promoting bacteria: mechanisms and applications. *Scientifica (Cairo)* **2012**, 963401.10.6064/2012/963401.
- Glick, B. R., and Gamalero, E. (2021). Recent Developments in the Study of Plant Microbiomes. *Microorganisms* 9.10.3390/microorganisms9071533.
- Gómez-Godínez, L. J., Aguirre-Noyola, J. L., Martínez-Romero, E., Arteaga-Garibay, R. I., Ireta-Moreno, J., and Ruvalcaba-Gómez, J. M. (2023). A Look at Plant-Growth-Promoting Bacteria. *Plants* 12, 1668
- Gonçalves, A. L. (2021). The Use of Microalgae and Cyanobacteria in the Improvement of Agricultural Practices: A Review on Their Biofertilising, Biostimulating and Biopesticide Roles. *Applied Sciences* 11, 871.10.3390/app11020871.
- Gonzalez-Gonzalez, L. M., and de-Bashan, L. E. (2023a). The Potential of Microalgae-Bacteria Consortia to Restore

Degraded Soils. *Biology (Basel)* **12**.10.3390/biology12050693.

- Gonzalez-Gonzalez, L. M., and de-Bashan, L. E. (2023b). The Potential of Microalgae–Bacteria Consortia to Restore Degraded Soils. *Biology* **12**, 693
- González-González, L. M., and de-Bashan, L. E. (2021). Toward the Enhancement of Microalgal Metabolite Production through Microalgae–Bacteria Consortia. *Biology* **10**, 282
- Goswami, D., Thakker, J. N., and Dhandhukia, P. C. (2016). Portraying mechanics of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): A review. *Cogent Food & Agriculture* 2, 1127500.10.1080/23311932.2015.1127500.
- Gouda, S., Kerry, R. G., Das, G., Paramithiotis, S., Shin, H. S., and Patra, J. K. (2018). Revitalization of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria for sustainable development in agriculture. *Microbiol Res* **206**, 131-140.10.1016/j.micres.2017.08.016.
- Groβkinsky, D. K., van der Graaff, E., and Roitsch, T. (2016). Regulation of Abiotic and Biotic Stress Responses by Plant Hormones. *In* "Plant Pathogen Resistance Biotechnology", pp. 131-154.<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118867716.ch7</u>.
- Grote, U., Fasse, A., Nguyen, T. T., and Erenstein, O. (2021). Food Security and the Dynamics of Wheat and Maize Value Chains in Africa and Asia. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 4.10.3389/fsufs.2020.617009.
- Grover, M., Ali, S. Z., Sandhya, V., Rasul, A., and Venkateswarlu, B. (2011). Role of microorganisms in adaptation of agriculture crops to abiotic stresses. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 27, 1231-1240.10.1007/s11274-010-0572-7.
- Guedes, W. A., Araújo, R. H. C. R., Rocha, J. L. A., Lima, J. F. d., Dias, G. A., Oliveira, Á. M. F. d., Lima, R. F. d., and Oliveira, L. M. (2018). Production of Papaya Seedlings Using Spirulina platensis as a Biostimulant Applied on Leaf and Root. *Journal* of Experimental Agriculture International 28, 1-9.10.9734/jeai/2018/45053.
- Gupta, A., Gupta, R., and Singh, R. L. (2017). Microbes and Environment. *In* "Principles and Applications of Environmental Biotechnology for a Sustainable Future" (R. L.

Singh, ed.), pp. 43-84. Springer Singapore, Singapore.10.1007/978-981-10-1866-4_3.

- Gupta, V., Ratha, S. K., Sood, A., Chaudhary, V., and Prasanna, R. (2013). New insights into the biodiversity and applications of cyanobacteria (blue-green algae)—Prospects and challenges. *Algal Research* 2, 79-97.10.1016/j.algal.2013.01.006.
- Guzmán-Murillo, M. A., Ascencio, F., and Larrinaga-Mayoral, J. A. (2013). Germination and ROS detoxification in bell pepper (Capsicum annuum L.) under NaCl stress and treatment with microalgae extracts. *Protoplasma* **250**, 33-42.10.1007/s00709-011-0369-z.
- Ha, S., Vankova, R., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Shinozaki, K., and Tran, L.-S. P. (2012). Cytokinins: metabolism and function in plant adaptation to environmental stresses. *Trends in Plant Science* 17, 172-

179.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.12.005</u>.

- Hacquard, S., Spaepen, S., Garrido-Oter, R., and Schulze-Lefert, P. (2017). Interplay Between Innate Immunity and the Plant Microbiota. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* 55, 565-589.10.1146/annurev-phyto-080516-035623.
- Hajnal-Jafari, T., Seman, V., Stamenov, D., and Đurić, S. (2020).
 Effect of Chlorella vulgaris on Growth and Photosynthetic Pigment Content in Swiss Chard (Beta vulgaris L. subsp. cicla). *Pol J Microbiol* 69, 1-4.10.33073/pjm-2020-023.
- Haldar, S., and Sengupta, S. (2015). Plant-microbe Cross-talk in the Rhizosphere: Insight and Biotechnological Potential. *Open Microbiol J* **9**, 1-7.10.2174/1874285801509010001.
- Hammad, H. M., Chawla, M. S., Jawad, R., Alhuqail, A., Bakhat, H. F., Farhad, W., Khan, F., Mubeen, M., Shah, A. N., Liu, K., Harrison, M. T., Saud, S., and Fahad, S. (2022). Evaluating the Impact of Nitrogen Application on Growth and Productivity of Maize Under Control Conditions. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 13.10.3389/fpls.2022.885479.
- Han, P., Lu, Q., Fan, L., and Zhou, W. (2019). A Review on the Use of Microalgae for Sustainable Aquaculture. *Applied Sciences* 9, 2377

Han, X., and Kahmann, R. (2019). Manipulation of Phytohormone Pathways by Effectors of Filamentous Plant Pathogens. *Frontiers in Plant Science* **10**.10.3389/fpls.2019.00822.

- Harman, G., Khadka, R., Doni, F., and Uphoff, N. (2021). Benefits to Plant Health and Productivity From Enhancing Plant Microbial Symbionts. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11.10.3389/fpls.2020.610065.
- Hartmann, A., Klink, S., and Rothballer, M. (2021). Importance of N-Acyl-Homoserine Lactone-Based Quorum Sensing and Quorum Quenching in Pathogen Control and Plant Growth Promotion. *Pathogens* 10, 1561
- Hasanuzzaman, M., Hossain, M. A., da Silva, J. A. T., and Fujita, M. (2012). Plant Response and Tolerance to Abiotic Oxidative Stress: Antioxidant Defense Is a Key Factor. *In* "Crop Stress and its Management: Perspectives and Strategies" (B. Venkateswarlu, A. K. Shanker, C. Shanker and M. Maheswari, eds.), pp. 261-315. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.10.1007/978-94-007-2220-0_8.
- Hashtroudi, M. S., Ghassempour, A., Riahi, H., Shariatmadari, Z., and Khanjir, M. (2012). Endogenous auxins in plant growthpromoting Cyanobacteria—Anabaena vaginicola and Nostoc calcicola. *Journal of Applied Phycology* 25, 379-386.10.1007/s10811-012-9872-7.
- Hempel, N., Petrick, I., and Behrendt, F. (2012). Biomass productivity and productivity of fatty acids and amino acids of microalgae strains as key characteristics of suitability for biodiesel production. *Journal of Applied Phycology* 24, 1407-1418.10.1007/s10811-012-9795-3.
- Hernández-Carlos, B., and Gamboa-Angulo, M. M. (2011). Metabolites from freshwater aquatic microalgae and fungi as potential natural pesticides. *Phytochemistry Reviews* 10, 261-286.10.1007/s11101-010-9192-y.
- Hibbing, M. E., Fuqua, C., Parsek, M. R., and Peterson, S. B. (2010). Bacterial competition: surviving and thriving in the microbial jungle. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 8, 15-25.10.1038/nrmicro2259.
- Holajjer, P., Kamra, A., Gaur, H. S., and Manjunath, M. (2013). Potential of cyanobacteria for biorational management of plant

parasitic nematodes: A review. *Crop Protection* **53**, 147-151.10.1016/j.cropro.2013.07.005.

- Holz, M., Zarebanadkouki, M., Carminati, A., Hovind, J., Kaestner, A., and Spohn, M. (2019). Increased water retention in the rhizosphere allows for high phosphatase activity in drying soil. *Plant and Soil* **443**, 259-271.10.1007/s11104-019-04234-3.
- Holz, M., Zarebanadkouki, M., Kaestner, A., Kuzyakov, Y., and Carminati, A. (2018). Rhizodeposition under drought is controlled by root growth rate and rhizosphere water content. *Plant and Soil* **423**, 429-442.10.1007/s11104-017-3522-4.
- Horácio, E. H., Zucareli, C., Gavilanes, F. Z., Yunes, J. S., Sanzovo,
 A. W. d. S., and Andrade, D. S. (2020). Co-inoculation of rhizobia, azospirilla and cyanobacteria for increasing common bean production. *Semina: Ciências Agrárias*, 2015-2028.10.5433/1679-0359.2020v41n5sup11p2015.
- Hou, Q., and Kolodkin-Gal, I. (2020). Harvesting the complex pathways of antibiotic production and resistance of soil bacilli for optimizing plant microbiome. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 96.10.1093/femsec/fiaa142.
- Hungria, M., Barbosa, J. Z., Rondina, A. B. L., and Nogueira, M. A. (2022). Improving maize sustainability with partial replacement of N fertilizers by inoculation with Azospirillum brasilense. *Agronomy Journal* **114**, 2969-2980.<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/agj2.21150</u>.
- Hussain, A., and Hasnain, S. (2011). Phytostimulation and biofertilization in wheat by cyanobacteria. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology* **38**, 85-92.10.1007/s10295-010-0833-3.
- Hwang, H. H., Yu, M., and Lai, E. M. (2017). Agrobacteriummediated plant transformation: biology and applications. *Arabidopsis Book* **15**, e0186.10.1199/tab.0186.
- ISO (1996). Water quality Determination of nitrite nitrogen and nitrate nitrogen and the sum of both by flow analysis (CFA and FIA) and spectrometric detection.
- Jaiswal, S. K., Mohammed, M., Ibny, F. Y. I., and Dakora, F. D. (2021). Rhizobia as a Source of Plant Growth-Promoting Molecules: Potential Applications and Possible Operational

Mechanisms. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* **4**.10.3389/fsufs.2020.619676.

- Jimenez, R., Markou, G., Tayibi, S., Barakat, A., Chapsal, C., and Monlau, F. (2020). Production of Microalgal Slow-Release Fertilizer by Valorizing Liquid Agricultural Digestate: Growth Experiments with Tomatoes. *Applied Sciences* 10, 3890
- John, R. P., Tyagi, R. D., Brar, S. K., Surampalli, R. Y., and Prévost, D. (2011). Bio-encapsulation of microbial cells for targeted agricultural delivery. *Crit Rev Biotechnol* **31**, 211-26.10.3109/07388551.2010.513327.
- Jones, J. D. G., Vance, R. E., and Dangl, J. L. (2016). Intracellular innate immune surveillance devices in plants and animals. *Science* **354**.10.1126/science.aaf6395.
- Kang, Y., Kim, M., Shim, C., Bae, S., and Jang, S. (2021a). Potential of Algae-Bacteria Synergistic Effects on Vegetable Production. *Front Plant Sci* 12, 656662.10.3389/fpls.2021.656662.
- Kang, Y., Kim, M., Shim, C., Bae, S., and Jang, S. (2021b). Potential of Algae–Bacteria Synergistic Effects on Vegetable Production. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 12.10.3389/fpls.2021.656662.
- Kapoore, R. V., Wood, E. E., and Llewellyn, C. A. (2021). Algae biostimulants: A critical look at microalgal biostimulants for sustainable agricultural practices. *Biotechnol Adv* 49, 107754.10.1016/j.biotechadv.2021.107754.
- Karthikeyan, N., Prasanna, R., Nain, L., and Kaushik, B. D. (2007).
 Evaluating the potential of plant growth promoting cyanobacteria as inoculants for wheat. *European Journal of Soil Biology* 43, 23-

30.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2006.11.001.

Katoh, H., Furukawa, J., Tomita-Yokotani, K., and Nishi, Y. (2012). Isolation and purification of an axenic diazotrophic droughttolerant cyanobacterium, Nostoc commune, from natural cyanobacterial crusts and its utilization for field research on soils polluted with radioisotopes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics* 1817, 1499-1505.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.02.039.

- Kaushik, B. (2014). Developments in cyanobacterial biofertilizer. *In* "Proc Indian Nat Sci Acad", Vol. 80, pp. 379-388.
- Kennett, D. J., Prufer, K. M., Culleton, B. J., George, R. J., Robinson, M., Trask, W. R., Buckley, G. M., Moes, E., Kate, E. J., Harper, T. K., O'Donnell, L., Ray, E. E., Hill, E. C., Alsgaard, A., Merriman, C., Meredith, C., Edgar, H. J. H., Awe, J. J., and Gutierrez, S. M. (2020). Early isotopic evidence for maize as a staple grain in the Americas. *Science Advances* 6, eaba3245.doi:10.1126/sciadv.aba3245.
- Keren-Paz, A., and Kolodkin-Gal, I. (2020). A brick in the wall: Discovering a novel mineral component of the biofilm extracellular matrix. *New Biotechnology* **56**, 9-15.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2019.11.002.
- Khalil, A. T., and Shinwari, Z. K. (2022). Utilization of Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria (PGPB) Against Phytopathogens. *In* "Antifungal Metabolites of Rhizobacteria for Sustainable Agriculture" (R. Z. Sayyed, A. Singh and N. Ilyas, eds.), pp. 53-63. Springer International Publishing, Cham.10.1007/978-3-031-04805-0_3.
- Khan, M. I., Shin, J. H., and Kim, J. D. (2018). The promising future of microalgae: current status, challenges, and optimization of a sustainable and renewable industry for biofuels, feed, and other products. *Microbial Cell Factories* 17, 36.10.1186/s12934-018-0879-x.
- Khan, M. Y., Nadeem, S. M., Sohaib, M., Waqas, M. R., Alotaibi, F., Ali, L., Zahir, Z. A., and Al-Barakah, F. N. I. (2022). Potential of plant growth promoting bacterial consortium for improving the growth and yield of wheat under saline conditions. *Front Microbiol* 13, 958522.10.3389/fmicb.2022.958522.
- Khan, N., Ali, S., Shahid, M. A., Mustafa, A., Sayyed, R. Z., and Curá, J. A. (2021). Insights into the Interactions among Roots, Rhizosphere, and Rhizobacteria for Improving Plant Growth and Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses: A Review. *Cells* 10.10.3390/cells10061551.
- Khatoon, Z., Huang, S., Rafique, M., Fakhar, A., Kamran, M. A., and Santoyo, G. (2020). Unlocking the potential of plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria on soil health and the sustainability of

agricultural systems. *Journal of Environmental Management* **273**, 111118.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111118</u>.

- Kholssi, R., Marks, E. A. N., Miñón, J., Maté, A. P., Sacristán, G., Montero, O., Debdoubi, A., and Rad, C. (2021). A consortium of cyanobacteria and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria for wheat growth improvement in a hydroponic system. *South African Journal of Botany* 142, 247-258.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2021.06.035.
- Kim, B. H., Ramanan, R., Cho, D. H., Oh, H. M., and Kim, H. S. (2014). Role of Rhizobium, a plant growth promoting bacterium, in enhancing algal biomass through mutualistic interaction. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 69, 95-105.10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.07.015.
- Kior, A., Sukhov, V., and Sukhova, E. (2021). Application of Reflectance Indices for Remote Sensing of Plants and Revealing Actions of Stressors. *Photonics* 8, 582
- Kollmen, J., and Strieth, D. (2022). The Beneficial Effects of Cyanobacterial Co-Culture on Plant Growth. *Life (Basel)* 12.10.3390/life12020223.
- Kopta, T., PavlÍKovÁ, M., SĘKara, A., Pokluda, R., and MarŠÁLek, B. (2018). Effect of Bacterial-algal Biostimulant on the Yield and Internal Quality of Lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) Produced for Spring and Summer Crop. Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca 46, 615-621.10.15835/nbha46211110.
- Koza, N. A., Adedayo, A. A., Babalola, O. O., and Kappo, A. P. (2022). Microorganisms in Plant Growth and Development: Roles in Abiotic Stress Tolerance and Secondary Metabolites Secretion. *Microorganisms* 10.10.3390/microorganisms10081528.
- Kumar, H., Dubey, R. C., and Maheshwari, D. K. (2017). Seed-coating fenugreek with Burkholderia rhizobacteria enhances yield in field trials and can combat Fusarium wilt. *Rhizosphere* 3, 92-99.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhisph.2017.01.004</u>.
- Kumar, M., Poonam, Ahmad, S., and Singh, R. P. (2022a). Plant growth promoting microbes: Diverse roles for sustainable and ecofriendly agriculture. *Energy Nexus* 7, 100133.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nexus.2022.100133</u>.

Kumar, S., Diksha, Sindhu, S. S., and Kumar, R. (2022b). Biofertilizers: An ecofriendly technology for nutrient recycling and environmental sustainability. *Current Research in Microbial Sciences* 3, 100004 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ampion.2021.100004

100094.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100094</u>.

- Kusvuran, A., and Kusvuran, S. (2019). Using of Microbial Fertilizer as Biostimulant Alleviates Damage from Drought Stress in Guar (Cyamopsis Tetragonoloba (L.) Taub.) Seedlings. *International Letters of Natural Sciences* 76, 147-157.10.18052/www.scipress.com/ILNS.76.147.
- Lauritano, C., Rizzo, C., Lo Giudice, A., and Saggiomo, M. (2020). Physiological and Molecular Responses to Main Environmental Stressors of Microalgae and Bacteria in Polar Marine Environments. *Microorganisms* **8**, 1957
- Lee, S. M., and Ryu, C. M. (2021). Algae as New Kids in the Beneficial Plant Microbiome. *Front Plant Sci* **12**, 599742.10.3389/fpls.2021.599742.
- Li, H., Zhao, Y., and Jiang, X. (2019). Seed soaking with Bacillus sp. strain HX-2 alleviates negative effects of drought stress on maize seedlings. *Chilean journal of agricultural research* 79, 396-404
- Li, J., Wang, C., Liang, W., and Liu, S. (2021). Rhizosphere Microbiome: The Emerging Barrier in Plant-Pathogen Interactions. *Front Microbiol* **12**, 772420.10.3389/fmicb.2021.772420.
- Li, R., Tao, R., Ling, N., and Chu, G. (2017). Chemical, organic and bio-fertilizer management practices effect on soil physicochemical property and antagonistic bacteria abundance of a cotton field: Implications for soil biological quality. *Soil* and Tillage Research **167**, 30-38.10.1016/j.still.2016.11.001.
- Lian, J., Wijffels, R. H., Smidt, H., and Sipkema, D. (2018). The effect of the algal microbiome on industrial production of microalgae. *Microb Biotechnol* **11**, 806-818.10.1111/1751-7915.13296.
- Liang, Y., Urano, D., Liao, K.-L., Hedrick, T. L., Gao, Y., and Jones, A. M. (2017). A nondestructive method to estimate the chlorophyll content of Arabidopsis seedlings. *Plant Methods* 13, 26.10.1186/s13007-017-0174-6.

- Liu, H., Brettell, L. E., Qiu, Z., and Singh, B. K. (2020). Microbiome-Mediated Stress Resistance in Plants. *Trends Plant Sci* 25, 733-743.10.1016/j.tplants.2020.03.014.
- Liu, H., Zhou, Y., Xiao, W., Ji, L., Cao, X., and Song, C. (2012). Shifting nutrient-mediated interactions between algae and bacteria in a microcosm: evidence from alkaline phosphatase assay. *Microbiol Res* 167, 292-8.10.1016/j.micres.2011.10.005.
- Liu, X., Mei, S., and Salles, J. F. (2023). Inoculated microbial consortia perform better than single strains in living soil: A meta-analysis. *Applied Soil Ecology* **190**, 105011.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2023.105011.
- Lu, Y., and Xu, J. (2015). Phytohormones in microalgae: a new opportunity for microalgal biotechnology? *Trends in Plant Science* **20**, 273-

282.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2015.01.006</u>.

- Lugtenberg, B. (2015). Introduction to Plant-Microbe Interactions. *In* "Principles of Plant-Microbe Interactions: Microbes for Sustainable Agriculture" (B. Lugtenberg, ed.), pp. 1-2. Springer International Publishing, Cham.10.1007/978-3-319-08575-3_1.
- Luo, L., Zhang, Y., and Xu, G. (2020). How does nitrogen shape plant architecture? *J Exp Bot* **71**, 4415-4427.10.1093/jxb/eraa187.
- Mäder, P., Kaiser, F., Adholeya, A., Singh, R., Uppal, H. S., Sharma, A. K., Srivastava, R., Sahai, V., Aragno, M., Wiemken, A., Johri, B. N., and Fried, P. M. (2011). Inoculation of root microorganisms for sustainable wheat–rice and wheat–black gram rotations in India. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 43, 609-619.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.11.031</u>.
- Mager, D. M., and Thomas, A. D. (2011). Extracellular polysaccharides from cyanobacterial soil crusts: A review of their role in dryland soil processes. *Journal of Arid Environments* **75**, 91-97.10.1016/j.jaridenv.2010.10.001.
- Mahanty, T., Bhattacharjee, S., Goswami, M., Bhattacharyya, P., Das, B., Ghosh, A., and Tribedi, P. (2017). Biofertilizers: a potential approach for sustainable agriculture development.

Environ Sci Pollut Res Int **24**, 3315-3335.10.1007/s11356-016-8104-0.

- Maheshwari, D. K., Dheeman, S., and Agarwal, M. (2015).
 Phytohormone-Producing PGPR for Sustainable Agriculture. *In* "Bacterial Metabolites in Sustainable Agroecosystem" (D. K. Maheshwari, ed.), pp. 159-182. Springer International Publishing, Cham.10.1007/978-3-319-24654-3_7.
- Mahmud, K., Missaoui, A., Lee, K., Ghimire, B., Presley, H. W., and Makaju, S. (2021). Rhizosphere microbiome manipulation for sustainable crop production. *Current Plant Biology* 27, 100210.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpb.2021.100210.
- Majdura, J., Jankiewicz, U., Gałązka, A., and Orzechowski, S. (2023). The Role of Quorum Sensing Molecules in Bacterial-Plant Interactions. *Metabolites* **13**.10.3390/metabo13010114.
- Malam Issa, O., Défarge, C., Le Bissonnais, Y., Marin, B., Duval, O., Bruand, A., D'Acqui, L. P., Nordenberg, S., and Annerman, M. (2007). Effects of the inoculation of cyanobacteria on the microstructure and the structural stability of a tropical soil. *Plant and Soil* 290, 209-219.10.1007/s11104-006-9153-9.
- Manjunath, M., Kanchan, A., Ranjan, K., Venkatachalam, S., Prasanna, R., Ramakrishnan, B., Hossain, F., Nain, L., Shivay, Y. S., Rai, A. B., and Singh, B. (2016). Beneficial cyanobacteria and eubacteria synergistically enhance bioavailability of soil nutrients and yield of okra. *Heliyon* 2, e00066.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2016.e00066</u>.
- Manjunath, M., Prasanna, R., Sharma, P., Nain, L., and Singh, R. (2011). Developing PGPR consortia using novel genera Providencia and Alcaligenes along with cyanobacteria for wheat. Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science 57, 873-887.10.1080/03650340.2010.499902.
- Marcial-Coba, M. S., Soria-Delgado, L., and Yánez-Altuna, J. M. (2021). Encapsulation Technologies of Plant Growth-Promoting Microorganisms and Microbial Biological Control Agents Against Plant Pathogenic Organisms. *In* "Annual Plant Reviews online", pp. 397-

436.<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119312994.apr0731</u>.

Marks, E. A. N., Montero, O., and Rad, C. (2019). The biostimulating effects of viable microalgal cells applied to a calcareous soil:

Increases in bacterial biomass, phosphorus scavenging, and precipitation of carbonates. *Sci Total Environ* **692**, 784-790.10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.289.

- Martin, B. C., George, S. J., Price, C. A., Ryan, M. H., and Tibbett, M. (2014). The role of root exuded low molecular weight organic anions in facilitating petroleum hydrocarbon degradation: current knowledge and future directions. *Sci Total Environ* 472, 642-53.10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.11.050.
- Massa, F., Defez, R., and Bianco, C. (2022). Exploitation of Plant Growth Promoting Bacteria for Sustainable Agriculture: Hierarchical Approach to Link Laboratory and Field Experiments. *Microorganisms* 10.10.3390/microorganisms10050865.
- Matsuo, O., Zucareli, C., Horácio, E. H., Alves, L. A. R., and Saab, O. J. G. A. (2022). Co-inoculation of Anabaena cylindrica and Azospirillum brasilense during initial growth and chloroplast pigments of corn. *Revista Brasileira de Engenharia Agricola e Ambiental* 26, 97-102.10.1590/1807-1929/AGRIAMBI.V26N2P97-102.
- Mattos, M. L. T., Valgas, R. A., and Martins, J. F. d. S. (2022).
 Evaluation of the Agronomic Efficiency of Azospirillum brasilense Strains Ab-V5 and Ab-V6 in Flood-Irrigated Rice.
 Agronomy 12, 3047
- Meena, M., Swapnil, P., Divyanshu, K., Kumar, S., Harish, Tripathi, Y. N., Zehra, A., Marwal, A., and Upadhyay, R. S. (2020a).
 PGPR-mediated induction of systemic resistance and physiochemical alterations in plants against the pathogens: Current perspectives. *J Basic Microbiol* 60, 828-861.10.1002/jobm.202000370.
- Meena, R. S., Kumar, S., Datta, R., Lal, R., Vijayakumar, V., Brtnicky, M., Sharma, M. P., Yadav, G. S., Jhariya, M. K., Jangir, C. K., Pathan, S. I., Dokulilova, T., Pecina, V., and Marfo, T. D. (2020b). Impact of Agrochemicals on Soil Microbiota and Management: A Review. Land 9, 34
- Mendes, R., Garbeva, P., and Raaijmakers, J. M. (2013). The rhizosphere microbiome: significance of plant beneficial, plant pathogenic, and human pathogenic microorganisms. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* **37**, 634-63.10.1111/1574-6976.12028.

- Mendiburu, F. e. d. (2023). "Agricolae: Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research (version 1.3-6),"
- Mercado-Blanco, J. (2015). Pseudomonas Strains that Exert Biocontrol of Plant Pathogens. *In* "Pseudomonas: Volume 7: New Aspects of Pseudomonas Biology" (J.-L. Ramos, J. B. Goldberg and A. Filloux, eds.), pp. 121-172. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.10.1007/978-94-017-9555-5_6.
- Michalak, I., and Chojnacka, K. (2015a). Algae as production systems of bioactive compounds. *Engineering in Life Sciences* **15**
- Michalak, I., and Chojnacka, K. J. (2015b). Algae as production systems of bioactive compounds. *Engineering in Life Sciences* **15**
- Mishra, J., and Arora, N. K. (2016). Bioformulations for Plant Growth Promotion and Combating Phytopathogens: A Sustainable Approach. *In* "Bioformulations: for Sustainable Agriculture" (N. K. Arora, S. Mehnaz and R. Balestrini, eds.), pp. 3-33. Springer India, New Delhi.10.1007/978-81-322-2779-3_1.
- Moore, J. A. M., Sulman, B. N., Mayes, M. A., Patterson, C. M., and Classen, A. T. (2020). Plant roots stimulate the decomposition of complex, but not simple, soil carbon. *Functional Ecology* 34, 899-910.<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13510</u>.
- Muhammad, M. H., Idris, A. L., Fan, X., Guo, Y., Yu, Y., Jin, X., Qiu, J., Guan, X., and Huang, T. (2020). Beyond Risk: Bacterial Biofilms and Their Regulating Approaches. *Front Microbiol* 11, 928.10.3389/fmicb.2020.00928.
- Mujtaba, G., and Lee, K. (2016). Advanced Treatment of Wastewater Using Symbiotic Co-culture of Microalgae and Bacteria. *Applied Chemistry for Engineering* 27, 1-9.10.14478/ace.2016.1002.
- Múnera-Porras, L. M., García-Londoño, S., and Ríos-Osorio, L. A. (2020). Action Mechanisms of Plant Growth Promoting Cyanobacteria in Crops In Situ: A Systematic Review of Literature. *International Journal of Agronomy* 2020, 2690410.10.1155/2020/2690410.
- Munir, N., Hanif, M., Abideen, Z., Sohail, M., El-Keblawy, A., Radicetti, E., Mancinelli, R., and Haider, G. (2022).

Mechanisms and Strategies of Plant Microbiome Interactions to Mitigate Abiotic Stresses. *Agronomy* **12**, 2069

- Mushongi, A. A., Derera, J., Tongoona, P., and Lyimo, N. G. (2013). Generation mean analysis of leaf chlorophyll concentration from mid-silking to physiological maturity in some tropical maize (Zea mays L.) genotypes under low and high nitrogen dosages. *Euphytica* 189, 111-122.10.1007/s10681-012-0731z.
- Mutale-Joan, C., Sbabou, L., and Hicham, E. A. (2023). Microalgae and Cyanobacteria: How Exploiting These Microbial Resources Can Address the Underlying Challenges Related to Food Sources and Sustainable Agriculture: A Review. *Journal* of Plant Growth Regulation 42, 1-20.10.1007/s00344-021-10534-9.
- Mutum, L., Janda, T., Ördög, V., and Molnár, Z. (2022). Biologia Futura: potential of different forms of microalgae for soil improvement. *Biologia Futura* **73**, 1-8.10.1007/s42977-021-00103-2.
- Nain, L., Rana, A., Joshi, M., Jadhav, S. D., Kumar, D., Shivay, Y. S., Paul, S., and Prasanna, R. (2010). Evaluation of synergistic effects of bacterial and cyanobacterial strains as biofertilizers for wheat. *Plant and Soil* **331**, 217-230.10.1007/s11104-009-0247-z.
- Nakkeeran, S., Fernando, W. G. D., and Siddiqui, Z. A. (2006). Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria Formulations and its Scope in Commercialization for the Management of Pests and Diseases. *In* "PGPR: Biocontrol and Biofertilization" (Z. A. Siddiqui, ed.), pp. 257-296. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.10.1007/1-4020-4152-7_10.
- Nandagopal, P., Steven, A. N., Chan, L.-W., Rahmat, Z., Jamaluddin, H., and Mohd Noh, N. I. (2021). Bioactive Metabolites
 Produced by Cyanobacteria for Growth Adaptation and Their Pharmacological Properties. *Biology* 10, 1061
- Naqqash, T., Malik, K. A., Imran, A., Hameed, S., Shahid, M., Hanif, M. K., Majeed, A., Iqbal, M. J., Qaisrani, M. M., and van Elsas, J. D. (2022). Inoculation With Azospirillum spp. Acts as the Liming Source for Improving Growth and Nitrogen Use

Efficiency of Potato. *Frontiers in Plant Science* **13**.10.3389/fpls.2022.929114.

Nichols, K., Olson, M., and Ayers, A. D. (2020). Microalgae as a beneficial soil amendment. *Arizona: MyLand Compani LLC*

- Nihorimbere, V., Ongena, M., Smargiassi, M., and Thonart, P. (2011). Beneficial effect of the rhizosphere microbial community for plant growth and health. *Biotechnologie, Agronomie, Société et Environnement* **15**
- Nilde Antonella Di, B., Maria Rosaria, C., Daniela, C., Mariagrazia Pia, C., Antonio, B., Milena, S., and Zina, F. (2017). The role of Plant Growth Promoting Bacteria in improving nitrogen use efficiency for sustainable crop production: a focus on wheat. *AIMS Microbiology* 3, 413-434.10.3934/microbiol.2017.3.413.
- Niu, B., Wang, W., Yuan, Z., Sederoff, R. R., Sederoff, H., Chiang, V. L., and Borriss, R. (2020). Microbial Interactions Within Multiple-Strain Biological Control Agents Impact Soil-Borne Plant Disease. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 11.10.3389/fmicb.2020.585404.
- Niu, D.-D., Zheng, Y., Zheng, L., Jiang, C.-H., Zhou, D.-M., and Guo, J.-H. (2016). Application of PSX biocontrol preparation confers root-knot nematode management and increased fruit quality in tomato under field conditions. *Biocontrol Science and Technology* 26, 174-180-10 1020/00522157 2015 1095480

180.10.1080/09583157.2015.1085489.

- Obana, S., Miyamoto, K., Morita, S., Ohmori, M., and Inubushi, K. (2007). Effect of Nostoc sp. on soil characteristics, plant growth and nutrient uptake. *Journal of Applied Phycology* **19**, 641-646.10.1007/s10811-007-9193-4.
- Oleńska, E., Małek, W., Wójcik, M., Swiecicka, I., Thijs, S., and Vangronsveld, J. (2020). Beneficial features of plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria for improving plant growth and health in challenging conditions: A methodical review. *Science of The Total Environment* **743**, 140682.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140682.
- Omer, A. M., Osman, M. S., and Badawy, A. A. (2022). Inoculation with Azospirillum brasilense and/or Pseudomonas geniculata reinforces flax (Linum usitatissimum) growth by improving

physiological activities under saline soil conditions. *Bot Stud* **63**, 15.10.1186/s40529-022-00345-w.

Ördög, V. (1982). Apparatus for laboratory algal bioassay.

Ördög, V., Stirk, W. A., Takács, G., Pőthe, P., Illés, Á., Bojtor, C., Széles, A., Tóth, B., van Staden, J., and Nagy, J. (2021). Plant biostimulating effects of the cyanobacterium Nostoc piscinale on maize (Zea mays L.) in field experiments. *South African Journal of Botany* 140, 153-160 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soib.2021.03.026

160.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2021.03.026</u>.

- Orozco-Mosqueda, M. d. C., Fadiji, A. E., Babalola, O. O., Glick, B. R., and Santoyo, G. (2022). Rhizobiome engineering: Unveiling complex rhizosphere interactions to enhance plant growth and health. *Microbiological Research* **263**, 127137.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2022.127137.
- Palacios, O. A., Gomez-Anduro, G., Bashan, Y., and de-Bashan, L. E. (2016). Tryptophan, thiamine and indole-3-acetic acid exchange between Chlorella sorokiniana and the plant growthpromoting bacterium Azospirillum brasilense. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 92, fiw077.10.1093/femsec/fiw077.
- Pandey, A. K., Zorić, L., Sun, T., Karanović, D., Fang, P., Borišev, M., Wu, X., Luković, J., and Xu, P. (2022). The Anatomical Basis of Heavy Metal Responses in Legumes and Their Impact on Plant–Rhizosphere Interactions. *Plants* 11, 2554
- Pandey, C., Dheeman, S., Prabha, D., Negi, Y. K., and Maheshwari, D. K. (2021). Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria: Effective Tools for Increasing Nutrient Use Efficiency and Yield of Crops. *In* "Endophytes: Mineral Nutrient Management, Volume 3" (D. K. Maheshwari and S. Dheeman, eds.), pp. 293-313. Springer International Publishing, Cham.10.1007/978-3-030-65447-4_13.
- Pandey, R. K., Maranville, J. W., and Admou, A. (2000). Deficit irrigation and nitrogen effects on maize in a Sahelian environment: I. Grain yield and yield components. *Agricultural Water Management* 46, 1-13.https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-3774(00)00073-1.
- Pankaj, U., & , and Pandey, V. (2022). "Microbial Based Land Restoration: Plant-Microbial Interaction and Soil Remediation

" 1st Edition/Ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003147091.

- Pantigoso, H. A., Newberger, D., and Vivanco, J. M. (2022). The rhizosphere microbiome: Plant-microbial interactions for resource acquisition. *J Appl Microbiol* 133, 2864-2876.10.1111/jam.15686.
- Pathak, J., Rajneesh, Maurya, P. K., Singh, S. P., Häder, D.-P., and Sinha, R. P. (2018). Cyanobacterial Farming for Environment Friendly Sustainable Agriculture Practices: Innovations and Perspectives. *Frontiers in Environmental Science* 6.10.3389/fenvs.2018.00007.
- Paul, K., Sorrentino, M., Lucini, L., Rouphael, Y., Cardarelli, M., Bonini, P., Miras Moreno, M. B., Reynaud, H., Canaguier, R., Trtilek, M., Panzarova, K., and Colla, G. (2019). A Combined Phenotypic and Metabolomic Approach for Elucidating the Biostimulant Action of a Plant-Derived Protein Hydrolysate on Tomato Grown Under Limited Water Availability. *Front Plant Sci* 10, 493.10.3389/fpls.2019.00493.
- Pérez-Montaño, F., Alías-Villegas, C., Bellogín, R. A., del Cerro, P., Espuny, M. R., Jiménez-Guerrero, I., López-Baena, F. J., Ollero, F. J., and Cubo, T. (2014). Plant growth promotion in cereal and leguminous agricultural important plants: From microorganism capacities to crop production. *Microbiological Research* 169, 325-

336.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2013.09.011</u>.

- Pershina, E. V., Ivanova, E. A., Nagieva, A. G., Zhiengaliev, A. T., Chirak, E. L., Andronov, E. E., and Sergaliev, N. K. (2016). A comparative analysis of microbiomes in natural and anthropogenically disturbed soils of northwestern Kazakhstan. *Eurasian Soil Science* **49**, 673-684.10.1134/S1064229316060090.
- Pierik, R., Tholen, D., Poorter, H., Visser, E. J. W., and Voesenek, L. A. C. J. (2006). The Janus face of ethylene: growth inhibition and stimulation. *Trends in Plant Science* 11, 176-183.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2006.02.006</u>.
- Pieterse, C. M. J., Leon-Reyes, A., Van der Ent, S., and Van Wees, S. C. M. (2009). Networking by small-molecule hormones in

plant immunity. *Nature Chemical Biology* **5**, 308-316.10.1038/nchembio.164.

- Pieterse, C. M. J., Zamioudis, C., Berendsen, R. L., Weller, D. M., Wees, S. C. M. V., and Bakker, P. A. H. M. (2014). Induced Systemic Resistance by Beneficial Microbes. *Annual Review* of Phytopathology 52, 347-375.10.1146/annurev-phyto-082712-102340.
- Plaza, B. M., Gómez-Serrano, C., Acién-Fernández, F. G., and Jimenez-Becker, S. (2018). Effect of microalgae hydrolysate foliar application (Arthrospira platensis and Scenedesmus sp.) on Petunia x hybrida growth. *Journal of Applied Phycology* 30, 2359-2365.10.1007/s10811-018-1427-0.
- Poole, N., Donovan, J., and Erenstein, O. (2021). Viewpoint: Agrinutrition research: Revisiting the contribution of maize and wheat to human nutrition and health. *Food Policy* 100, 101976.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2020.101976</u>.
- Poria, V., Dębiec-Andrzejewska, K., Fiodor, A., Lyzohub, M., Ajijah, N., Singh, S., and Pranaw, K. (2022). Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria (PGPB) integrated phytotechnology: A sustainable approach for remediation of marginal lands. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 13.10.3389/fpls.2022.999866.
- Prasanna, R., Chaudhary, V., Gupta, V., Babu, S., Kumar, A., Singh, R., Shivay, Y. S., and Nain, L. (2013). Cyanobacteria mediated plant growth promotion and bioprotection against Fusarium wilt in tomato. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **136**, 337-353.10.1007/s10658-013-0167-x.
- Prasanna, R., Hossain, F., Babu, S., Bidyarani, N., Adak, A., Verma, S., Shivay, Y. S., and Nain, L. (2015). Prospecting cyanobacterial formulations as plant-growth-promoting agents for maize hybrids. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil* 32, 199-207.10.1080/02571862.2015.1025444.
- Prasanna, R., Hossain, F., Saxena, G., Singh, B., Kanchan, A., Simranjit, K., Ramakrishnan, B., Ranjan, K., Muthusamy, V., and Shivay, Y. S. (2021). Analyses of genetic variability and genotype x cyanobacteria interactions in biofortified maize (Zea mays L.) for their responses to plant growth and physiological attributes. *European Journal of Agronomy* 130, 126343.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2021.126343</u>.

- Prasanna, R., Joshi, M., Rana, A., Shivay, Y. S., and Nain, L. (2012). Influence of co-inoculation of bacteria-cyanobacteria on crop yield and C–N sequestration in soil under rice crop. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 28, 1223-1235.10.1007/s11274-011-0926-9.
- Prasanna, R., Kanchan, A., Kaur, S., Ramakrishnan, B., Ranjan, K., Singh, M. C., Hasan, M., Saxena, A. K., and Shivay, Y. S. (2016a). Chrysanthemum Growth Gains from Beneficial Microbial Interactions and Fertility Improvements in Soil Under Protected Cultivation. *Horticultural Plant Journal* 2, 229-239.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hpj.2016.08.008</u>.
- Prasanna, R., Kanchan, A., Ramakrishnan, B., Ranjan, K., Venkatachalam, S., Hossain, F., Shivay, Y. S., Krishnan, P., and Nain, L. (2016b). Cyanobacteria-based bioinoculants influence growth and yields by modulating the microbial communities favourably in the rhizospheres of maize hybrids. *European Journal of Soil Biology* **75**, 15-23.10.1016/j.ejsobi.2016.04.001.
- Prasanna, R., Ramakrishnan, B., Simranjit, K., Ranjan, K., Kanchan, A., Hossain, F., and Nain, L. (2017). Cyanobacterial and rhizobial inoculation modulates the plant physiological attributes and nodule microbial communities of chickpea. *Arch Microbiol* **199**, 1311-1323.10.1007/s00203-017-1405-y.
- Prasanna, R., Triveni, S., Bidyarani, N., Babu, S., Yadav, K., Adak, A., Khetarpal, S., Pal, M., Shivay, Y. S., and Saxena, A. K. (2014). Evaluating the efficacy of cyanobacterial formulations and biofilmed inoculants for leguminous crops. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science* **60**, 349-366.10.1080/03650340.2013.792407.
- Puglisi, I., Barone, V., Sidella, S., Coppa, M., Broccanello, C., Gennari, M., and Baglieri, A. (2018). Biostimulant activity of humic-like substances from agro-industrial waste on Chlorella vulgaris and Scenedesmus quadricauda. *European Journal of Phycology* 53, 433-442.10.1080/09670262.2018.1458997.
- Quijano, G., Arcila, J. S., and Buitrón, G. (2017). Microalgalbacterial aggregates: Applications and perspectives for wastewater treatment. *Biotechnology Advances* 35, 772-781.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2017.07.003</u>.

- R Core Team, R. (2013). R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Rachidi, F., Benhima, R., Sbabou, L., and El Arroussi, H. (2020). Microalgae polysaccharides bio-stimulating effect on tomato plants: Growth and metabolic distribution. *Biotechnology Reports* 25,

e00426.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2020.e00426</u>.

- Ramakrishnan, B., Maddela, N. R., Venkateswarlu, K., and Megharaj, M. (2023). Potential of microalgae and cyanobacteria to improve soil health and agricultural productivity: a critical view. *Environmental Science: Advances* 2, 586-611.10.1039/D2VA00158F.
- Rana, A., Kabi, S. R., Verma, S., Adak, A., Pal, M., Shivay, Y. S., Prasanna, R., and Nain, L. (2015). Prospecting plant growth promoting bacteria and cyanobacteria as options for enrichment of macro- and micronutrients in grains in rice– wheat cropping sequence. *Cogent Food & Agriculture* 1, 1037379.10.1080/23311932.2015.1037379.
- Ranjan, K., Priya, H., Ramakrishnan, B., Prasanna, R., Venkatachalam, S., Thapa, S., Tiwari, R., Nain, L., Singh, R., and Shivay, Y. S. (2016). Cyanobacterial inoculation modifies the rhizosphere microbiome of rice planted to a tropical alluvial soil. *Applied Soil Ecology* **108**, 195-203.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2016.08.010</u>.
- Rashid, M. I., Mujawar, L. H., Shahzad, T., Almeelbi, T., Ismail, I. M. I., and Oves, M. (2016). Bacteria and fungi can contribute to nutrients bioavailability and aggregate formation in degraded soils. *Microbiological Research* 183, 26-41.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2015.11.007</u>.
- Reed, L., and Glick, B. R. (2023). The Recent Use of Plant-Growth-Promoting Bacteria to Promote the Growth of Agricultural Food Crops. *Agriculture* **13**, 1089
- Renuka, N., Guldhe, A., Prasanna, R., Singh, P., and Bux, F. (2018).
 Microalgae as multi-functional options in modern agriculture: current trends, prospects and challenges. *Biotechnology Advances* 36, 1255 1272 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotech.edu/2018.04.004

1273.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2018.04.004</u>.

- Rigobelo, E. C., Kandasamy, S., and Saravanakumar, D. (2022). Editorial: Plant Growth-Promoting Microorganisms for Sustainable Agricultural Production. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 6.10.3389/fsufs.2022.842533.
- Romanenko, K. O., Kosakovskaya, I. V., and Romanenko, P. O. (2016). Phytohormones of Microalgae: Biological Role and Involvement in the Regulation of Physiological Processes. 18, 179-201.10.1615/InterJAlgae.v18.i2.70.
- Ronga, D., Biazzi, E., Parati, K., Carminati, D., Carminati, E., and Tava, A. (2019). Microalgal Biostimulants and Biofertilisers in Crop Productions. *Agronomy* 9, 192.10.3390/agronomy9040192.
- Rosenberg, E., and Zilber-Rosenberg, I. (2018). The hologenome concept of evolution after 10 years. *Microbiome* **6**, 78.10.1186/s40168-018-0457-9.
- Rosier, A., Medeiros, F. H. V., and Bais, H. P. (2018). Defining plant growth promoting rhizobacteria molecular and biochemical networks in beneficial plant-microbe interactions. *Plant and Soil* **428**, 35-55.10.1007/s11104-018-3679-5.
- Saeed, Q., Xiukang, W., Haider, F. U., Kučerik, J., Mumtaz, M. Z., Holatko, J., Naseem, M., Kintl, A., Ejaz, M., Naveed, M., Brtnicky, M., and Mustafa, A. (2021). Rhizosphere Bacteria in Plant Growth Promotion, Biocontrol, and Bioremediation of Contaminated Sites: A Comprehensive Review of Effects and Mechanisms. *Int J Mol Sci* 22.10.3390/ijms221910529.
- Sagar, S., and Singh, A. (2019). Chapter 22 Abscisic Acid, a Principal Regulator of Plant Abiotic Stress Responses. *In* "Plant Signaling Molecules" (M. I. R. Khan, P. S. Reddy, A. Ferrante and N. A. Khan, eds.), pp. 341-353. Woodhead Publishing.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816451-8.00021-6</u>.
- Saia, S., Rappa, V., Ruisi, P., Abenavoli, M. R., Sunseri, F., Giambalvo, D., Frenda, A. S., and Martinelli, F. (2015). Soil inoculation with symbiotic microorganisms promotes plant growth and nutrient transporter genes expression in durum wheat. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 6.10.3389/fpls.2015.00815.
- Salazar-Cerezo, S., Martínez-Montiel, N., García-Sánchez, J., Pérezy-Terrón, R., and Martínez-Contreras, R. D. (2018).

Gibberellin biosynthesis and metabolism: A convergent route for plants, fungi and bacteria. *Microbiological Research* **208**, 85-98.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2018.01.010</u>.

- Sangiorgio, D., Cellini, A., Donati, I., Pastore, C., Onofrietti, C., and Spinelli, F. (2020). Facing Climate Change: Application of Microbial Biostimulants to Mitigate Stress in Horticultural Crops. Agronomy 10, 794
- Santini, G., Biondi, N., Rodolfi, L., and Tredici, M. R. (2021). Plant Biostimulants from Cyanobacteria: An Emerging Strategy to Improve Yields and Sustainability in Agriculture. *Plants* 10, 643
- Schoebitz, M., Mengual, C., and Roldán, A. (2014). Combined effects of clay immobilized Azospirillum brasilense and Pantoea dispersa and organic olive residue on plant performance and soil properties in the revegetation of a semiarid area. *Science* of The Total Environment **466-467**, 67-73.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.07.012.
- Schoebitz, M., Simonin, H., and Poncelet, D. (2012). Starch filler and osmoprotectants improve the survival of rhizobacteria in dried alginate beads. *J Microencapsul* 29, 532-8.10.3109/02652048.2012.665090.
- Shaaban, M. M. (2001). Green microalgae water extract as foliar feeding to wheat plants.
- Shakeri, E., Modarres-Sanavy, S. A. M., Amini Dehaghi, M., Tabatabaei, S. A., and Moradi-Ghahderijani, M. (2016).
 Improvement of yield, yield components and oil quality in sesame (Sesamum indicum L.) by N-fixing bacteria fertilizers and urea. Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science 62, 547-560.10.1080/03650340.2015.1064901.
- Shanmugam, H. (2022). Chapter 13 An insight on developing nanoformulations suitable for delivering plant beneficial microorganisms to crops under abiotic stresses. *In* "Mitigation of Plant Abiotic Stress by Microorganisms" (G. Santoyo, A. Kumar, M. Aamir and S. Uthandi, eds.), pp. 273-297. Academic Press.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-90568-8.00013-4</u>.
- Shariatmadari, Z., Riahi, H., Seyed Hashtroudi, M., Ghassempour, A., and Aghashariatmadary, Z. (2013). Plant growth promoting

cyanobacteria and their distribution in terrestrial habitats of Iran. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* **59**, 535-547.10.1080/00380768.2013.782253.

- Sharma, P., Jha, A. B., Dubey, R. S., and Pessarakli, M. (2012). Reactive Oxygen Species, Oxidative Damage, and Antioxidative Defense Mechanism in Plants under Stressful Conditions. *Journal of Botany* **2012**, 217037.10.1155/2012/217037.
- Sharma, S., and Kumawat, K. C. (2022). Role of Rhizospheric Microbiome in Enhancing Plant Attributes and Soil Health for Sustainable Agriculture. *In* "Core Microbiome", pp. 139-162.<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119830795.ch8</u>.
- Sharma, V., Prasanna, R., Hossain, F., Muthusamy, V., Nain, L., Das, S., Shivay, Y. S., and Kumar, A. (2020). Priming maize seeds with cyanobacteria enhances seed vigour and plant growth in elite maize inbreds. *3 Biotech* **10**, 154.10.1007/s13205-020-2141-6.
- Shiferaw, B., Prasanna, B. M., Hellin, J., and Bänziger, M. (2011). Crops that feed the world 6. Past successes and future challenges to the role played by maize in global food security. *Food Security* **3**, 307-327.10.1007/s12571-011-0140-5.
- Shoresh, M., Harman, G. E., and Mastouri, F. (2010). Induced Systemic Resistance and Plant Responses to Fungal Biocontrol Agents. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 48, 21-43.10.1146/annurev-phyto-073009-114450.
- Silva, T. A., Castro, J. S. d., Ribeiro, V. J., Ribeiro Júnior, J. I., Tavares, G. P., and Calijuri, M. L. (2023). Microalgae biomass as a renewable biostimulant: meat processing industry effluent treatment, soil health improvement, and plant growth. *Environmental Technology* 44, 1334-1350.10.1080/09593330.2021.2000646.
- Singh, J. S. (2014). Cyanobacteria: a vital bio-agent in eco-restoration of degraded lands and sustainable agriculture.
- Singh, J. S., Kumar, A., Rai, A. N., and Singh, D. P. (2016). Cyanobacteria: A Precious Bio-resource in Agriculture, Ecosystem, and Environmental Sustainability. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 7.10.3389/fmicb.2016.00529.

- Singh, J. S., Pandey, V. C., and Singh, D. P. (2011). Efficient soil microorganisms: A new dimension for sustainable agriculture and environmental development. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 140, 339-353.10.1016/j.agee.2011.01.017.
- Singh, S. K., Wu, X., Shao, C., and Zhang, H. (2022). Microbial enhancement of plant nutrient acquisition. *Stress Biology* **2**, 3.10.1007/s44154-021-00027-w.
- Smékalová, V., Doskočilová, A., Komis, G., and Šamaj, J. (2014).
 Crosstalk between secondary messengers, hormones and MAPK modules during abiotic stress signalling in plants.
 Biotechnology Advances 32, 2 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechady.2013.07.000

11.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.07.009</u>.

- Smith, M. J., and Francis, M. B. (2016). A Designed A. vinelandii–S. elongatus Coculture for Chemical Photoproduction from Air, Water, Phosphate, and Trace Metals. ACS Synthetic Biology 5, 955-961.10.1021/acssynbio.6b00107.
- Solomon, W., Mutum, L., Janda, T., and Molnár, Z. (2023). Potential benefit of microalgae and their interaction with bacteria to sustainable crop production. *Plant Growth Regulation*.10.1007/s10725-023-01019-8.
- Song, L., Jin, J., and He, J. (2019). Effects of Severe Water Stress on Maize Growth Processes in the Field. *Sustainability* **11**, 5086
- Song, X., Bo, Y., Feng, Y., Tan, Y., Zhou, C., Yan, X., Ruan, R., Xu, Q., and Cheng, P. (2022). Potential applications for multifunctional microalgae in soil improvement. *Frontiers in Environmental Science* **10**.10.3389/fenvs.2022.1035332.
- Souza, R., Ambrosini, A., and Passaglia, L. M. (2015). Plant growthpromoting bacteria as inoculants in agricultural soils. *Genet Mol Biol* 38, 401-19.10.1590/s1415-475738420150053.
- Spadaro, D., and Gullino, M. L. (2005). Improving the efficacy of biocontrol agents against soilborne pathogens. *Crop Protection* 24, 601-612 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.croppe.2004.11.002

613.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2004.11.003</u>.

- Stephens, J. H. G., and Rask, H. M. (2000). Inoculant production and formulation. *Field Crops Research* 65, 249-258.https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4290(99)00090-8.
- Stirk, W. A., Ördög, V., Novák, O., Rolčík, J., Strnad, M., Bálint, P., and van Staden, J. (2013). Auxin and cytokinin relationships

in 24 microalgal strains(1). *J Phycol* **49**, 459-67.10.1111/jpy.12061.

- Stirk, W. A., Ördög, V., Van Staden, J., and Jäger, K. (2002). Cytokinin- and auxin-like activity in Cyanophyta and microalgae. *Journal of Applied Phycology* 14, 215-221.10.1023/A:1019928425569.
- Suman, J., Rakshit, A., Ogireddy, S. D., Singh, S., Gupta, C., and Chandrakala, J. (2022). Microbiome as a Key Player in Sustainable Agriculture and Human Health. *Frontiers in Soil Science* 2.10.3389/fsoil.2022.821589.
- Suzuki, N., Rivero, R. M., Shulaev, V., Blumwald, E., and Mittler, R. (2014). Abiotic and biotic stress combinations. *New Phytol* **203**, 32-43.10.1111/nph.12797.
- Swain, S. S., Paidesetty, S. K., and Padhy, R. N. (2017). Antibacterial, antifungal and antimycobacterial compounds from cyanobacteria. *Biomed Pharmacother* **90**, 760-776.10.1016/j.biopha.2017.04.030.
- Swarnalakshmi, K., Prasanna, R., Kumar, A., Pattnaik, S., Chakravarty, K., Shivay, Y. S., Singh, R., and Saxena, A. K. (2013). Evaluating the influence of novel cyanobacterial biofilmed biofertilizers on soil fertility and plant nutrition in wheat. *European Journal of Soil Biology* 55, 107-116.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2012.12.008</u>.
- Takács, G., Stirk, W. A., Gergely, I., Molnár, Z., van Staden, J., and Ördög, V. (2019). Biostimulating effects of the cyanobacterium Nostoc piscinale on winter wheat in field experiments. *South African Journal of Botany* **126**, 99-106.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2019.06.033</u>.
- Tantawy, S. A., and Atef, N. (2010). Growth responses of Lupinus termis to some plant growth promoting cyanobacteria and bacteria as biofertilizers. *Journal of Food, Agriculture and Environment* 8, 1178-1183
- Tarakhovskaya, E. R., Maslov, Y. I., and Shishova, M. F. (2007).
 Phytohormones in algae. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 54, 163-170.10.1134/S1021443707020021.
- Tedersoo, L., Bahram, M., and Zobel, M. (2020). How mycorrhizal associations drive plant population and community biology. *Science* **367**, eaba1223.doi:10.1126/science.aba1223.

- Toribio, A. J., Suárez-Estrella, F., Jurado, M. M., López-González, J. A., Martínez-Gallardo, M. R., and López, M. J. (2022).
 Design and validation of cyanobacteria-rhizobacteria consortia for tomato seedlings growth promotion. *Scientific Reports* 12, 13150.10.1038/s41598-022-17547-8.
- Tóth, G., Montanarella, L., Stolbovoy, V., Máté, F., Bódis, K., Jones, A., Panagos, P., and Van Liedekerke, M. (2008). "Soils of the European Union.," OPOCE, Luxembourg (Luxembourg).doi/10.2788/87029.
- Touloupakis, E., Faraloni, C., Silva Benavides, A. M., Masojídek, J., and Torzillo, G. (2021). Sustained photobiological hydrogen production by Chlorella vulgaris without nutrient starvation. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy* 46, 3684-3694.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.10.257</u>.
- Trivedi, P., Batista, B. D., Bazany, K. E., and Singh, B. K. (2022). Plant–microbiome interactions under a changing world: responses, consequences and perspectives. *New Phytologist* 234, 1951-1959.<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.18016</u>.
- Trivedi, P., Leach, J. E., Tringe, S. G., Sa, T., and Singh, B. K. (2020). Plant–microbiome interactions: from community assembly to plant health. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 18, 607-621.10.1038/s41579-020-0412-1.
- Trivedi, P., Schenk, P. M., Wallenstein, M. D., and Singh, B. K. (2017). Tiny Microbes, Big Yields: enhancing food crop production with biological solutions. *Microbial Biotechnology* 10, 999-1003.<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12804</u>.
- Unnithan, V. V., Unc, A., and Smith, G. B. (2014). Mini-review: A priori considerations for bacteria–algae interactions in algal biofuel systems receiving municipal wastewaters. *Algal Research* **4**, 35-40.10.1016/j.algal.2013.11.009.
- Uzoh, I. M., and Babalola, O. O. (2018). Rhizosphere biodiversity as a premise for application in bio-economy. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* **265**, 524-534.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2018.07.003.
- van der Heijden, M. G., Bardgett, R. D., and van Straalen, N. M. (2008). The unseen majority: soil microbes as drivers of plant diversity and productivity in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecol Lett* 11, 296-310.10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01139.x.

- Vandana, U. K., Rajkumari, J., Singha, L. P., Satish, L., Alavilli, H.,
 Sudheer, P. D. V. N., Chauhan, S., Ratnala, R., Satturu, V.,
 Mazumder, P. B., and Pandey, P. (2021). The Endophytic
 Microbiome as a Hotspot of Synergistic Interactions, with
 Prospects of Plant Growth Promotion. *Biology* 10, 101
- Verbon, E. H., and Liberman, L. M. (2016). Beneficial Microbes Affect Endogenous Mechanisms Controlling Root Development. *Trends Plant Sci* 21, 218-229.10.1016/j.tplants.2016.01.013.
- Verhulst, N., Govaerts, B., Nelissen, V., Sayre, K. D., Crossa, J., Raes, D., and Deckers, J. (2011). The effect of tillage, crop rotation and residue management on maize and wheat growth and development evaluated with an optical sensor. *Field Crops Research* **120**, 58-67 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fep.2010.08.012

67.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2010.08.012</u>.

- Vesali, F., Omid, M., Mobli, H., and Kaleita, A. (2017). Feasibility of using smart phones to estimate chlorophyll content in corn plants. *Photosynthetica* 55, 603-610.10.1007/s11099-016-0677-9.
- Vinoth, M., Sivasankari, S., Ahamed, A. K. K., Al-Arjani, A. F., Abd Allah, E. F., and Baskar, K. (2020). Biological soil crust (BSC) is an effective biofertilizer on Vigna mungo (L.). *Saudi J Biol Sci* 27, 2325-2332.10.1016/j.sjbs.2020.04.022.
- Vocciante, M., Grifoni, M., Fusini, D., Petruzzelli, G., and Franchi, E. (2022). The Role of Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria (PGPR) in Mitigating Plant's Environmental Stresses. *Applied Sciences* 12, 1231
- von Dahl, C. C., and Baldwin, I. T. (2007). Deciphering the Role of Ethylene in Plant–Herbivore Interactions. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* **26**, 201-209.10.1007/s00344-007-0014-4.
- Vuolo, F., Novello, G., Bona, E., Gorrasi, S., and Gamalero, E. (2022). Impact of Plant-Beneficial Bacterial Inocula on the Resident Bacteriome: Current Knowledge and Future Perspectives. *Microorganisms* 10.10.3390/microorganisms10122462.
- Wang, M., Xue, J., Ma, J., Feng, X., Ying, H., and Xu, H. (2020).
 Streptomyces lydicus M01 Regulates Soil Microbial Community and Alleviates Foliar Disease Caused by

Alternaria alternata on Cucumbers. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **11**.10.3389/fmicb.2020.00942.

- Wang, Y., and Frei, M. (2011). Stressed food The impact of abiotic environmental stresses on crop quality. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 141, 271-286.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2011.03.017.
- Weiss, T. L., Roth, R., Goodson, C., Vitha, S., Black, I., Azadi, P., Rusch, J., Holzenburg, A., Devarenne, T. P., and Goodenough, U. (2012). Colony organization in the green alga Botryococcus braunii (Race B) is specified by a complex extracellular matrix. *Eukaryotic Cell* **11**, 1424-1440.10.1128/EC.00184-12.
- Williams, S. T., Goodfellow, M., Alderson, G., Wellington, E. M. H., Sneath, P. H. A., and Sackin, M. J. (1983). Numerical Classification of Streptomyces and Related Genera. *Microbiology* **129**, 1743-1813.https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-129-6-1743.
- Woo, S. L., and Pepe, O. (2018). Microbial Consortia: Promising Probiotics as Plant Biostimulants for Sustainable Agriculture. *Front Plant Sci* 9, 1801.10.3389/fpls.2018.01801.
- Woźniak, M., Gałązka, A., Tyśkiewicz, R., and Jaroszuk-Ściseł, J. (2019). Endophytic Bacteria Potentially Promote Plant Growth by Synthesizing Different Metabolites and their Phenotypic/Physiological Profiles in the Biolog GEN III MicroPlateTM Test. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 20, 5283
- Xiao, R., and Zheng, Y. (2016). Overview of microalgal extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) and their applications. *Biotechnol Adv* 34, 1225-1244.10.1016/j.biotechadv.2016.08.004.
- Yang, Z., Tian, J., Wang, Z., Feng, K., Ouyang, Z., Zhang, L., and Yan, X. (2023). Coupled soil water stress and environmental effects on changing photosynthetic traits in wheat and maize. *Agricultural Water Management* 282, 108246.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2023.108246.
- Yanti, Y., Hamid, H., and Reflin (2021). Development of the PGPR and Cyanobacteria Consortium for Growth Promotion and Control Ralstonia syzigii subsp. indonesiensis of Tomato. *IOP*

Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science **709**, 012085.10.1088/1755-1315/709/1/012085.

- Yao, S., Lyu, S., An, Y., Lu, J., Gjermansen, C., and Schramm, A. (2019). Microalgae-bacteria symbiosis in microalgal growth and biofuel production: a review. *J Appl Microbiol* **126**, 359-368.10.1111/jam.14095.
- Yilmaz, E., and Sönmez, M. (2017). The role of organic/bio–fertilizer amendment on aggregate stability and organic carbon content in different aggregate scales. *Soil and Tillage Research* **168**, 118-124.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2017.01.003</u>.
- Youssef, S. M., El-Serafy, R. S., Ghanem, K. Z., Elhakem, A., and Abdel Aal, A. A. (2022). Foliar Spray or Soil Drench: Microalgae Application Impacts on Soil Microbiology, Morpho-Physiological and Biochemical Responses, Oil and Fatty Acid Profiles of Chia Plants under Alkaline Stress. *Biology* 11, 1844
- Yu, Y., Gui, Y., Li, Z., Jiang, C., Guo, J., and Niu, D. (2022). Induced Systemic Resistance for Improving Plant Immunity by Beneficial Microbes. *Plants* 11, 386
- Zamioudis, C., and Pieterse, C. M. J. (2012). Modulation of host immunity by beneficial microbes. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **25**, 139-150.10.1094/MPMI-06-11-0179.
- Zboralski, A., and Filion, M. (2020). Genetic factors involved in rhizosphere colonization by phytobeneficial Pseudomonas spp. *Comput Struct Biotechnol J* **18**, 3539-3554.10.1016/j.csbj.2020.11.025.
- Zboralski, A., and Filion, M. (2023). Pseudomonas spp. can help plants face climate change. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **14**.10.3389/fmicb.2023.1198131.
- Zeffa, D. M., Perini, L. J., Silva, M. B., de Sousa, N. V., Scapim, C. A., Oliveira, A. L. M., Amaral Júnior, A. T. D., and Azeredo Gonçalves, L. S. (2019). Azospirillum brasilense promotes increases in growth and nitrogen use efficiency of maize genotypes. *PLoS One* 14, e0215332.10.1371/journal.pone.0215332.
- Zhang, B., Li, W., Guo, Y., Zhang, Z., Shi, W., Cui, F., Lens, P. N. L., and Tay, J. H. (2020). Microalgal-bacterial consortia: From interspecies interactions to biotechnological applications.
Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews **118**, 109563.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109563</u>.

- Zhang, H., Ge, Y., Xie, X., Atefi, A., Wijewardane, N. K., and Thapa, S. (2022). High throughput analysis of leaf chlorophyll content in sorghum using RGB, hyperspectral, and fluorescence imaging and sensor fusion. *Plant Methods* 18, 60.10.1186/s13007-022-00892-0.
- Zhang, X., Lei, L., Lai, J., Zhao, H., and Song, W. (2018). Effects of drought stress and water recovery on physiological responses and gene expression in maize seedlings. *BMC Plant Biology* 18, 68.10.1186/s12870-018-1281-x.
- Zheng, Y., Wang, X., Cui, X., Wang, K., Wang, Y., and He, Y. (2023). Phytohormones regulate the abiotic stress: An overview of physiological, biochemical, and molecular responses in horticultural crops. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 13.10.3389/fpls.2022.1095363.
- Zia, R., Nawaz, M. S., Siddique, M. J., Hakim, S., and Imran, A. (2021). Plant survival under drought stress: Implications, adaptive responses, and integrated rhizosphere management strategy for stress mitigation. *Microbiological Research* 242, 126626.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2020.126626</u>.
- Zipfel, C., and Oldroyd, G. E. D. (2017). Plant signalling in symbiosis and immunity. *Nature* **543**, 328-336.10.1038/nature22009.